K.G. Jebsen Center for Cardiac Biomarkers, Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Oslo, Norway

Department of Cardiology, Division of Medicine, Akershus University Hospital, Norway

Biomarkers for prediction of ventricular arrhythmias

Nur Sourour, MD

Dissertation for the degree of Philosophiae Doctor (PhD) University of Oslo, 2023



© Nur Sourour, 2024

Series of dissertations submitted to the Faculty of Medicine, University of Oslo

ISBN 978-82-348-0391-8

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted, in any form or by any means, without permission.

Cover: UiO. Print production: Graphic center, University of Oslo.

Table of contents

TABLE OF CONTENTS				
ACKNOWLEDGMENT				
ABBREVIATIONS				
ARTICLES IN THE THESIS				
THESIS SU	MMARY	7		
1. GEN	ERAL INTRODUCTION			
1.1	SUDDEN CARDIAC DEATH			
1.2	VENTRICULAR ARRHYTHMIAS			
1.3	IMPLANTABLE CARDIOVERTER DEFIBRILLATOR	15		
2. INTE	RODUCTION TO MARKERS STUDIED IN THE PHD PROJECT			
2.1	QRS FRAGMENTATION			
2.2	NATRIURETIC PEPTIDES			
2.3	CARDIAC TROPONIN	20		
2.4	BIOMARKERS OF INFLAMMATION	22		
3. AIM	S OF THE THESIS			
4. MAT	FERIALS AND METHODS			
4.1	STUDY DESIGN/POPULATION	24		
4.2	CLINICAL ASSESSMENT AND MEDICAL HISTORY			
4.3	ECG ANALYSES			
4.4	BIOCHEMICAL ANALYSES			
4.5	OUTCOME MEASURE			
4.6	STATISTICAL ANALYSES			
5. SUN	IMARY OF THE PAPERS RESULTS			
5.1	Paper I			
5.2	PAPER II			
5.3	Paper III			
6. DISC	USSION OF MAIN FINDINGS			
6 1		27		
6.2				
63				
6.4	cTNT	35		
6.5	GDF-15, IL-6, AND CRP			
7. MET	HODOLOGICAL CONSIDERATIONS			
71	STUDY DESIGN AND POPULATION	38		
7.1	FCG ANALYSES			
7.2		20		
7.5		۰		
7.4		40		
7.6		40 40		
7.7	STATISTICAL ASPECTS	40 		
8. ETHICAL CONSIDERATIONS AND FUNDING				

9.	CONCLUSION & IMPLICATIONS /FUTURE PERSPECTIVE	43
10.	REFERENCES	45
11.	ARTICLES I-III	59

Acknowledgment

My most profound appreciation goes to my supervisor Peder Langeland Myhre for his time, unlimited guidance, and invaluable support. Myhre was responsible for patient inclusion and data collection in the SMASH 1 study, and secured funding for my PhD-position from the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authorities. His plentiful experience and immense knowledge have inspired me throughout my PhD period. My co-supervisors Torbjørn Omland and Helge Røsjø are world leading cardiovascular researchers, and their vast wisdom and profuse experience are truly inspiring. I am extremely grateful for their valuable feedback and support throughout my PhD-journey and their substantial contribution to the SMASH 1 study. Professor Omland conceived the SMASH 1 study, which this thesis is entirely based on. Professor Omland and professor Røsjø wrote the application to and secured funding from the Research Council of Norway for conducting the study. Professor Omland has also secured funding from Roche Diagnostics to perform the biomarker analyses, which two of the articles in this thesis were dependent on. I am grateful to my dear colleague and coauthor, cardiac electrophysiologist Harald Kjekshus, for his time, guidance, and valuable clinical input. The other members of the cardiac electrophysiologist team at Akershus University Hospital (AUH), Arne Strand, Trude Berget, Huy Pham, and Gabor Kuntz also contributed immensely by reading the ICDs and recording the electrophysiological events.

I want to sincerely thank my co-author Egil Riveland for his valuable cooperation, particularly in article #3, in which we share the first co-authorship. Riveland was responsible for patient inclusion and data collection in the SMASH 1 study at Stavanger University Hospital (SUH). I am grateful to Alf Inge Larsen for leading the SMASH 1 study at SUH – you are always so supportive and positive. I also want to thank the SUH study investigators Patrycjia Næsgård and Terje Rømo, for their time, help and valuable feedback. Dr. Næsgård contributed in patient inclusion and data collection, and Dr. Rømø has contributed greatly in assessing study patients ECGs.

I am also grateful to have had the opportunity to be part of the outstanding K.G. Jebsen Center for Cardiac Biomarkers at AUH, and I'm grateful to every one of the members. I am grateful to the talented laboratory staff at AUH, and study nurses Sanna Johannesson, Lisa Frødin, Anne Gro Larsen, and Jorunn Nilsen for invaluable help in organizing and executing the SMASH 1 study visits. I want to express my gratitude to the Department of Cardiology at AUH for their cooperation and facilitation. I am grateful for the opportunity to be a fellow in cardiology and get to work alongside talented and inspiring colleagues at the department. I also want to extend my appreciation to the University of Oslo in regard of the formal part of my PhD education. And I am appreciative of the financial support from the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority for my PhD-student grant. I am thankful that Roche Diagnostics supported our biomarker analyses in the SMASH study, and for the financial support through FORNY program from the Research Council of Norway (NFR) for financing the study.

To my family, no words are enough to carry my deepest love, respect and appreciation. It's impossible to sum up all that my heart wants to express, however, I do want to thank you for

always believing in me and for encouraging me to set high goals for myself that I have had great pleasure pursuing. I'm forever grateful for the love, support, and mountains of joy you bring to my life.

Abbreviations

ANP	Atrial Natriuretic Peptide
ATP	Antitachycardia pacing
BNP	B-type natriuretic peptide
BS	Brugada syndrome
CAD	Coronary artery disease
CDM	Dilated cardiomyopathy
CNP	C-type Natriuretic Peptide
CRP	C-reactive protein
cTn	Cardiac Troponin
cTnl	Cardiac Troponin I
cTnT	Cardiac Troponin T
CV	Coefficients of variation
CVD	Cardiovascular disease
DM	Diabetes mellitus
eGFR	Glomerular filtration rate
ESC	European Society of Cardiology guidelines
fQRS	Fragmentation of QRS
GDF-15	Growth differentiation factor 15
HF	Heart failure
HFmrEF	HF with mildly reduced EF
HFrEF	HF with reduced EF
HFpEF	HF with preserved EF
hs-cTn	Highly sensitive cardiac troponin
ICD	Implantable cardioverter defibrillator
IL-6	Interleukin 6
LVEF	Left ventricular ejection fraction
MEF	Mechano-electric feedback
MI	Myocardial infarction
NPs	Natriuretic peptides
NT-proBNP	N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide
NYHA	New York Heart Association
RAAS	Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system
SCD	Sudden cardiac death
SNS	Sympathetic nervous system
TGF-β	Transforming growth factor-β
TnC	Troponin C
TOF	Tetralogy of Fallot
VA	Ventricular arrhythmia
VF	Ventricular fibrillation
VT	Ventricular tachycardia

Articles in the thesis

Paper I: QRS fragmentation is associated with increased risk of ventricular arrhythmias in high-risk patients; Data from the SMASH 1 Study.

Sourour, N., Riveland, E., Rømo, T., Næsgaard, P., Kjekshus, H., Larsen, A. I., Omland, T., Røsjø, H. & Myhre, P. L.

Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol. 2022;27(5):e12985.

Paper II: N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide for prediction of ventricular arrhythmias: data from the SMASH Study

Sourour, N., Riveland, E., Næsgaard, P., Kjekshus, H., Larsen, A. I., Omland, T., Røsjø, H. & Myhre, P. L.

Accepted in Clinical Cardiology

Paper III: The associations between biomarkers of myocardial injury and systemic inflammation and risk of incident ventricular arrhythmia; data from the SMASH 1 Study

> Sourour, N.*, Riveland, E.*, Næsgaard, P., Kjekshus, H., Larsen, A. I., Røsjø, H., Omland, T.**, & Myhre, P. L.** * Co-first authors **Co-last authors

(Submitted manuscript, under review)

Thesis summary

Sudden cardiac death (SCD) is one of the leading causes of death in the world, and despite advances in cardiopulmonary resuscitation and post-resuscitation care, survival rates of cardiac arrests are poor. However, advances in the pharmacological treatment of HF and improvements in preventive measures and therapy of cardiovascular diseases (CVD) have led to a decline in CVD mortality and SCD worldwide. SCD is mainly caused by ventricular arrhythmia (VA), and implantable cardioverter defibrillator (ICD) has consistently been shown to be the most effective preventive measure for SCD and VA. However, guideline recommendation for ICD treatment poorly discriminates patients at risk.

SCD has a complex pathophysiology owing to heterogeneous underlying conditions making prediction challenging. Several biomarkers and electrocardiogram (ECG) parameters have been proposed to play a role in the risk prediction of VA. Fragmentation of the QRS complex (fQRS) in ECG has been demonstrated to reflect myocardial scarring, which may represent an arrhythmical trigger. Circulating concentrations of N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) reflect cardiac stress, cardiac troponin T (cTnT) reflects cardiac injury, and inflammation is reflected by growth differentiation factor 15 (GDF-15), interleukin 6 (IL-6) and C-reactive protein (CRP). Elevated levels of these biomarkers have been demonstrated to reflect an increased risk of cardiovascular events (e.g., heart failure (HF), myocardial infarction (MI), stroke, atrial fibrillation, and CV death) in patients with and without CVD.

In this thesis we aimed to study the association between fQRS, NT-proBNP, cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6, and CRP each with the risk of device-detected VA, aiming to find better risk stratification tools to help predict potentially fatal VA in patients treated with ICD. We also studied their association with HF hospitalization and all-cause mortality. In Paper I we examined the association between variables derived from a standard 12-lead ECG and the risk of VA. In a pre-specified analysis plan, we decided to focus on fQRS, based on promising data from other clinical settings. In line with our hypothesis, we found that the presence of fQRS was associated with an increased risk of VA, and fQRS was the strongest risk predictor of all the ECG parameters investigated. This association was independent of established risk factors and was particularly strong among patients with a primary prevention ICD indication. fQRS was also associated with a combined endpoint of VA and mortality. In Paper II we wanted to assess whether the most frequently used biomarker in HF, NT-proBNP, was useful in predicting VA risk. We found that higher levels of NT-proBNP were associated with an increased risk of VA irrespective of established risk factors, such as left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF). Interestingly, this association was stronger in patients with secondary, as compared to a primary, prevention ICD indication. As expected, higher NT-proBNP was also associated with a higher risk of incident HF hospitalization and all-cause mortality. Changes in NT-proBNP

concentrations from baseline to the follow-up visit were not associated with subsequent arrhythmical events but were associated with the risk of subsequent HF hospitalization and death. In **Paper III** we wanted to assess whether markers of myocardial injury and systemic inflammation were associated with VA risk. We found an association between higher cTnT levels and risk of VA, which was independent of established risk factors and present irrespective of ICD indication and ischemic vs. non-ischemic etiology. There were no associations between changes in cTnT concentration during the study and subsequent incidents of VA. In contrast, levels of GDF-15, IL-6, and CRP were not associated with VA risk. cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6, and CRP were all predictive of HF hospitalization and mortality, independently of established risk factors.

In conclusion, in this thesis we demonstrate that the presence of fQRS on ECG was associated with increased risk of VA and mortality in patients treated with ICD. Higher levels of the cardiac specific biomarkers NT-proBNP and cTnT, but not that of the inflammatory biomarkers GDF-15, IL-6 and CRP, were associated with an increased risk of VA. Concentrations of NT-proBNP, cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6 and CRP were all strong predictors of poor prognosis demonstrated by their ability to predict HF hospitalization and mortality. These data suggest that fQRS, NT-proBNP and cTnT may be useful in identifying patients at risk of VA and therefore may weigh in on decisions on the aggressiveness of antiarrhythmic treatment and perhaps whether to implant ICD in patients at risk of SCD.

Sammendrag på norsk

Plutselig hjertestans er en av hyppigste dødsårsakene, og til tross for fremskritt innen hjerte-lunge-redning og intensivbehandling etter resuscitering, er overlevelsesraten lav. Imidlertid har fremskritt innen farmakologisk behandling av hjertesvikt og forbedringer innen forebyggende tiltak og behandling av kardiovaskulære sykdommer ført til en nedgang i dødelighet av kardiovaskulære sykdommer og plutselig hjertedød. Plutselig hjertedød skyldes hovedsakelig ventrikulær arytmi (VA), og implanterbar kardioverterdefibrillator (ICD) har vist seg å være det mest effektive forebyggende tiltaket mot plutselig hjertedød og VA. Imidlertid er retningslinjene for ICD-behandling lite treffsikre når det gjelder å skille pasienter med høy og lav risiko for plutselig hjertedød.

Fordi ulike, til dels uavhengige, patofysiologiske mekanismer kan bidra til økt risiko for plutselig hjertedød, er risikovurdering utfordrende. Flere biomarkører og elektrokardiografiske (EKG) indekser/variabler har blitt foreslått å spille en rolle i vurderingen av fremtidig risiko for VA. Fragmentering av QRS-komplekset (fQRS) i EKG har blitt vist å gjenspeile arrdannelse i myokard, som kan være en utløsende faktor for arytmier. Sirkulerende biomarkører N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretisk peptid (NTproBNP) som reflekterer hjertestress, hjertespesifikk troponin T (cTnT) som reflekterer hjerteskade og bettenelsesmarkører growth differentiation factor 15 (GDF-15), interleukin 6 (IL-6) og C-reaktivt protein (CRP) er alle sterke prognostiske markører. Høye sirkulerende nivåer av disse biomarkørene har vist seg å være forbundet med økt risiko for kardiovaskulære hendelser, som hjertesvikt, hjerteinfarkt, slag, atrieflimmer og kardiovaskulær død, både hos pasienter med og uten kardiovaskulær sykdom.

I denne avhandlingen ønsket vi å studere fQRS, NT-proBNP, cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6 og CRP hver for seg, i assosiasjon med risiko for VA. Målet var å finne bedre verktøy for risikovurdering som kan hjelpe til med å forutsi tilfeller av VA som uten ICD behandling ville vært potensielt dødelige. Vi undersøkte også sammenhengen mellom disse markørene og sykehusinnleggelse grunnet hjertesvikt og total dødelighet. I artikkel I undersøkte vi sammenhengen mellom EKG variabler fra standard 12-avlednings EKG og risikoen for VA. Vi valgte på forhånd å fokusere på fQRS, og teste hypotesen om fQRS er forbundet med økt risiko for VA. Vi bekreftet at tilstedeværelsen av fQRS var assosiert med økt risiko for VA. Denne assosiasjonen, uavhengig av etablerte risikofaktorer, var særlig sterk blant pasienter med ICD som primærprofylakse. fQRS var også assosiert med et kombinert endepunkt av VA og dødelighet. I artikkel II ønsket vi å vurdere om NTproBNP, den mest brukte biomarkøren for hjertesvikt, var nyttig for å predikere risikoen for VA. Vi fant at høyere nivåer av NT-proBNP var assosiert med økt risiko for VA, uavhengig av etablerte risikofaktorer som venstre ventrikkels ejeksjonsfraksjon. Interessant nok var denne assosiasjonen sterkere hos pasienter med ICD som sekundærprofylakse enn hos de med primærprofylaktisk ICD. Som forventet var også NTproBNP assosiert med risikoen for sykehusinnleggelse grunnet hjertesvikt og total dødelighet. Endringer i NT-proBNP-konsentrasjoner fra første til andre studiebesøk hadde ingen sammenheng med påfølgende episoder med arytmi, men var assosiert med risikoen for påfølgende sykehusinnleggelse grunnet hjertesvikt og død. I artikkel III

ønsket vi å teste hypotesene om at markører for hjertemuskelskade og systemisk betennelse var assosiert med risikoen for VA. Vi fant en sammenheng mellom høyere nivåer av cTnT og risikoen for VA, som var uavhengig av etablerte risikofaktorer og uavhengig av ICD-indikasjon og om pasienten hadde kjent koronarsykdom. Det var ingen sammenhenger mellom endringer i cTnT-konsentrasjoner i løpet av studien og påfølgende hendelser av VA. Vi fant ingen sammenheng mellom konsentrasjon av GDF-15, IL-6 og CRP og VA i løpet av observasjonstiden. Både cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6 og CRP var forbundet med risiko for sykehusinnleggelse grunnet hjertesvikt og dødelighet, uavhengig av etablerte risikofaktorer.

Konklusjonen er at tilstedeværelsen av fQRS i EKG er assosiert med økt risiko for VA og død hos pasienter som behandles med ICD. Høyere nivåer av de hjertespesifikke biomarkørene NT-proBNP og cTnT, men ikke de inflammatoriske biomarkørene GDF-15, IL-6 og CRP, er assosiert med økt risiko for VA. Konsentrasjoner av NT-proBNP, cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6 og CRP er alle sterkt forbundet med dårlig prognose, vist ved deres evne til å forutsi sykehusinnleggelse grunnet hjertesvikt og dødelighet. Våre data tyder på at at fQRS, NT-proBNP og cTnT kan være nyttige for å identifisere pasienter med økt risiko for VA, og kan dermed muligens påvirke indikasjonsstillingen for antiarytmisk behandling og ICD implantasjon hos pasienter med økt risiko for plutselig hjertedød.

1. General Introduction

1.1 Sudden cardiac death

Sudden cardiac death (SCD) is a major international public health challenge accounting for approximately 50% of cardiovascular (CV) deaths worldwide and is one of the leading causes of death in Europe. ^{1,2} A clinical definition of SCD is abrupt circulatory collapse due to CV causes that occurs within 1 h of onset of symptoms or within 24 h in case of unwitnessed death.³ SCD is often attributed to ventricular arrhythmia (VA), i.e., ventricular tachycardia (VT) and ventricular fibrillation (VF). ²⁻⁵

Pathophysiology of VA is complex as it is believed to be triggered by an interaction between an underlying substrate, particularly among patients that have increased CV risk profile and subclinical (undiagnosed) or diagnosed structural heart disease, and a trigger or a transient event that induces fatal ventricular arrhythmia (**Figure 1**). ¹



Figure 1 Risk factors, substrates and triggers of ventricular arrhythmia and sudden cardiac death. (Own figure)

SCD: sudden cardiac death.

A heterogeneous spectrum of diseases has been associated with an increased risk of SCD, and it is often the first manifestation of the disease, making the prediction of SCD in individual patients challenging. ⁴ The main cause of SCD is coronary artery disease (CAD), ^{4,6} and the proportion of CAD-related SCD increases with age.^{4,6} Channelopathies,

cardiomyopathies, myocarditis, and coronary anomalies are the most common causes of SCD in the younger population (<50 years), while CAD dominates from the fourth decade of life.⁷⁻¹¹ Hence, structural heart diseases such as CAD, HF and valvular heart disease are common underlying causes for SCD in adult patients.¹¹ In all age groups, men have a higher incidence of SCD compared to women, also after adjusting for risk factors of CAD.

The sudden and unexpected nature of SCD contributes greatly to the low survival rate of around 8% at hospital discharge in Europe, 3-6% in Asia, 11% in the USA and 12% in Australia and New Zealand for out-of-hospital cardiac arrest.¹² In-hospital cardiac arrest survival rates at 30 days or to hospital discharge have been reported to be 15-34% in Europe and around 25% survival to hospital discharge in the US. ¹² Given the poor survival rates after cardiac arrest worldwide, a preventive approach is essential, which is greatly dependent on adequately predicting VA.

The best-known current predictors for future SCD are prior episodes of VA and the severity of HF as reflected in a reduced left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) and high New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional class. Hence, according to current European Society of Cardiology (ESC) guidelines patients with prior VA or severe HF should all be offered ICD if the estimated life-expectancy is >12 months.³ In more detail; ICD treatment is recommended for primary prevention in patients with LVEF ≤35% and NYHA functional classification II-III after at least 3 months of optimal guideline-directed medical therapy. Patients with previously documented VF or sustained VT with hemodynamic consequence should be offered ICD as secondary prophylaxis, given that they have a life expectancy>12 months with good quality. ³ Solely following guidelines recommendations on ICD treatment however poorly discriminates people at risk ^{13,14}, especially in the many cases where SCD is the first manifestation of cardiac disease, e.g., subclinical HF, CAD, cardiomyopathies, and channelopathies. While NYHA class and the degree of LVEF impairment are powerful predictors of the risk of mortality, it lacks specificity in predicting arrhythmical death. ¹⁵ Moreover, the pivotal trials for primary prevention of ICD in HF were undertaken more than two decades ago. Since then, the risk of SCD has declined due to improvements in therapy. ¹⁶ This underlines the unmet need for contemporary assessment of risk prediction to identify individuals at risk of developing SCD.

1.2 Ventricular arrhythmias

VT and VF (**Figure 2**) are the main causes of SCD. ^{4,6} It is frequently associated with CAD, but also occurs in a variety of other structural non-ischemic conditions and arrhythmogenic entities that can affect the heart muscle or its electrical function. ⁶



Figure 2

- A. 12-lead ECG recording of ventricular arrhythmia. Figure is provided by electrophysiologist dr Harald Kjekshus at the Department of Cardiology at Akershus University Hospital.
- B. 12 lead ECG recording of ventricular fibrillation. Figure is reproduced from ecgguru.com, published by Andreas Röschl. Permitted use without copyright for noncommercial use.

VT is an ectopic ventricular rhythm that lasts for at least 3 consecutive beats with a rate higher than 100 beats per minute. ¹⁷ VT can be classified according to duration as non-sustained, meaning it lasts <30s and terminates spontaneously without leading to hemodynamic instability, or sustained lasting for >30s or requiring intervention, which may or may not lead to hemodynamic instability. ^{3,17} The susceptibility for developing hemodynamic instability is dependent on general myocardial function, presence of CAD, and other comorbidities as well as genetic predisposition and frequency of the ventricular arrhythmia. ¹⁸ VT can further be classified according to morphology as monomorphic and polymorphic, based on whether the morphology of the QRS complexes is consistent during the arrhythmic episode. ^{3,17} The morphology of QRS complexes during VT is important to determine the location of the putative focus.



Figure 3. Electrophysiological mechanisms of cardiac arrhythmias, divided into impulse conduction and formation disorders, with possible triggers. (Own figure) **VA:** ventricular arrhythmia.

From an *electrophysiological standpoint*, mechanisms that can trigger and maintain VA can be caused by a disorder of impulse generation or a disorder of impulse conduction, or both (Figure 3). ¹⁹⁻²¹ Automaticity is a disorder of impulse generation. The ability of cardiac tissue to spontaneously depolarize and initiate an action potential without the need for prior external electrical stimulation is physiologically present in the sinoatrial node and subsidiary pacemaker cells (atrioventricular node as well as the His–Purkinje system) but not in other cardiac cells. ¹⁹⁻²¹ Automaticity in other cardiac cells can trigger VA, especially in case of ischemia and reperfusion conditions, ²¹ and can trigger premature ventricular contractions that in turn can lead to re-entry VA.¹⁹ Triggered activity is another disorder of impulse generation resulting from premature activation of cardiomyocytes by afterdepolarization, which is fluctuation in membrane potential dependent on the calcium current and the preceding action potential. ^{22,23} While automaticity is considered a self-generating arrhythmia arising without the need for any prior electrical stimulation, triggered activity arrhythmias are initiated in response to a preceding impulse, a trigger.^{19,23} Such triggers can be disturbed calcium handling, as it can trigger VA directly by generating afterdepolarization or indirectly by modulating action potential time course and duration. ²⁴ When the amplitude of early or delayed afterdepolarization brings the membrane to its threshold potential, it results in a triggered response of spontaneous action potential, ²⁵ potentially leading to VA. Arrhythmias caused by triggered activity can be observed in hypertrophy and HF, triggered by early or delayed afterdepolarization. ²⁵⁻²⁷

Re-entry is a disorder of impulse conduction in which an action potential fails to extinguish itself and persists to re-excite a region that has recovered from its refractoriness. ^{19,21} It is a self-sustaining arrhythmic disturbance in which an impulse

propagates in a self-perpetuating closed circus-like loop manner. ^{19,20} Reentry can be anatomical, caused by a structural disturbance such as in the case of scar, or functional, caused by heterogenous disturbances in the electrophysiological properties of the cardiac tissue such as in surviving myocardial tissue intercepted between myocardial scar post-MI, or a combination of both forms, such as in the case of AMI. ^{19,21,28} In general, re-entrant tachyarrhythmias are the most common pathophysiological type of arrhythmia secondary to ischemia. ^{19,21}

From a *disease perspective*, CAD is the leading cause of VA leading to SCD, especially for out-of-hospital SCD cases. ²⁹⁻³¹ In acute CAD, leakage of potassium can lead to depolarizing of myocytes in the ischemic region providing a substrate for reentry, ^{6,32,33} while injury currents depolarizing adjacent nonischemic cardiac tissue, can trigger VA through increased- or abnormal automaticity. ^{19,31} For these patients, pharmacological treatment and more importantly revascularization therapy have been shown to improve survival. ^{34,35} In chronic CAD, which in many cases is undiagnosed, changes in the structural or functional cardiac or vascular system may lead to a transition from a stable CAD to an unstable pathophysiological state triggering VA. ³⁶ These changes can be caused by transient ischemia that lead to myocardial perfusion variations acting as a substrate for VA by re-entry and triggered activity. ³⁶ This can occur in patients with high-grade chronic lesions and may have a subsequent inability to meet adequate flow requirements under specific conditions with acute changes in the flow supply-demand such as the case during exercise (increased demand) or tachycardia (reduced supply), while unstable plaques are susceptible to transient spasms in the coronary artery triggering an arrhythmia. ³⁶ Generally, for patients with ischemic CAD and episodes of VA or cardiac arrest revascularization in addition to ICD treatment has been suggested to improve survival. ³⁷⁻³⁹ Revascularization of patients with scar-mediated VA, where the scar is believed to constitute the root of reentry circuits, has not been shown to be associated with lower incident of VA. ^{40,41} In contrast, such foci for ventricular arrhythmia should be considered for treatment with ablation, given that the focus is available for ablation catheters. ⁴²

Anatomical myocardial alternations, such as in the case of myocardial fibrosis due to scar formation or myocardial stretch, can provide an anatomical substrate for reentry and can lead to spontaneous depolarization and triggered activity triggering VA. ⁴³⁴⁴⁻⁴⁶ In patients with HF, many factors can predispose to the development of VA such as structural (ex. scar and stretch of myocardium), metabolic (ex. neurohormonal activation), and electrophysiological changes (ex. changes in action potential and calcium handling). These different anatomical, metabolic, and electrophysiological changes can lead to a number of arrhythmic mechanisms. Accordingly, reentry, automaticity, and triggered activity are all potential underlying mechanisms for VA in patients with HF. ESC guidelines emphasize ablation strategies for the treatment of patients with VA and suspected scar as the underlying etiology. ³

1.3 Implantable cardioverter defibrillator

ICD is useful in preventing SCD and is an integral part of treating patients with high primary or secondary risk of VA and SCD. Several trials have demonstrated ICD treatment to be superior to medical therapy in patients who have experienced VA (secondary prevention). ⁴⁷⁻⁴⁹ Meta-analyses of 3 ICD trials in secondary prevention demonstrated a 28% reduction in mortality (HR 0.72: 95% CI 0.6–0.87, P <0.001) in the group with medical therapy and ICD compared to the group receiving medical therapy alone, which was almost entirely due to reduction of arrhythmic death in the ICD group. ⁵⁰ Accordingly, current guidelines recommend ICD treatment for the secondary prevention of SCD, in patients with documented VF or hemodynamically not-tolerated VT in the absence of reversible causes. ³

Similarly, trials have demonstrated that ICD treatment has an established role for the primary prevention of SCD in patients with HF with reduced LVEF (HFrEF). ^{51,52} In the MADIT trial, patients treated with ICD had a 31% lower mortality rate (14.2%) compared with the conventional-therapy group (19.8%). ⁵¹ Similarly, in the SCD-HeFT trial, ICD therapy reduced mortality by 23% while amiodarone therapy had no favorable effect on survival in patients with symptomatic HF with LVEF ≤35%. ⁵² Based on these studies, current ESC guidelines recommend ICD treatment for the primary prevention of SCD in patients with symptomatic HF and a LVEF \leq 35%. ³ However, while the survival benefits of ICD treatment in HFrEF patients with ischemic etiology of heart disease is well established, there has until recently been limited evidence for the benefit of ICD treatment in patients with non-ischemic etiology. Improvements in HF therapy have reduced the incident rates of SCD, and it remains unknown whether the effect of ICD persists in contemporary care. ⁵³⁻⁵⁵ To close this knowledge gap, the DANISH trial was designed and conducted at all centers (5 sites) with ICD implantation in Denmark between 2008 and 2014. The trial randomized 1116 patients with non-ischemic HF, LVEF \leq 35%, and NYHA class II-III, to ICD or no ICD treatment in addition to optimal medical therapy for HF. ⁵⁶ After a follow up of 5.6 years, there were no survival benefits in patients treated with ICD (HR 0.87 [95% CI 0.68-1.12] p=0.28), although there was a reduction in the rate of SCD (HR 0.50 [95% CI 0.31-0.82], p=0.005). ⁵⁶ Taking these findings into consideration, and given the limited evidence supporting ICD treatment in patients with non-ischemic HF, ESC guidelines now have a lower class recommendation (class IIa), for ICD for primary prevention of SCD in patients with non-ischemic HF.³

2. Introduction to markers studied in the PhD project

2.1 QRS fragmentation

ECG is a recording of the cardiac electrical activity where each ECG signal reflects a specific cardiac cycle. ECG is an important tool in the diagnosis of different types of CVD and is fundamental for diagnosing VA. ^{3,57} The QRS complex in the ECG reflects ventricular depolarization, which is a sensitive phase where abnormalities in the electrical conduction can be a potential arrhythmical trigger. ^{57,58} Fragmentation of the QRS complex (fQRS) (**Figure 4**), which is believed to be triggered by myocardial fibrosis, is recognized as a marker of altered ventricular depolarization, and has been suggested to be associated with the risk of VA and SCD. ⁵⁹



Figure 4. Example of fragmented QRS in a patient with narrow QRS (panel A) and wide QRS (panel B), with paper speed 50 mm/s. (Own figure)

A. Patient with QRS fragmentation in narrow QRS in both lateral- and inferior wall (i.e., additional R-wave).

B. Patient with QRS fragmentation in wide QRS in lateral wall (i.e., >2 notches in R waves), and also in inferior wall to some extent (i.e., >2 notches in S waves)

fQRS is defined as the presence of additional notches or fragmentation in the QRS complex, for which the criteria differ depending on QRS duration and ECG rhythm (native or PM-rhythm) (**Figure 5**). ⁶⁰ For native QRS rhythms, fQRS was defined by Das et. al. as the presence of >1 R' (fragmentation), an additional R-wave (R') or the presence of or notching in the downslope of the S-wave. Due to the risk of over-interpretation of fQRS in ECG with incomplete bundle branch block (BBB), these have consistently been excluded in prior studies. ⁶¹⁻⁶³ For native wide QRS complex (>120ms) and for ECG rhythm with BBB, fQRS was defined as RSR' patterns with >2 notches in the R-wave or S-wave, or >2 R-waves. ^{60,63} In paced PM rhythm, fQRS is defined as is the presence of >2 R' or >2 notches in the S-waves. Common for the aforementioned criteria is that fQRS must be present in two contiguous leads corresponding to a major coronary artery territory to be of significance: ^{62,63} I, aVL, V6, represent the lateral leads, V1-V5 the anterior leads and II, III, aVF the inferior leads. ^{62,63} In Paper I we used these criteria to define fQRS.



Figure 5 Criteria for defining QRS fragmentation depending on QRS duration and whether it is a native or PM-rhythm. (Own figure) RBBB: right bundle branch block

2.2 Natriuretic peptides

The natriuretic peptide (NP) family includes A-type (or atrial) Natriuretic Peptide (ANP), B-type Natriuretic Peptide (BNP), and C-type Natriuretic Peptide (CNP). ^{64,65} BNP is synthesized as pre-proBNP from which proBNP is derived after enzymatic removal of the signal sequence. During or after release from cardiomyocytes, proBNP is believed to be enzymatically cleaved into its biologically active C-terminal fragment, BNP, and the inactive N-terminal fragment, NT-proBNP (Figure 6).^{66,67} However, intact, uncleaved proBNP is also found circulating in significant amounts. proBNP is synthesized and released by cardiomyocytes in response to pressure or volume overload, myocardial wall stress, hypoxia, and neurohormonal activation.^{66,67} In physiological conditions, NTproBNP and BNP are produced in low concentration from both atrial and ventricular tissue.During cardiac pathological states, such as increased ventricular wall stress, the ventricles become the dominant chamber for proBNP production. ^{68,69} Both BNP and NTproBNP have been shown to be useful for diagnosing HF⁷⁰⁷¹ and to risk stratify patients across a number of different conditions. 72-74 NT-proBNP, is more stable with less biological variability and has longer half-life and slower rate of degradation compared to BNP.⁷⁵ Cut-points and absolute values of NT-proBNP and BNP should not be used interchangeably.⁷⁵

The NPs have a number of counteracting, positive effects on cardiac structure and cardiovascular homeostasis. As an example, structural or functional abnormalities of the failing heart lead to increased intracardiac pressures and/or inadequate cardiac output, ⁷⁶ triggering the upregulation of the sympathetic nervous system (SNS) and the reninangiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS).⁷⁷ Initially, the upregulation of SNS and RAAS acts as a compensatory mechanism that helps to maintain homeostasis, however, in chronic HF this prolonged upregulation results in cardiac remodeling and eventually HF. ⁷⁸ To counteract the effects of prolonged activation of RAAS and SNS, NPs are secreted in attempts to restore physiological circulatory conditions and to limit the cardiac remodeling process through its natriuretic and diuretic action, as well as inhibiting the RAAS activation (**Figure 6**). ^{77,78}



Figure 6 Schematic illustration of the production/secretion pathways of natriuretic peptides in heart failure with their main actions to reduce water and salt retention and vasoconstriction. (Own figure)

NT-proBNP: N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide; BNP: B-type natriuretic peptide RAAS: renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system

Measurement of NT-proBNP or BNP is recommended for diagnosing HF (class 1B recommendation in the European HF guidelines, and class 1A recommendation in the American HF guidelines) and is particularly useful because of the high negative predictive value. ^{76,79} These biomarkers have also been shown to be highly useful in assessing HF disease progression and prognosis. ^{76,79} Measurements of NPs have been incorporated into the clinical definition of HF but should always be used together with clinical history and examination and later also cardiac imaging. According to the clinical definition used in the Universal Definition of HF, HF is a clinical syndrome with (current or prior) symptoms and/or signs secondary to structural or functional cardiac

abnormalities with elevated NPs and/or objective evidence of cardiogenic pulmonary or systemic congestion at rest or with provocation. ⁸⁰ European and American guidelines define HF as a syndrome with symptoms and signs of HF, evidence of cardiac abnormalities with LV diastolic dysfunction, raised LV filling pressures and/or increased NPs. ^{76,79} These guidelines further classify HF by LVEF into HF with reduced EF (HFrEF) with LVEF \leq 40%, HF with mildly reduced EF (HFmrEF) with LVEF 40-50% and HF with preserved EF >50% (HFpEF).^{76,79} NPs have lower concentrations in patients with HFpEF compared to patients with HFrEF. ⁸¹ In HFpEF, around 20% of patients have NPs within the reference limits, but it still serves as a great diagnostic tool and is part of the recommended diagnostic assessments of patients with HF regardless of LVEF. ^{76,79,82}

Beside their extensive documentation and the clinically established diagnostic role, NPs are important for monitoring patients with chronic HF as higher NPs concentrations have been found to be associated with disease severity and prognosis. ⁷⁷ Concentrations of NPs are associated with the risk of cardiovascular events, in particular heart failure events and CV mortality in low-risk cohorts. ^{7483,84} NPs have also been suggested to associate with SCD risk ^{85-87 88} However, these studies have been limited by low number of patients included, ⁸⁹ short follow-up period, ^{87,90} or including only a specific subgroup of patients with ICD. ^{90-92 88}

2.3 Cardiac troponin

Troponin is a protein complex that is part of the contractile apparatus of cardiomyocytes and myocytes. Troponin molecules are connected to the thin filament in the cytosol of the cardiomyocyte together with a double helix of actin monomers (basis) and connected tropomyosin molecule (**Figure 7**). ⁹³⁻⁹⁵ The troponin complex contains three subunits, troponin C (TnC), which is common to all muscle types, and the two cardiac specific troponins; cardiac troponin I (cTnI) and cardiac troponin T (cTnT). ^{93,96} While cTnI is the inhibitory component of the troponin complex, and TnC is the Ca²⁺ binding component, both play a role in regulating muscle contraction. cTnT has a more structural function by function as an anchor for the troponin complex to the thin filament. ^{93,94}



Figure 7 Illustration of the contractile apparatus of cardiac myocytes. Illustrating thin (actin), and thick (myosin) filaments, with the troponin complex embedded in the thin filament. (Own figure) Tn-C: troponin C; Tn-I: troponin I; Tn-T: troponin T

Troponin molecules are mainly released into the circulation due to disease-induced modifications/degradations and it circulates both as intact and degraded troponin products.⁹⁷ Degradation of the thin filament and its proteins, including troponin, has generally in the clinical setting been considered a marker of myocardial injury.⁹³ Myocardial injury leads to degradation of troponin molecules and increases the permeability of the cardiomyocyte cell membrane, which promotes the release of troponin from cardiomyocytes.⁹⁷ Increased permeability of the cardiomyocyte cell membrane due to ischemia or mechanical stress on the myocardium.⁹⁷ Alternations in the composition of proteins in the contractile apparatus, including troponins, due to pathological conditions that influence the overall contractile function of the heart.

Methods to measure circulating troponin have markedly improved over the last decades. Cardiac specific troponins (cTn) can now be detected by using highly specific monoclonal antibodies that bind to epitopes of cTnI and cTnT. ⁹⁸ Highly sensitive cardiac troponin (hs-cTn) assays are required to have a coefficient of variation (CV) <10% at the 99th percentile, and to be detectable in >50% of the healthy population, in both men and women. ⁹⁹ Concentrations above the 99th percentile upper reference limit (URL) in the general population is considered pathological and indicative of myocardial injury. ⁹⁹ hs-

cTn is widely utilized today and is an obligate criterion to diagnose MI according to the 4th WHO classification for MI. ¹⁰⁰ High cardiac troponin concentrations are also accurate for predicting poor outcomes, both in the setting of acute elevations secondary to MI ¹⁰⁰⁻¹⁰², in other CV conditions ^{103,104}, and also in non-cardiac diseases such as in sepsis ¹⁰⁵, COPD ¹⁰⁶, and acute pulmonary embolism ¹⁰⁷ as well as in the general population. ¹⁰⁸

Chronically elevated hs-cTn can be indicative of chronic myocardial injury secondary to cardiac and non-cardiac causes of chronic myocardial injury. ¹⁰⁹ Cardiac causes of elevated cTn can be chronic HF, hypertensive heart disease, cardiomyopathies, and CAD. ¹⁰⁹ cTn is frequently elevated in patients with chronic HF, often in the absence of ischemia. ¹¹⁰ Although the exact mechanisms are unknown it seems closely connected to LV mass and possibly reflective of ongoing myocardial injury, independent of ischemia. ¹¹¹ For example, myocardial wall stretch can lead to leakage of cTn due to cell membrane integrity loss. ¹¹¹

Chronic cTn elevations reflecting a steady disease state with myocardial injury, have been associated with a higher rate of adverse cardiovascular outcomes and poor prognosis in different patient populations, including non-ischemic conditions. ¹¹¹⁻¹¹⁵ Seliger et al. found cTn to be associated with incident HF, CAD and cardiovascular death, and with a non-ischemic myocardial fibrosis pattern on late gadolinium enhancement in the general population.¹¹⁶ These findings demonstrate that ischemia is not necessarily the etiology of myocardial injury reflected by higher cTn levels. In patients with stabile chronic HF, higher levels of cTn have been found to be associated with adverse cardiovascular risk such as HF worsening, HF hospitalization, all-cause mortality and cardiovascular mortality. ^{111,113} Among patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension, cTn has been shown to predict mortality, worsen functional class, and was found to be related to systolic right ventricular dysfunction. ¹¹⁴ cTn levels are associated with major cardiovascular events, cardiovascular mortality and all-cause mortality among patients with chronic kidney disease. ¹¹⁵

2.4 Biomarkers of inflammation

Inflammation is a complex, and highly regulated process that is essential to host defense and tissue repair but can be maladaptive when chronically activated such as in the case of coronary atherosclerosis and HF. ¹¹⁷ Chronic inflammation has a key role in all phases of atherosclerosis and can further be influenced by several risk factors such as smoking, dyslipidemia, DM, and genetic predisposition. ¹¹⁷ In HF, chronic inflammation can trigger a vicious circle of cascade of events promoting further cardiac remodeling, which in turn promotes and sustains the inflammatory response. ^{118,119}

Systemic inflammation can be detected by measuring different biomarkers in the blood. growth differentiation factor 15 (GDF-15), interleukin 6 (IL-6), and C-reactive protein (CRP) are proteins that are considered markers of inflammation, although they also reflect several other pathophysiological entities. These biomarkers have been recognized to have special importance in cardiac disease as they consistently have been

found associated with development and disease progression in patients with CAD and HF. $^{\rm 120\text{-}123}$

GDF-15, also called macrophage inhibitory cytokine 1, is an inflammatory cytokine belonging to the transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) superfamily.¹²⁴ TGF- β superfamily is composed of proteins that are essential regulators of diverse cellular functions.¹²⁴ GDF-15, and other proteins of the TGF- β superfamily, are produced as inactive precursor proteins, which are cleaved into their active form in response to stimulation, such as inflammation, hypoxia, and oxidative stress.^{124,125} In physiological conditions, GDF-15 is expressed in most tissues, including cardiomyocytes, at low concentrations. Expression of GDF-15 is prominently upregulated following several pathological conditions, such as inflammation, tissue injury, and remodeling.^{124,126} Previous studies have demonstrated that GDF-15 is elevated in patients with stable CAD and HF and reflects the severity of the disease.¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹ GDF-15 is strongly associated with the risk of cardiovascular events and mortality in most clinical settings.¹²⁹⁻¹³²

IL-6 is a cytokine produced in response to inflammation, tissue injury, and oxidative stress ^{133,134}. IL-6 has an important role in mediating inflammation, and stimulating acute-phase inflammatory response. ¹³⁵ IL-6 is also the primary stimulant for inducing hepatic synthesis of CRP. ¹³⁶ CRP and IL-6 both participates in the systemic response to inflammation, however in the acute setting, IL-6 peaks faster than CRP and has a shorter half-life. ^{137,138} This seems logical, since IL-6 is responsible for stimulating the release of CRP, ¹³⁶ and with a slow synthesis and release of CRP, IL-6 is to be detected significantly earlier than CRP in acute settings. ¹³⁹ Higher levels of IL-6 and CRP have been demonstrated to be independently associated with HF disease severity and prognosis, ¹⁴⁰⁻¹⁴³ with atherosclerotic processes, ^{144,145} and to help predict adverse cardiovascular events. ^{121,122,146-148} IL-6 and CRP have also been found associated with all-cause mortality in patients with CAD^{121,122} and HF. ^{142,143} Although IL-6 is the main inductor of CRP synthesis, the correlation between circulating IL-6 and CRP concentrations is only poor-to-moderate, ¹⁴⁹ and IL-6 has consistently been demonstrated to be a more sensitive biomarker, with stronger associations with CV events, mortality and generally poor prognosis than CRP in different clinical settings. ¹⁵⁰⁻¹⁵⁴ IL-6 and CRP also seems to be promising therapeutic targets in HF, and there is a large ongoing phase 3 trial testing the effect of IL-6 inhibition in patients with HFpEF (ref HERMES trial, clinicaltrials.gov)

3. Aims of the thesis

The overarching aim of this thesis was to identify markers that can improve the risk prediction for VA and SCD. The specific research aims where as follows:

- Paper I: to assess whether fQRS is associated with incident VA in patients treated with ICD.
- Paper II: to assess the association between concentrations of NT-proBNP and incident VA in patients treated with ICD.

• Paper III: to assess the association between concentrations of cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6, and CRP in association with incident VA in patients treated with ICD.

The secondary aim was to assess the association between fQRS, NT-proBNP, cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6, and CRP and the risk of HF hospitalization and all-cause death.

4. Materials and methods

4.1 Study design/population

The articles in the thesis are based on data from the SMASH 1 Study (Scandinavian Multicenter study to Advance risk Stratification in Heart disease - ventricular arrhythmia), which was designed to identify predictors of VA from circulating biomarkers and resting ECG recordings. The study was conducted in an observational, prospective, multicenter fashion and included 495 ICD patients recruited during their regular outpatient ICD controls at the Cardiology Departments of AUH and SUH, from August 2016 to March 2018. A follow-up visit was conducted after 1-2 years from the baseline visit. The study was approved by the Norwegian Regional Ethics Committee (#2015/2080). The SMASH 1 Study was registered at clincialtrials.gov (NCT02864771) prior to study start.

Patients were eligible for inclusion if they were currently treated with an ICD, were ≥18 years old, and were able to provide informed, written consent. We excluded patients with conditions that could impair their ability to participate in the study (i.e., severe medical condition and/or short life expectancy), history of drug- or alcohol abuse the last 12 months before inclusion, history of non-compliance to medical management, and participation in other interventional trials.

4.2 Clinical assessment and medical history

Relevant medical history such as HF, DM, CAD, and cardiomyopathy, as well as symptoms including NYHA functional class, and medication use were obtained through a structured and standardized interview as well as by conducting a thorough review of electronic medical records. Information regarding the most recent LVEF measured by echocardiography or cardiac magnetic imaging was recorded. Glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was estimated based on creatinine concentrations obtained from routine blood sample measurements registered in the medical records.

At both the baseline visit and at the follow-up visit, patients underwent a standardized physical examination, which included heart rate and blood pressure measurements after 5 minutes of rest where we used the average of measurements #2 and #3. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated by dividing body weight (kg) over height squared (m).

4.3 ECG analyses

A resting 10 second 12-lead ECG was obtained by experienced study nurses using ECG machines that was in routine clinical use at the study sites (Mortara 350/380 with filter 150 Hz, AC filter 50Hz, 50mm/s, 10mm/mV and Schiller AT-110 with filter 150 Hz, AC

Filter 50Hz, 50mm/s, 10mm/mv). All ECG recordings were analyzed and adjudicated by two independent physicians blinded to outcome data, and disagreement on the adjudication was resolved by consensus, involving a third adjudicator if needed.

Several ECG parameters were obtained either by manual or automated measurements from patients' baseline ECG recordings. QRS duration and axis, corrected QTc time and T axis were obtained from automated measurements on ECG recordings. Q-wave amplitude was measured from the deepest pathological Q wave, at least present in 2 contiguous leads corresponding to a major coronary artery territory. QRS fragmentation was assessed as described earlier in the introduction of this thesis. T-peak to T-end is the distance between the maximum deflection of the T-wave (T-peak) and the returning point of the T-wave to the isoelectric line, which was measured using the "tangent" method ¹⁵⁵, using the maximum value from all leads (**Figure 8**).



Figure 8 Measurement of T-peak to T-end using the "tangent" method. (Own figure) TpTe: T-peak to T-end interval

4.4 Biochemical analyses

Blood samples were obtained by venipuncture at the baseline visit and at the follow-up visit by experienced study nurses. The blood samples were temporarily stored at 4°C and centrifuged at 2000 G for 10 minutes before they were transferred into aliquots that were stored at -80°C. All blood samples were transported for long-term storing in the study biobank at AUH. Serum blood samples that had not previously been thawed were later used to analyze the studied biomarkers: NT-proBNP, cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6, and CRP by the electrochemiluminescence immunoassay Elecsys on the Cobas e 801 platform (Roche Diagnostics, Rotkreuz, Switzerland) at the core laboratory at AUH.

The coefficients of variation (CV) as reported by the manufacturer, and the analytical range (lowest to highest level of detection) for NT-proBNP, cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6 and CRP are presented in the table below (Table 1).

Biomarker	Coefficients of variation (CV)	Analytical range
NT-proBNP	2.5% at 127 ng/L and 1.3% at 1706 ng/L	5-35 000 ng/L
cTnT	3.9% at 11.8 ng/L and 3.0% at 89 ng/L	3-10000 ng/L
GDF-15	1.3% at 472 pg/mL and 1.1% at 19368 pg/mL	400-20000 pg/mL
IL-6	4.9% at 6.4 pg/mL and 1.4% at 189 pg/mL	1.5-5000 pg/mL
CRP	3.3% at <5mg/L and 1.5% at ≥ 5 mg/L	0.3-350 mg/L

4.5 Outcome measure

The outcomes in the SMASH-1 study was prespecified and registered at clinicaltrials.gov prior to the study start (ref SMASH 1 trial, clinicatrials.gov). The primary outcome was incident VA, defined as sustained VT or VF (>100 beats per minute >30 sec), or VA resulting in appropriately delivered ICD therapies (electrical shock or antitachycardia pacing [ATP]). These arrhythmic events were obtained by review of ICD-interrogations to include ICD-recorded events as well as electronic hospital records that included clinically recorded events (e.g., VA episodes that fall outside programmed monitor/treatment zones) as diagnosed by experienced cardiac electrophysiologists. Validation of these records was performed by a thorough review of all ICD recordings and electronic health care records to ensure that real arrhythmic events and appropriate ICD therapies were separated from artifacts and inappropriate ICD therapies. We only included validated, real arrhythmic events and appropriate ICD therapy as outcomes in the SMASH 1 Study.

The secondary outcomes were death from any cause and hospitalization for HF. These events were obtained by a thorough review of the electronic healthcare records, with linkage to data from the Norwegian National Death registry. HF hospitalization was defined as hospital admissions where HF was the main reason for hospitalization, and this was adjudicated by an experienced physician from the study team.

4.6 Statistical analyses

Statistical software

Statistical analyses performed in the first paper was performed using Stata software version 16 (Statacorp., College Station, Texas, USA), and for papers II and III we used the updated version 17.

Standard statistical tests

Variables were assessed for normal distribution using a visual inspection of a histogram illustration of the data and the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Baseline characteristics are reported as N (%) and median (Q1, Q3) for skewed and mean ± SD for variables demonstrating a normal distribution. Categorical variables were compared using the χ^2 test for binary variables, and for continuous variables t-test or ANOVA was used for the comparison of normally distributed/parametric continuous variables, and the Kruskal-Wallis-test for non-normally distributed/non-parametric continuous variables.

Regression analyses

The circulating biomarkers (NT-proBNP, cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6 and CRP) all had a nonnormal distribution according to the Shapiro-Wilk normality test. Due to right-skewed distribution of biomarker concentrations, we transformed all biomarkers by the natural logarithm and used the log-transformed values in all regression analyses.

In papers II and III, we used linear and logistic regression to compare baseline characteristics of trends across quartiles of biomarkers. Linear regressions were used for continuous, normally distributed variables while logistic regression was used for categorical variables. Multivariable logistic regression analysis was used to assess independent predictors of fQRS in paper I, and multivariable linear regression analysis was used to assess independent predictors of higher baseline biomarker concentrations in papers II and III.

Cox proportional hazard regression analyses were used for time-to-first event for the exposure variables of interest. We used Cox regression models to examine the association between the presence of fQRS on baseline ECG and time-to-first event of incident VA and all-cause death in separate analyses in paper I, and to study the associations between baseline concentrations of biomarkers and time-to-first event for incident VA, HF hospitalization and death in separate analyses in papers II and III. The Cox regression analyses were performed in unadjusted (univariable) and adjusted (multivariable) models. The covariates used in the adjusted models were selected *a priori* based on established risk factors for VA: age, sex, BMI, CAD, HF, eGFR, and LVEF. We also adjusted for QRS duration, QRS axis, presence of Q-wave, and BBB in Paper I for patients with native QRS on baseline ECG.

Interaction analyses were performed to assess whether the association between fQRS/biomarker concentrations and incident VA was different according to ICD-indication (primary versus secondary prevention). In paper III interaction analyses were also performed to assess whether the association between cTnT and VA was different according to ischemic versus non-ischemic etiology.

Sensitivity, specificity, and assessment of discrimination

In paper I, we calculated sensitivity, specificity, and likelihood ratios for the ability of fQRS to predict VA. For the biomarker studies in papers II and III, Harrell's C-statistics was calculated to assess the performance of the studied biomarkers to discriminate between patients with and without events, using time-to-event. In paper III, we also calculated the additive prognostic value of GDF-15, IL-6, and CRP on top of cTnT. We performed this analysis by estimating the effect size of a basic clinical risk model plus cTnT alone against the effect size of a basic clinical risk model with the addition of the inflammatory biomarkers entered separately. We compared these different risk models using the likelihood ratio test.

Kaplan-Meier survival analysis

We developed Kaplan-Meier survival curves to graphically illustrate the event rate over time in patient groups classified by the presence of fQRS or not, and by quartiles of different biomarker concentrations. Kaplan-Meier survival curves were generated for all 3 papers in this thesis to visualize the proportion of patients with primary and secondary events over time. The log-rank test was used to compare the differences in survival between the different groups of the Kaplan-Meier curve.

Repeated measurements

Wilcoxon Signed Rank test was used to analyze changes in biomarker concentrations from the baseline visit to the follow-up visit in papers II and III. The relative change in concentrations of biomarkers was calculated by dividing the follow-up concentration with the baseline concentration. These calculated ratios of change were then log-transformed and analyzed in Cox regression models for incident events that occurred after the date of the follow-up visit (landmark analysis).

P-values of less than 0.05 was considered significant for all statistical tests. No adjustment for multiple hypothesis testing was performed.

5. Summary of the papers results

5.1 Paper I

We tested the hypothesis of an association between fQRS and risk of developing incident VA in **Paper I.** We analyzed 459 patients (after excluding 36 patients with missing baseline ECG, low-quality ECG recording, and patients with incomplete RBBB) treated with ICD and found that 52 (11%) of patients had fQRS. The presence of fQRS was strongly associated with the risk of developing VA during follow-up: HR 3.41 (95% CI 2.27-5.13), p<0.001 (**Figure 9**). This association was also statistically significant after adjusting for age, sex, BMI, CAD, HF, eGFR, ICD indication, and the following ECG variables in patients with native QRS: QRS duration, QRS axis, presence of Q-wave, and BBB. There was a trend for a stronger association between fQRS and VA among patients with a primary prevention ICD indication compared to patients with a secondary prevention ICD indication: HR 6.05 (3.16-11.60) versus HR 2.39 (1.41-4.04), respectively, p-for-interaction=0.047.



Figure 9 Survival analysis of time to ventricular arrhythmia in patients with and without QRS fragmentation (fQRS) present in the baseline ECG. (Own figure)

5.2 Paper II

We analyzed the association between NT-proBNP concentrations and incident VA in 490 patients treated with ICD in Paper II. In this study we found that NT-proBNP concentrations were elevated in the overall population (median 567 [Q1-Q3 203-1480] ng/L) and that higher concentrations were associated with increased risk of VA: HR 1.39 (95% Cl 1.22-1.58) per log-unit increase, p<0.001, C-statistics 0.62). The association between NT-proBNP concentrations and incident VA persisted after adjusting for age, sex, BMI, CAD, HF, eGFR and LVEF in multivariable Cox regression analysis. There was a tendency for stronger association between NT-proBNP concentrations and incident VA in patients with secondary prevention ICD indication compared to patients with primary prevention ICD indication (p=0.06 for interaction). In a subgroup analysis among patients with secondary prevention ICD indication only, the association between NT-proBNP and incident VA persisted in adjusted models, the C-statistic was 0.71, and the risk was 7-fold higher for patients with NT-proBNP concentrations in the 4th quartile compared to patients with NT-proBNP concentrations in the 1st quartile (Figure 10). In contrast, in patients with primary prevention ICD indication, the association between NT-proBNP concentrations and incident VA was not significant in adjusted models and the C-statistic was 0.55.

Higher NT-proBNP concentrations were associated with increased risk of HF hospitalization (HR 3.11 [2.53-3.82], p<0.001; C-statistics 0.85) and all-cause mortality (HR 2.49 [95% CI 2.04-3.03], p<0.001; C-statistics 0.82). These associations were also statistically significant in adjusted models.

Greater changes in NT-proBNP concentrations from the baseline visit to the follow-up visit (after mean 1,4 y) were associated with an increased risk of subsequent HF hospitalization (HR 1.73 [95%CI 1.03-2.90] p=0.04) and mortality (HR 1.71 [1.05-2.77], p= 0.03), respectively in the adjusted models, but not with subsequent incident VA (HR 1.00 [0.66-1.52], p=0.98).



Figure 10 Association between baseline concentrations of NT-proBNP and time-to-first ventricular arrhythmia in patients with (A) primary prevention ICD indication and (B) secondary prevention ICD indication, stratified by quartiles of NT-proBNP. Also presented is the results of a Cox regression analysis for quartile 4 versus quartile 1. (Own figure)

5.3 Paper III

In **paper III**, we assessed the associations between concentrations of cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6, and CRP and incident VA in 489 patients treated with ICD. We demonstrated that higher concentrations of cTnT were associated with an increased risk of VA (HR 1.63 [95% CI 1.31-2.01] per log-unit, p<0.001; C-statistics 0.62), which also persisted after adjusting for age, sex, BMI, CAD, HF, LVEF and eGFR. The association between cTnT concentrations and incident VA was consistent in patients with primary and secondary ICD indication (p-for-interaction=0.25) (**Figure 11, 12**). GDF-15, IL-6 and CRP were not associated with the risk of VA (**Figure 12**).



Figure 11 Survival analysis of time to ventricular arrhythmia, stratified by quartiles of cTnT. Also presented are the results from a Cox regression analysis for quartile 4 versus quartile 1.(Own figure)

Higher cTnT concentrations were associated with increased risk of hospitalization for HF, (HR 3.85 [2.88-5.14], p<0.001, C-statistics 0.80) and all-cause mortality (HR 4.77 [3.43-6.64], p<0.001, C-statistics 0.82) (**Figure 12**), which persisted in the adjusted models and was consistent across ICD indication. Changes in cTnT concentrations from the baseline visit to the follow-up visit (after mean 1.4 y) were not associated with subsequent VA (p= 0.66), HF hospitalization (p=0.58), or mortality; (p=0.90).

GDF-15, IL6 and CRP concentrations at baseline were all associated with increased risk of HF hospitalization with C-statistics 0.79, 0.70, and 0.62, respectively. **(Figure 12)**. We found no significant associations between changes in biomarker concentration during follow-up and HF hospitalization. GDF-15, IL-6 and CRP were also associated with increased risk of all-cause mortality (C-statistics 0.78, 0.75, and 0.67, respectively), which persisted in the adjusted models. Changes in GDF-15 concentrations (HR 2.66 (1.59-4.45), p<0.001), but not IL-6 or CRP, were associated with the risk of all-cause mortality.



Figure 12 Incident rates of ventricular arrhythmia, heart failure hospitalization, and all-cause mortality, according to quartiles of baseline cardiac troponin T (A), growth differentiation factor-15 (B), interleukin 6 (C), and C-reactive protein (D) (*Own figure*)

6. Discussion of main findings

6.1 General findings

This thesis has three main findings: **(1)** the presence of fQRS on 12-lead ECG is associated with increased risk of VA during follow-up, **(2)** higher concentrations of NT-proBNP and cTnT, but not the inflammatory biomarkers GDF-15, IL-6, and CRP, are associated with increased risk of VA, and **(3)** higher concentrations of NT-proBNP, cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6, and CRP are all associated with increased risk of HF hospitalization and all-cause mortality in patients treated with ICD.

6.2 fQRS for VA risk prediction

Fragmentation of the QRS complex on ECG has been proposed to reflect altered cardiac depolarization caused by non-uniform activation of the myocardium. Myocardial fibrosis and scar may underlie non-uniform activation of the myocardium,^{62,63,156} which is supported by the presence of regional perfusion defects during nuclear stress testing⁶² and delayed gadolinium enhancement on cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in

patients with fQRS.¹⁵⁶ Recent ESC guidelines recognize fQRS as suggestive of underlying CAD in patients presenting with sustained VT.³ This is supported also by our results as we found the presence of fQRS to be associated with established CAD and prior MI in the SMASH 1 Study. However, one should recognize that type, volume, and location of myocardial fibrosis differ according to the pathophysiological process. ¹⁵⁷ Replacement fibrosis occurs after myocardial damage where collagen replaces injured cardiomyocytes, such as found after MI. ^{157,158} In reactive interstitial fibrosis there is no loss of cardiomyocytes, but rather an increased production and deposition of collagen in extracellular matrix as found in cardiac remodeling in patients with hypertensive heart disease or HF. ^{157,158} Infiltrative interstitial fibrosis is another, but less common type of fibrosis that is characterized by accumulation of glycolipids, such as in patients with Fabry's disease. ¹⁵⁸ Many patients have combinations of different types of fibrosis, as is the case for patients with cardiomyopathies.¹⁵⁷ Different types of fibrosis cause different conduction disturbances and may also lead to different ECG fragmentation.¹⁵⁹

fQRS has been recognized as a risk factor for developing VA in patients with Brugada syndrome^{160,161} and in patients with treated Tetralogy of Fallot.¹⁶⁰ Recent ESC guidelines have included fQRS in the risk stratification for the primary prevention of SCD in patients with treated Tetralogy of Fallot. ³ Prior studies have also demonstrated an association between fQRS and risk of VA in patients with CAD, dilated cardiomyopathy, HF, and in patients treated with ICD.^{59,162,163} In agreement with previous studies, we found fQRS to be associated with a 3-fold increased risk of device-detected VA in a large heterogenous population treated with ICD irrespective of established risk factors, with a specificity of 94% for detecting VA during follow-up.

Prior studies of fractionation in ECG have proposed that heterogeneous and delayed conduction abnormalities may explain the fragmentation of ECG. ^{164,165} In our study, the presence of fQRS was associated with a history of VA (secondary prevention ICD indication), in addition to previous MI and older age. This observation supports the main finding of a link between fQRS and ventricular arrhythmogenicity.

Our objective was to investigate fQRS as the key ECG-variable of interest for VA-risk prediction, and this was prespecified in our analysis plan. Interestingly, other ECG parameters such as QRS duration, QRS axis, QTc, and heart rate were not associated with the presence of fQRS (among patients with native QRS). Moreover, fQRS was found superior for predicting VA to all other ECG variables that we analyzed, such as T-peak to T-end, QT interval and QRS duration. Finally, the association between fQRS and VA was independent of QRS duration and the presence of BBB. These findings suggest that the arrhythmic properties associated with fQRS are more likely due to heterogeneous ventricular depolarization, rather than homogenous conduction disturbances or conduction delay *per se*. However, the lack of electrophysiological examinations in our study limits our ability to determine the pathophysiological mechanisms behind fQRS in our patients.

The association between fQRS and VA persisted after adjusting for ICD indication. However, there was a significant interaction, suggesting that the association was stronger among patients with primary prevention ICD indication compared to patients with a secondary prevention ICD indication. Furthermore, among patients with primary prevention ICD, the association between fQRS and VA was *not* modified (no significant interaction) by the presence or absence of CAD, suggesting that it can also play a role in discriminating patients with non-ischemic HFrEF. Given the results from the DANISH study, this is a group where it is particularly important to risk stratify patients. Importantly, as this is a subgroup of a subgroup, the results for this specific group should be interpreted with caution and hopefully investigated in a future study of non-ischemic HFrEF.

Based on our findings in Paper I and previous work in the field, we propose that fQRS on ECG could be used as an additional tool to help distinguish patients at high risk of VA from those with a lower risk, particularly in the primary prevention setting. If these findings are replicated in prospective studies of non-ischemic HFrEF patients with uncertain indication for ICD treatment, fQRS assessment could be a useful tool for evaluating initiation or continuation of antiarrhythmic treatments and potentially even help identify patients are more likely to benefit from ICDt. ⁵⁶ However, these findings need to be validated as our findings should only be considered hypothesis-generating.

6.3 NT-proBNP

NT-proBNP concentrations are elevated in HF and have been shown to be predictive of major cardiovascular events in HF patients. NT-proBNP concentrations also predict clinical outcomes in subjects from the general population and in patients with CAD. ⁷²⁻⁷⁴ We demonstrated that higher concentrations of NT-proBNP were associated with a worse prognosis in a heterogeneous group of patients treated with ICD. Thus, our findings extend those from prior studies, which have consistently demonstrated NT-proBNP concentrations to be reflective of myocardial wall stress, neurohormonal activation, aging, and reduced renal function. We found a history of HF, worse renal function, and older age to be independent predictors of higher concentrations of NT-proBNP in our study.

What was more novel, and the main finding from Paper II, was that higher baseline NTproBNP concentrations were predictive of VA, with around a 4-fold increased risk among patients in the highest compared with the lowest quartile. Importantly, this association was independent of established risk factors, including the most frequently used risk stratifier; LVEF. Prior studies have demonstrated an association between higher concentrations of NT-proBNP and the risk of *clinically suspected SCD*, also irrespective of LVEF.⁸⁶ However, many of the previous studies have defined SCD as death presumed to be arrhythmic, and poorly discriminate arrhythmic from non-arrhythmic etiologies of SCD such as acute circulatory collapse without an identifiable triggering event ¹⁶⁶ or noncardiac cause for death such as pulmonary embolism, aortic rupture, and acute cerebral hemorrhage. ¹⁶⁷ In our study we only included device-detected VA, and to our
knowledge, it is the biggest prospective study to study the association between NTproBNP (or BNP) and device-detected VA, as well as having the longest follow-up.

The exact pathophysiological mechanism explaining the association between higher NTproBNP concentrations and VA risk is unknown. However, myocardial stretch, which is thought to be the main mechanical stimulus for NT-proBNP release, is believed to trigger arrhythmia ^{166,168} through mechano-electric feedback. ^{44,169} Mechano-electric feedback refers to the electrophysiological changes caused by mechanical changes in the myocardium and is believed to contribute to the increased arrhythmic risk in diseases and pathological conditions with altered cardiac wall mechanics. ^{44,169} By affecting a sequence of stretch-activated currents, cell-cell gap junction currents and altering cell membrane capacitance, MEF can induce physiological and electrical heterogeneities in the heart, ¹⁶⁹ which can potentially cause VA through several mechanisms triggering automaticity, triggered activity, and reentry. ⁴⁴

Our results demonstrated a stronger association between high NT-proBNP concentrations and risk of VA among patients with secondary ICD-indication, among whom the association persisted in the adjusted models, whereas it was non-significant for patients with primary ICD indication. This finding may seem counterintuitive as patients with a primary prevention ICD indication from severe HF have higher NT-proBNP concentrations. However, this may in fact be the explanation for the limited association between NT-proBNP and VA risk in these patients, as there are hemodynamic and neurohormonal mechanisms that primarily drive the NT-proBNP expression in HF. Pertinent to this point, NT-proBNP concentrations were strongly associated with secondary endpoints like HF hospitalization and all-cause mortality in our cohort, which reflects the strong, non-specific risk abilities of NT-proBNP in patients with ICD.

6.4 cTnT

In paper III we demonstrated that higher cTnT concentrations were associated with increased risk of VA, HF hospitalization, and all-cause mortality. Patients with cTnT levels in the highest quartiles had around 4-fold higher risk of VA compared with patients in the lowest quartile. This association was independent of established risk factors such as LVEF, previous MI, and renal function. Although higher concentrations of cTnT were predictive of future episodes of VA, they were also associated with a *lower* prevalence of previous VA. This is due to higher cTnT concentrations in patients with HF and primary ICD indication, compared to non-HF patients with ICD due to previously documented VA (secondary ICD indication). This is supported by analyses demonstrating no association between cTnT and previous VA when each of the groups are analyzed separately.

Few studies have focused on the association between cTnT and the risk of VA or SCD. In a large study from the US of 3089 older participants from the Cardiovascular Health Study, cTnT was demonstrated to be associated with the risk of SCD. ¹⁷⁰ Similarly a large case-control study of 6 prospective cohorts with 565 cases of clinically diagnosed SCD demonstrated a significant association between higher concentrations of cTnI and increased risk of SCD. ¹⁷¹ Similar associations have been reported in patients with HF. In the TOPCAT trial of patients with HFpEF there was a significant association between higher cTnI levels and the risk of SCD (C-statistics 0.75), with 64% of clinically suspected SCD cases among patients with cTnI levels in the highest quartile. ¹⁷² However, the association between cTn and device-detected VA has not been analyzed and to our knowledge, our study is the first to address this.

Although the pathophysiological mechanism explaining the association between higher cTnT levels and risk of VA is unknown, cTnT is known to reflect mechanical myocardial damage. One could hypothesize that ongoing myocardial injury processes over time and subclinical fibrosis, reflected by higher levels of cTnT can act as substrates for VA and potentially SCD. CAD is frequently associated with SCD,³⁰ possibly due to myocardial injury or hypoperfusion of myocardial tissue, which are recognized triggers of ventricular arrhythmic events. ¹⁷³ Interestingly, we found the association between cTnT concentrations and the risk of VA to be independent of the presence of ischemic etiology, suggesting that pathophysiological mechanisms besides myocardial ischemia account for the prognostic ability of cTnT to predict incident VA. Higher cTnT levels have been described in patients with both acute and stable chronic HF, as well as in patients with cardiomyopathy including hypertrophic- and dilated CM and have been illustrated to be a marker of poor prognosis even at low concentrations. ¹⁷⁴⁻¹⁷⁷ These findings support the role of cTnT as a marker for progressive cardiac remodeling and could be indicative of ongoing myocyte injury, hypertrophy, and increased fibrosis, ^{178,179} all of which are potent arrhythmogenic triggers. ^{159,168,180} Regardless of the mechanism, our results demonstrate a role for cTnT measurements to identify individuals at high risk of VA.

cTnT has consistently been demonstrated to be a predictor of HF hospitalization and mortality in the general population,^{108,181} among patients with CAD,¹¹² and patients with HF.¹⁷² In agreement with previous studies, we demonstrated that higher concentrations of cTnT were associated with increased risk of hospitalization for HF and all-cause mortality in ICD patients. This suggest that cTnT seems to be strongly associated with indices of HF and conventional risk factors for mortality. Indeed, higher cTnT concentrations in our study were associated with lower LVEF, higher NYHA functional class, and established diagnosis of HF. Additionally, higher cTnT concentrations were associated with older age, worse renal function, and several comorbidities such as DM, CAD, cardiomyopathy, and previous AMI, all of which contribute to the general risk of HF and mortality. Notably, the association between cTnT and each of the outcomes was present also after adjusting for these factors. The pathophysiological mechanism behind these associations is most likely a result of complex progressive cardiac remodeling due to chronic myocardial injury. Other mechanism may be subtle, progressive subendocardial ischemia or necrosis, coronary microvascular dysfunction, and increased oxygen demand. ¹⁸²⁻¹⁸⁴.

6.5 GDF-15, IL-6, and CRP

IL-6, CRP and particularly GDF-15, are strong prognostic markers with respect to major cardiovascular events and mortality. ^{123,141} GDF-15 has consistently, and in multiple clinical settings, been demonstrated to be a stronger prognostic marker than IL-6 and CRP. ^{128,130,185} We extend these findings to patients treated with ICD, where all three markers were associated with HF hospitalization and all-cause death. The discriminatory performance was quite strong for GDF-15 (C-statistics 0.79 and 0.78, respectively), intermediate for IL-6 (C-statistics 0.70 and 0.75, respectively) and modest for CRP (C-statistics 0.62 and 0.67, respectively). Furthermore, all three biomarkers added incremental prognostic information to that of cTnT for these outcomes.

Inflammation plays a critical role the development and progression of HF. GDF-15, IL-6, and CRP are believed to be secreted in response to various HF-related stimuli, such as cardiac remodeling, pressure overload, and myocardial ischemia.^{143,186-188} Furthermore, concentrations of circulating GDF-15, IL-6, and CRP are believed to reflect the severity of inflammation, tissue damage, and to correlate with many conventional cardiovascular risk factors, such as age, smoking, DM, hypertension, and stress. ^{147,189-191} These biomarkers have been found associated with endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress and, in addition proposed to be involved in cell survival and apoptosis regulation. ¹⁹²⁻¹⁹⁵ Thus, the prognostic value of these biomarkers in patients treated with ICD is not surprising and in agreement with prior HF studies.^{141,142,196}

Interestingly, none of these inflammatory biomarkers were associated with the risk of incident VA. This is in agreement with a retrospective case-control study of patients with cardiomyopathy treated with ICD for primary prevention where GDF-15 concentrations did not associate with incident VA¹⁹⁷, but contrast studies reporting an association between high GDF-15 and IL-6 concentrations and risk of clinically adjudicated SCD. ¹⁹⁸⁻ ²⁰⁰ However, these later studies had limitations with small sample sizes¹⁹⁹ and clinically defined cases of SCD as the endpoint²⁰⁰; and also included SCD events in the acute setting following MI.¹⁹⁸ These differences may explain the divergent results from devicedetected VA in a cohort of patients with ICD from the outpatient clinic. Data from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis with subjects free from CVD demonstrated no association between GDF-15 concentrations and subclinical cardiac fibrosis (replacement fibrosis and interstitial fibrosis), as accessed by cardiac magnetic resonance imaging and late gadolinium enhancement. In contrast, cTnT concentrations were associated with cardiac fibrosis in the same study, which supports that a cardiacspecific marker will reflect cardiac fibrosis better than an unspecific biomarker like GDF-15. ²⁰¹ This difference may therefore also explain the stronger association between cTnT and VA compared to GDF-15 and VA in our study.

Still, there is a need for additional studies to better understand the role of these biomarkers in disease pathogenesis and risk stratification in ICD patients.

7. Methodological considerations

7.1 Study design and population

The SMASH 1 Study is a multicenter, observational clinical study. Patients were recruited from the outpatient clinics at the two study sites, AUH and SUH, both of which are teaching hospitals with AUH located in the South-Eastern part of Norway and SUH located on the West coast. We found consistent results between the two study sites. Nonetheless, as Norway has a homogenous, primarily Caucasian population, our results may not be valid in other regions of the world.

The main aim of the study was to study the associations between different biomarkers and the risk of incident VA. Since the study was prospective in design, it was well suited to explore the main research aims of the current thesis. By measuring events in a temporal sequence, where the exposure proceeds the outcome, the design of the SMASH 1 Study allows us to prospectively establish the associations between the studied biomarkers and primary and secondary endpoints. However, the observational nature of the study does not permit us to study causation, but rather associations between the biomarkers and the endpoints. Studies of causality will require other designs, like the use of Mendelian randomization studies to assess the association between the variance of genes known to express the proteins measured in this study and VA risk could provide insights on causality.

Our study is prone to different forms of bias, which are important to address. Selection bias occurs if the patient selection process leads to an inaccurate representation of the population of interest. Compared to retrospective studies, our prospective study is less prone to selection bias as the outcomes have yet to occur when the patient is included. Still, as we did not include patients with conditions that could impair their ability to participate in the study, such as short life-expectancy, we likely recruited a "healthier" cohort compared to the real-world population of ICD patients. We believe, however, that this is a reasonable exclusion criterion to minimize the number of losses to follow-up. Additionally, our cohort is prone to gender bias, as it comprises mainly of male patients (83%). However, this typically represents the gender distribution of patients treated with ICD and we randomly screened patients eligible for participation in the SMASH 1 Study, irrespective of sex. During data collection, patients were asked to provide information about previous medical history and functional class using a structured interview. This design could potentially make the study prone to *recall bias*. That would for example occur if patients would over- or underreport their medical history or report their functional class differently from their actual functional class. Still, such biases are more of a concern with retrospective studies where participants with events often are more engaged in the project and therefore answer questions differently compared to participants without events. Hence, we believe information- and response bias are less of a problem with our prospective data collection in the SMASH 1 Study. To minimize the risk of recall bias we also conducted a thorough review of the electronic health records

to verify and supplement information provided by the patients. Finally, our study is prone to *confounding bias* as many risk factors are associated with both the exposure variables investigated (fQRS and circulating biomarkers) and associated with the risk of developing VA, HF hospitalization, and death. For instance, eGFR is associated with concentrations of circulating biomarkers due to renal excretion and shared risk factors, and eGFR is also a strong predictor of cardiovascular risk. To reduce the risk of confounding bias we adjusted for a range of potential confounders that were selected *a priori* based on previous studies and current knowledge in the field. Still, we acknowledge that there is a chance of residual confounding.

7.2 ECG analyses

All ECGs in the SMASH study were analyzed by two independent adjudicators from the two study sites to reduce the risk of observer bias for paper I. All ECGs were interpreted for fQRS by two independent adjudicators, and disagreement on the adjudication was solved by consensus, involving a third adjudicator. In this process, the consensus rate was 99% between the two reviewers for fQRS assessment and we therefore believe the bias in ECG adjudication was limited in our study. We used paper-based ECGs in the SMASH 1 Study, which imposes restrictions on precise analysis, particularly those of minor segments and amplitudes. Since that time, there has been a gradual transition to a digitalization of ECG recordings, which will allow for additional features to optimize ECG analysis, such as zoom options and filter edition. Further, the use of signal-averaged ECG technique can reduce noise, which allows better visualization of low-amplitude signals and high-resolution recording to allow higher analytical precision, including diagnosing notches in the QRS complex.

7.3 Biomarker sampling

In the biomarker analyses for papers II and III, a potential reason for bias can be the biological and analytical variability of the studied biomarkers. To overcome this bias, we performed all analyses in the same laboratory, the core laboratory at AUH, and in one batch with the same instruments and assays. Protein biomarkers are also prone to degradation upon freezing and long-term storage. NT-proBNP has been demonstrated to be stable when stored at different storage conditions, ^{202,203} including for at least 1 year when stored at -80°C. ²⁰⁴ NT-proBNP also seems to have minor variability in concentrations after repeated freeze-thaw cycles, including only 1.6% in mean percentage reduction in concentration after five freeze-thaw cycles. ²⁰⁴ For cTnT, a study demonstrated minor analytical variation after 12 months of storage and two freeze-thaw cycles. ²⁰⁵ Another study reported a mean degradation of 0.36 ng/L per year when stored over a period of 36 months and later only modest degradation after an average of 8 years storage at -80°C. We believe these studies support excellent stability of cTnT at -80°C and that analytical variation from one freeze-thaw cycle should be considered minor. ²⁰⁶ Previous evaluations of GDF-15 have shown that GDF-15 concentration are stable at room temperature for 48 hours and are resistant to 4 freeze-thaw cycles, ¹²⁰ while CRP was shown to be stable for up to 34 months when stored frozen at -20°C.²⁰⁷ IL-6 has been shown to be stable throughout multiple freeze cycles, but it was shown to

degrade in up to 50% of measured baseline values within 2-3 years of storage. ²⁰⁸ Generally for cytokines it is recommended to store the samples at -80°C or below to limit degradation for long time storage, and as for the remaining biomarkers, it is advised not to perform repeated freeze-thaw cycles to further limit degradation and ensure stability. To ensure optimal stability of our biomarkers and limit degradation due to storage, we stored our samples at -80°C and did not perform repeated freeze-thaw-cycle as only samples that had not previously been thawed were used for the current project.

7.4 ICD-programming

Giving the fact that we did not have standardized ICD-programming in our study protocol, there is a potential for bias. However, physicians who programmed and interrogated the ICD recordings were all blinded to outcome data, to ECG results and to biomarker analyses, making it unlikely that this variability should markedly influence our results. It can also be considered a strength that the ICD programming was according to best clinical practice for each individual patient, which increases the external validity.

7.5 Imaging modalities

In our study, we had limited imaging modalities for assessing cardiac function and structure. We obtained information from the patient's electronic medical records on the most recent measured LVEF, based on either a clinically recorded echocardiographic examination or a cardiac magnetic resonance imaging examination. Although the majority had LVEF measured by echocardiograms, the difference in modality may introduce bias. The time between these prior imaging examinations and study inclusion will differ for individual study participants. The lack of standardized imaging is a limitation to our study and reduces our ability to detect cardiac pathobiology responsible for the identified associations between fQRS and biomarkers and validated ventricular arrhythmic events and different clinical outcomes. Mechanical dispersion by myocardial strain imaging could be of special interest, as mechanical dispersion is associated with VA risk and also associated with concentrations of both cTn and NT-proBNP.²⁰⁹⁻²¹¹

7.6 Clinical endpoints

The majority of studies in this field use SCD based on clinically suspected events as the outcome, which potentially can include also non-cardiac and cardiac death not related to arrhythmia. The primary endpoint of this thesis was therefore more precisely defined as device-documented events due to VA events, more specifically sustained VT >100 b.p.m over 30 seconds, VF, or appropriate ICD treatment for VA.

Information regarding hospitalization for HF and death were obtained from electronic medical journal and reviewed by a physician. Thus, the reason for hospitalization was not only based on registered diagnosis at the time of discharge but also adjudicated events reviewed by a physician and adjudicated based on the totality of clinical information. We believe this approach will make our clinical endpoints accurate. Information concerning patients dying during study follow-up was collected from the Norwegian Death Registry, and the number of all-cause deaths are therefore complete.

We adjudicated the cause of death based on the electronic health record for the nonsurvivors who had this available. Importantly, not all patients have their ICD interrogated post-mortem, so we may have missed some cases of death from VA that was not successfully treated by the ICD.

7.7 Statistical aspects

Statistical analyses applied in all 3 papers were based on conventional analytical methods. All statistical tests were used as recommended depending on the distribution of the data studied and the assumptions necessary for each test.

In all three papers in this thesis, covariates were chosen *a priori* based on established and suspected risk factors of the outcomes. We also included covariates known to influence the studied biomarkers. ²¹² Age, gender, BMI, eGFR, HF, LVEF, and CAD are risk factors associated with the risk of SCD, HF decompensation, and mortality. ²¹³⁻²¹⁵ Additionally, many of these variables are also associated with circulating cardiovascular biomarker concentrations. For instance, HF and LVEF correlate positively and strongly with NT-proBNP concentrations, and BMI correlates inversely with NT-proBNP concentrations.²¹⁶ In Paper I, where we studied the association between fQRS on ECG and risk of VA, we also adjusted for ECG parameters that potentially can be cofounders for fQRS and the outcome of VA, like QRS duration, QRS axis, presence of Q-wave, and BBB. In addition to the covariates mentioned above, hypertension, DM, levels of VES burden on ECG, and potentially also other variables could represent potential confounders. ²¹³ However, due to moderate sample size and a modest number of events, we did not include all possible risk factors as covariates in the multivariable models to avoid the risk of over-fitting of the models, which would have reduced the precision of the effect estimates and introduce type II errors. ²¹⁷

In paper II, we stratified our analyses based on the ICD indication (primary or secondary prevention), and in paper III we stratified for ischemic heart disease etiology (yes/no). These analyses were generated post-hoc and the results should therefore be considered hypothesis-generating.

The SMASH 1 Study was conducted as a multicenter study with patients included from two centers. Optimally, our results should have been validated in an external cohort. Prior to the initiation of the SMASH 1 Study we considered the possibility of dividing the cohort into a derivation cohort (AUH cohort) and a validation cohort (SUH cohort). However, due to limited statistical power, we decided to merge data from the two centers and therefore we lack a validation cohort for this work. We performed interaction analyses based on study center and did not find any differences between the two teaching hospitals including participants in the SMASH 1 Study.

We used relative changes in biomarker concentrations from baseline to follow-up visit to assess associations between temporal changes in biomarker concentrations and endpoints in papers II and III. Relative change is calculated as ratios, i.e., biomarker

concentration at follow-up divided by baseline concentrations, which will provide the proportional change in concentrations from baseline to follow-up. Alternatively, one could have calculated absolute change, which is biomarker concentration at follow-up visit minus concentrations at baseline. However, due to the non-normal distribution of biomarker concentrations in our study and the risk of marked influence from patients with high baseline values to absolute changes, we chose to use relative change in biomarker concentrations for these analyses.

To ensure a reliable answer to the study hypothesis, estimating sample size is important when planning a clinical study. If the study includes a low number of participants, there is a risk for type II error, which means that the study is not able to statistically demonstrate a true difference (in the overall population) between the groups of the study cohort (i.e. failing to reject a false null hypothesis of no assumed difference between the groups). The statistical power calculation for the SMASH 1 Study was performed based on the hypothesis of identifying a biomarker that predicted VA and SCD. With assumption of 12 months follow-up time, 33% of the patients were expected to be in the high biomarker group and 67% in the low biomarker group and annual incidence of VA was considered 20% in the high-biomarker group and 10% in the low-biomarker group. Accordingly, with alpha = 0.05 (type I error rate), the study was estimated to need 454 patients to have a statistical power of 90% to detect a doubling in risk between the two groups, which was considered clinically relevant. With a maximum drop-out rate of 10%, we therefore aimed to enroll 500 patients in the SMASH 1 Study.

8. Ethical considerations and funding

The SMASH 1 Study was approved by the Regional Ethics Committees with case reference number 2015/2080. All included patients in this study signed a written informed consent prior to study commencement and the study was performed in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration. Personal data was anonymized using an assigned study ID and data handling was done according to the regulation of the local Data Protection Official and stored in secure data areas.

An ethical aspect of this study are examinations that participants must undergo as part of the study, without it having any treatment consequences for them. In our case, this primarily relates to the collection of blood samples, which requires a venipuncture with the complications that may follow, such as hematoma, local infections, bleeding, vasovagal syncope, edema, and local thrombus generation. To limit these complications, all venipunctures were performed by trained study nurses. Participants also underwent ECG-recording twice, with the chance for skin irritations and allergies to electrode patches used during ECG examinations. However, none of these complications are considered serious and we did not experience any serious complication during study execution. Funding of the SMASH 1 Study was provided by the Research Council of Norway and by grants from Akershus University Hospital and the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority. Assays for the analyses of NT-proBNP, cTnT, IL-6, CRP and GDF-15 were provided by Roche free of charge.

9. Conclusion & Implications /future perspective

In this thesis we found biomarkers that can aid in assessing the risk of incident VA and clinical outcomes in patients treated with ICD.

More specifically, we demonstrate that the presence of fQRS on ECG and higher baseline concentrations of NT-proBNP and cTnT were associated with an increased risk of incident VA. For NT-proBNP concentrations, the association with VA were present irrespective of established risk factors and LVEF and appeared to be stronger for patients with secondary prevention ICD indication. High baseline concentrations of cTnT were also associated with increased risk of incident VA, independent of established risk factors and prior ischemic heart disease. High concentrations of NT-proBNP, cTnT, GDF-15, IL-6 and CRP on study inclusion were all associated with increased risk of HF hospitalizations and all-cause death during follow-up. For both NT-proBNP and cTnT, the risk discrimination was stronger for HF-hospitalization and all-cause death, than for VA.

Clinical implications and Future perspective

ICD remains the reference treatment to prevent future VA events in patients at risk. As discussed in this thesis, predicting VA remains a long-standing clinical challenge. Hence novel markers could be of value to improve risk assessment for VA. However, no single biomarker has yet been shown to have sufficient precision in predicting VA and SCD. Therefore, using panels of different risk markers, including ECG parameters and circulating biomarkers in addition to clinical and cardiac assessment may be a future strategy to risk stratify patients for incident VA and SCD. In this work, we report several markers that seem to have the potential to help in the stratifications for VA risk. Our results suggest that fQRS, NT-proBNP and cTnT, have the potential to aid in assessing patients at risk of VA and that all studied biomarkers can additionally identify patients at higher risk of HF hospitalization and all-cause mortality.

Biomarkers that predict VA are particularly warranted in primary prevention. fQRS was more strongly associated with VA risk in patients with a primary prevention ICD indication, in comparison with secondary prevention indication. cTnT was predictive in both groups, while NT-proBNP was not significantly associated with VA risk in primary prevention. As mentioned earlier in this thesis, radical improvements in HF pharmacotherapy have reduced the incidents of SCD, and the role of ICD is more in question in contemporary care. Particularly, as illustrated by the DANISH trial, ICD treatment seems to be less efficient in patients with primary ICD indications due to non-ischemic HF. ⁵⁶ In these patients, and generally among patients evaluated for ICD for primary prevention of SCD, fQRS and measurements of cTnT seems to add prognostic

information with respect to VAs and mortality. However, due to the observational nature of this study and adherent limitations, this hypothesis should be evaluated and validated in future studies before clinical use. Additionally, there is a need to better understand the pathophysiological mechanisms explaining the link between these markers and VA risk. Ideally, the strategy would be tested in a prospective randomized clinical trial where patients considered for ICD implementation are randomized to either a biomarker-guided evaluation for VA risk assessment or standard care according to current guidelines.

In patients with a secondary prevention indication for ICD, our data suggest that measurements of NT-proBNP and cTnT can aid in optimizing the VA risk assessment. The association between the concentrations of these cardiac biomarkers and the risk of VA was independent of age, sex, LVEF, renal function and comorbidities, including HF. In fact, NT-proBNP was particularly predictive of VA risk among non-HF patients, as the association was stronger in patients with secondary ICD indication than patients with primary ICD indication. Assessment of these biomarkers, which are widely used in clinical practice for other purposes, can be easily implemented in VA risk prediction. However, further studies are needed to validate our findings before being used clinically e.g., aid clinicians in considering the need for antiarrhythmic medications in patients with an ICD implanted for secondary prevention.

All the six circulating biomarkers studied in this thesis provide prognostic information with respect to HF hospitalization and death. Ongoing cardiac stress and systemic inflammation indicate a higher risk of HF hospitalization and mortality which may impact the aggressiveness of treatment and intensification on monitoring. ¹⁶⁶ Not surprisingly, many of the biomarkers correlated significantly. Although we demonstrated incremental prognostic value by the inflammatory biomarkers on top of the cardiac specific biomarkers, we would not necessarily recommend routine measurements of these solely for the evaluation of HF hospitalization and mortality risk. However, they could serve as a tool in specific cases and should alert physicians of an inflammatory phenotype and increased cardiovascular risk. However, future studies are needed to evaluate whether treatment aiming to lower concentrations of inflammatory biomarkers would help reverse their increased cardiovascular risk. If used clinically, physicians should be aware of conditions that could falsely affect the results, such as an active infection, cancer, or autoimmune diseases.

It is important to underline that many of the pathophysiological mechanisms for the associations between these markers and the risk of the studied endpoints are not well known and one should therefore be cautious of the limitations of these recommendations. Further studies are needed to better understand the pathophysiological mechanisms behind the demonstrated associations, and ideally a clinical trial randomizing physicians to either get the results from these biomarkers or not is ultimately needed to prove that measuring the biomarkers improves outcomes.

10. References

- 1. Deo R, Albert CM. Epidemiology and Genetics of Sudden Cardiac Death. *Circulation*. 2012;125(4):620-637.
- 2. Empana J-P, Lerner I, Valentin E, et al. Incidence of Sudden Cardiac Death in the European Union. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2022;79(18):1818-1827.
- 3. Zeppenfeld K, Tfelt-Hansen J, de Riva M, et al. 2022 ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death: Developed by the task force for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) Endorsed by the Association for European Paediatric and Congenital Cardiology (AEPC). *Eur Heart J.* 2022;43(40):3997-4126.
- 4. Zipes DP, Wellens HJJ. Sudden Cardiac Death. *Circulation*. 1998;98(21):2334-2351.
- 5. Zima E. Sudden Cardiac Death and Post Cardiac Arrest Syndrome. An Overview. *J Crit Care Med (Targu Mures).* 2015;1(4):167-170.
- 6. Koplan BA, Stevenson WG. Ventricular Tachycardia and Sudden Cardiac Death. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 2009;84(3):289-297.
- 7. Wisten A, Forsberg H, Krantz P, Messner T. Sudden cardiac death in 15-35-year olds in Sweden during 1992-99. *J Intern Med.* 2002;252(6):529-536.
- 8. Winkel BG, Risgaard B, Sadjadieh G, Bundgaard H, Haunsø S, Tfelt-Hansen J. Sudden cardiac death in children (1-18 years): symptoms and causes of death in a nationwide setting. *Eur Heart J.* 2014;35(13):868-875.
- 9. Byrne R, Constant O, Smyth Y, et al. Multiple source surveillance incidence and aetiology of out-of-hospital sudden cardiac death in a rural population in the West of Ireland. *Eur Heart J.* 2008;29(11):1418-1423.
- Eckart RE, Shry EA, Burke AP, et al. Sudden death in young adults: an autopsy-based series of a population undergoing active surveillance. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2011;58(12):1254-1261.
- 11. Risgaard B, Winkel BG, Jabbari R, et al. Burden of Sudden Cardiac Death in Persons Aged 1 to 49 Years. *Circulation: Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology.* 2014;7(2):205-211.
- 12. Gräsner J-T, Herlitz J, Tjelmeland IBM, et al. European Resuscitation Council Guidelines 2021: Epidemiology of cardiac arrest in Europe. *Resuscitation*. 2021;161:61-79.
- 13. Buxton AE. Risk stratification for sudden death: do we need anything more than ejection fraction? *Card Electrophysiol Rev.* 2003;7(4):434-437.
- 14. Pascale P, Schlaepfer J, Oddo M, Schaller MD, Vogt P, Fromer M. Ventricular arrhythmia in coronary artery disease: limits of a risk stratification strategy based on the ejection fraction alone and impact of infarct localization. *Europace*. 2009;11(12):1639-1646.
- 15. Huikuri HV, Castellanos A, Myerburg RJ. Sudden Death Due to Cardiac Arrhythmias. *N Engl J Med.* 2001;345(20):1473-1482.
- 16. Shen L, Jhund PS, Petrie MC, et al. Declining Risk of Sudden Death in Heart Failure. *N Engl J Med.* 2017;377(1):41-51.
- 17. Al-Khatib SM, Stevenson WG, Ackerman MJ, et al. 2017 AHA/ACC/HRS Guideline for Management of Patients With Ventricular Arrhythmias and the Prevention of Sudden

Cardiac Death: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2018;72(14):e91-e220.

- 18. Foth C GM, Ahmed I, et al. . Ventricular Tachycardia. In: StatPearls; 2023.
- Issa ZF, Miller JM, Zipes DP. Chapter 3 Electrophysiological Mechanisms of Cardiac Arrhythmias. In: Issa ZF, Miller JM, Zipes DP, eds. *Clinical Arrhythmology and Electrophysiology: A Companion to Braunwald's Heart Disease (Second Edition).* Philadelphia: W.B. Saunders; 2012:36-61.
- 20. Goyal A, Basit H, Bhyan P, Zeltser R. Reentry Arrhythmia. In: *StatPearls.* Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing Copyright © 2022, StatPearls Publishing LLC.; 2022.
- 21. Enriquez A, Frankel DS, Baranchuk A. Pathophysiology of ventricular tachyarrhythmias. *Herzschrittmachertherapie + Elektrophysiologie.* 2017;28(2):149-156.
- 22. January CT, Chau V, Makielski JC. Triggered activity in the heart: cellular mechanisms of early after-depolarizations. *Eur Heart J.* 1991;12 Suppl F:4-9.
- 23. Zipes DP. Mechanisms of Clinical Arrhythmias. *J Cardiovasc Electrophysiol.* 2003;14(8):902-912.
- 24. Antoons G, Sipido KR. Targeting calcium handling in arrhythmias. *EP Europace*. 2008;10(12):1364-1369.
- 25. Antzelevitch C, Burashnikov A. Overview of Basic Mechanisms of Cardiac Arrhythmia. *Card Electrophysiol Clin.* 2011;3(1):23-45.
- 26. Volders PGA, Vos MA, Szabo B, et al. Progress in the understanding of cardiac early afterdepolarizations and torsades de pointes: time to revise current concepts. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2000;46(3):376-392.
- 27. Santini L, Zocchi C, Olivotto I, Coppini R, Cerbai E. Early- and delayed-afterdepolarizations as cellular promoter of ventricular fibrillation in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2022;118(Supplement_1):cvac066.110.
- 28. Valderrábano M. Influence of anisotropic conduction properties in the propagation of the cardiac action potential. *Prog Biophys Mol Biol.* 2007;94(1):144-168.
- 29. Manfredini R, Portaluppi F, Grandi E, Fersini C, Gallerani M. Out-of-hospital sudden death referring to an emergency department. *J Clin Epidemiol.* 1996;49(8):865-868.
- 30. Deo R, Albert CM. Epidemiology and genetics of sudden cardiac death. *Circulation*. 2012;125(4):620-637.
- 31. Ghuran AV, Camm AJ. Ischaemic heart disease presenting as arrhythmias. *Br Med Bull.* 2001;59(1):193-210.
- 32. Pogwizd SM, Corr PB. Mechanisms underlying the development of ventricular fibrillation during early myocardial ischemia. *Circ Res.* 1990;66(3):672-695.
- 33. Coronel R, Fiolet JW, Wilms-Schopman JG, Opthof T, Schaapherder AF, Janse MJ. Distribution of extracellular potassium and electrophysiologic changes during two-stage coronary ligation in the isolated, perfused canine heart. *Circulation*. 1989;80(1):165-177.
- 34. Henderson RA, Uddin A. Ischaemic heart disease: management of non-ST elevation acute coronary syndrome. *Medicine*. 2022;50(7):424-430.
- 35. null n, Lawton Jennifer S, Tamis-Holland Jacqueline E, et al. 2021 ACC/AHA/SCAI Guideline for Coronary Artery Revascularization. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2022;79(2):e21-e129.

- 36. Myerburg RJ, Junttila MJ. Sudden Cardiac Death Caused by Coronary Heart Disease. *Circulation*. 2012;125(8):1043-1052.
- 37. Dumas F, Bougouin W, Geri G, et al. Emergency Percutaneous Coronary Intervention in Post–Cardiac Arrest Patients Without ST-Segment Elevation Pattern. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv*. 2016;9(10):1011-1018.
- 38. Every NR, Fahrenbruch CE, Hallstrom AP, Weaver WD, Cobb LA. Influence of coronary bypass surgery on subsequent outcome of patients resuscitated from out of hospital cardiac arrest. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 1992;19(7):1435-1439.
- 39. Geri G, Dumas F, Bougouin W, et al. Immediate Percutaneous Coronary Intervention Is Associated With Improved Short- and Long-Term Survival After Out-of-Hospital Cardiac Arrest. *Circ Cardiovasc Interv.* 2015;8(10):e002303.
- 40. Perera D, Morgan HP, Ryan M, et al. Arrhythmia and Death Following Percutaneous Revascularization in Ischemic Left Ventricular Dysfunction: Prespecified Analyses From the REVIVED-BCIS2 Trial. *Circulation*. 2023;148(11):862-871.
- 41. Elsokkari I, Parkash R, Gray CJ, et al. Effect of coronary revascularization on long-term clinical outcomes in patients with ischemic cardiomyopathy and recurrent ventricular arrhythmia. *Pacing Clin Electrophysiol.* 2018;41(7):775-779.
- 42. Stevenson WG. Ventricular scars and ventricular tachycardia. *Trans Am Clin Climatol Assoc.* 2009;120:403-412.
- 43. Mehta D, Curwin J, Gomes JA, Fuster V. Sudden Death in Coronary Artery Disease. *Circulation.* 1997;96(9):3215-3223.
- 44. Reiter M. Effects of mechano-electric feedback: Potential arrhythmogenic influence in patients with congestive heart failure. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1996;32:44-51.
- 45. Hansen C, Hondeghem. Stretch-induced arrhythmias in the isolated canine ventricle. Evidence for the importance of mechanoelectrical feedback. *Circulation*. 1990;81(3):1094-1105.
- 46. Franz MR, Cima R, Wang D, Profitt D, Kurz R. Electrophysiological effects of myocardial stretch and mechanical determinants of stretch-activated arrhythmias. *Circulation*. 1992;86(3):968-978.
- 47. Connolly SJ, Gent M, Roberts RS, et al. Canadian implantable defibrillator study (CIDS) : a randomized trial of the implantable cardioverter defibrillator against amiodarone. *Circulation*. 2000;101(11):1297-1302.
- 48. A comparison of antiarrhythmic-drug therapy with implantable defibrillators in patients resuscitated from near-fatal ventricular arrhythmias. *N Engl J Med.* 1997;337(22):1576-1583.
- 49. Kuck KH, Cappato R, Siebels J, Rüppel R. Randomized comparison of antiarrhythmic drug therapy with implantable defibrillators in patients resuscitated from cardiac arrest : the Cardiac Arrest Study Hamburg (CASH). *Circulation*. 2000;102(7):748-754.
- Connolly SJ, Hallstrom AP, Cappato R, et al. Meta-analysis of the implantable cardioverter defibrillator secondary prevention trials. AVID, CASH and CIDS studies. Antiarrhythmics vs Implantable Defibrillator study. Cardiac Arrest Study Hamburg . Canadian Implantable Defibrillator Study. *Eur Heart J.* 2000;21(24):2071-2078.

- 51. Moss AJ, Zareba W, Hall WJ, et al. Prophylactic implantation of a defibrillator in patients with myocardial infarction and reduced ejection fraction. *N Engl J Med.* 2002;346(12):877-883.
- 52. Bardy GH, Lee KL, Mark DB, et al. Amiodarone or an implantable cardioverterdefibrillator for congestive heart failure. *N Engl J Med.* 2005;352(3):225-237.
- 53. Koev I, Yarkoni M, Luria D, Amir O, Biton Y. Sudden cardiac death prevention in the era of novel heart failure medications. *American Heart Journal Plus: Cardiology Research and Practice.* 2023;27:100281.
- 54. Butler J, Talha KM, Aktas MK, Zareba W, Goldenberg I. Role of Implantable Cardioverter Defibrillator in Heart Failure With Contemporary Medical Therapy. *Circ Heart Fail.* 2022;15(8):e009634.
- 55. Deckers JW, Arshi B, van den Berge JC, Constantinescu AA. Preventive implantable cardioverter defibrillator therapy in contemporary clinical practice: need for more stringent selection criteria. *ESC Heart Failure.* 2021;8(5):3656-3662.
- 56. Køber L, Thune JJ, Nielsen JC, et al. Defibrillator Implantation in Patients with Nonischemic Systolic Heart Failure. *N Engl J Med.* 2016;375(13):1221-1230.
- 57. Kaplan Berkaya S, Uysal AK, Sora Gunal E, Ergin S, Gunal S, Gulmezoglu MB. A survey on ECG analysis. *Biomed Signal Process Control.* 2018;43:216-235.
- 58. Tse G. Mechanisms of cardiac arrhythmias. *Journal of Arrhythmia*. 2016;32(2):75-81.
- 59. Das MK, Maskoun W, Shen C, et al. Fragmented QRS on twelve-lead electrocardiogram predicts arrhythmic events in patients with ischemic and nonischemic cardiomyopathy. *Heart Rhythm.* 2010;7(1):74-80.
- 60. Das MK, Khan B, Jacob S, Kumar A, Mahenthiran J. Significance of a Fragmented QRS Complex Versus a Q Wave in Patients With Coronary Artery Disease. *Circulation*. 2006;113(21):2495-2501.
- 61. Cho HJ, Yoon JY, Kim N, et al. Predictive value of a fragmented QRS complex in diagnosing patients with myocardial ischemia. *Clin Cardiol.* 2019;42(3):379-384.
- 62. Das MK, Khan B, Jacob S, Kumar A, Mahenthiran J. Significance of a fragmented QRS complex versus a Q wave in patients with coronary artery disease. *Circulation*. 2006;113(21):2495-2501.
- 63. Das MK, Suradi H, Maskoun W, et al. Fragmented wide QRS on a 12-lead ECG: a sign of myocardial scar and poor prognosis. *Circ Arrhythm Electrophysiol.* 2008;1(4):258-268.
- 64. Dasgupta A, Wahed A. Chapter 8 Cardiac Markers. In: Dasgupta A, Wahed A, eds. *Clinical Chemistry, Immunology and Laboratory Quality Control.* San Diego: Elsevier; 2014:127-144.
- 65. Federico C. Natriuretic Peptide system and cardiovascular disease. *Heart Views*. 2010;11(1):10-15.
- 66. Omland T, Hall C. N-Terminal pro-B-Type Natriuretic Peptide. In: Wu AHB, ed. *Cardiac Markers.* Totowa, NJ: Humana Press; 2003:411-424.
- 67. Omland T, Hagve T-A. Natriuretic Peptides: Physiologic and Analytic Considerations. *Heart Fail Clin.* 2009;5(4):471-487.
- 68. Hystad ME, Geiran OR, Attramadal H, et al. Regional cardiac expression and concentration of natriuretic peptides in patients with severe chronic heart failure. *Acta Physiol Scand.* 2001;171(4):395-403.

- 69. Luchner A, Stevens TL, Borgeson DD, et al. Differential atrial and ventricular expression of myocardial BNP during evolution of heart failure. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology*. 1998;274(5):H1684-H1689.
- 70. Maisel AS, Krishnaswamy P, Nowak RM, et al. Rapid Measurement of B-Type Natriuretic Peptide in the Emergency Diagnosis of Heart Failure. *N Engl J Med.* 2002;347(3):161-167.
- 71. Januzzi JL, Jr., Camargo CA, Anwaruddin S, et al. The N-terminal Pro-BNP investigation of dyspnea in the emergency department (PRIDE) study. *Am J Cardiol.* 2005;95(8):948-954.
- 72. Omland T, Aakvaag A, Bonarjee VV, et al. Plasma brain natriuretic peptide as an indicator of left ventricular systolic function and long-term survival after acute myocardial infarction. Comparison with plasma atrial natriuretic peptide and N-terminal proatrial natriuretic peptide. *Circulation*. 1996;93(11):1963-1969.
- 73. Wang TJ, Larson MG, Levy D, et al. Plasma natriuretic peptide levels and the risk of cardiovascular events and death. *N Engl J Med.* 2004;350(7):655-663.
- 74. Omland T, Sabatine MS, Jablonski KA, et al. Prognostic value of B-Type natriuretic peptides in patients with stable coronary artery disease: the PEACE Trial. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2007;50(3):205-214.
- 75. Clerico A, Fontana M, Zyw L, Passino C, Emdin M. Comparison of the Diagnostic Accuracy of Brain Natriuretic Peptide (BNP) and the N-Terminal Part of the Propeptide of BNP Immunoassays in Chronic and Acute Heart Failure: A Systematic Review. *Clin Chem.* 2007;53(5):813-822.
- 76. McDonagh TA, Metra M, Adamo M, et al. 2021 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: Developed by the Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) With the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. *Eur Heart J.* 2021;42(36):3599-3726.
- 77. Kuwahara K. The natriuretic peptide system in heart failure: Diagnostic and therapeutic implications. *Pharmacol Ther.* 2021;227:107863.
- 78. Hartupee J, Mann DL. Neurohormonal activation in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*. 2017;14(1):30-38.
- 79. Heidenreich PA, Bozkurt B, Aguilar D, et al. 2022 AHA/ACC/HFSA Guideline for the Management of Heart Failure: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Joint Committee on Clinical Practice Guidelines. *Circulation*. 2022;145(18):e895-e1032.
- 80. Bozkurt B, Coats AJS, Tsutsui H, et al. Universal definition and classification of heart failure: a report of the Heart Failure Society of America, Heart Failure Association of the European Society of Cardiology, Japanese Heart Failure Society and Writing Committee of the Universal Definition of Heart Failure. *Eur J Heart Fail*. 2021;23(3):352-380.
- 81. van Veldhuisen Dirk J, Linssen Gerard CM, Jaarsma T, et al. B-Type Natriuretic Peptide and Prognosis in Heart Failure Patients With Preserved and Reduced Ejection Fraction. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2013;61(14):1498-1506.
- 82. Meijers WC, van der Velde AR, de Boer RA. Biomarkers in heart failure with preserved ejection fraction. *Neth Heart J.* 2016;24(4):252-258.
- 83. Wang TJ, Larson MG, Levy D, et al. Plasma Natriuretic Peptide Levels and the Risk of Cardiovascular Events and Death. *N Engl J Med.* 2004;350(7):655-663.

- 84. deFilippi CR, Christenson RH, Gottdiener JS, Kop WJ, Seliger SL. Dynamic Cardiovascular Risk Assessment in Elderly People: The Role of Repeated N-Terminal Pro–B-Type Natriuretic Peptide Testing. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2010;55(5):441-450.
- 85. Patton KK, Sotoodehnia N, DeFilippi C, Siscovick DS, Gottdiener JS, Kronmal RA. Nterminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide is associated with sudden cardiac death risk: the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Heart Rhythm.* 2011;8(2):228-233.
- Scott PA, Barry J, Roberts PR, Morgan JM. Brain natriuretic peptide for the prediction of sudden cardiac death and ventricular arrhythmias: a meta-analysis. *Eur J Heart Fail.* 2009;11(10):958-966.
- 87. Verma A, Kilicaslan F, Martin DO, et al. Preimplantation B-type natriuretic peptide concentration is an independent predictor of future appropriate implantable defibrillator therapies. *Heart.* 2006;92(2):190.
- 88. Chong-Yik R, Thihalolipavan S, Krauthammer YS, et al. P6394Time-varying circulating biomarkers predict ventricular tachyarrhythmia and death: the LIFEMARKER-VT study. *Eur Heart J.* 2017;38(suppl_1):ehx493.P6394.
- 89. Manios EG, Kallergis EM, Kanoupakis EM, et al. Amino-Terminal Pro-Brain Natriuretic Peptide Predicts Ventricular Arrhythmogenesis in Patients With Ischemic Cardiomyopathy and Implantable Cardioverter-Defibrillators. *Chest.* 2005;128(4):2604-2610.
- 90. Klein G, Lissel C, Fuchs A-C, et al. Predictors of VT/VF-occurrence in ICD patients: results from the PROFIT-Study. *EP Europace*. 2006;8(8):618-624.
- 91. Berger R, Huelsman M, Strecker K, et al. B-Type Natriuretic Peptide Predicts Sudden Death in Patients With Chronic Heart Failure. *Circulation*. 2002;105(20):2392-2397.
- 92. Klingenberg R, Zugck C, Becker R, et al. Raised B-type natriuretic peptide predicts implantable cardioverter-defibrillator therapy in patients with ischaemic cardiomyopathy. *Heart.* 2006;92(9):1323-1324.
- 93. Marston SB, Redwood CS. Modulation of Thin Filament Activation by Breakdown or Isoform Switching of Thin Filament Proteins. *Circ Res.* 2003;93(12):1170-1178.
- 94. Collinson PO, Boa FG, Gaze DC. Measurement of cardiac troponins. *Ann Clin Biochem.* 2001;38(Pt 5):423-449.
- 95. Tobacman LS. Thin Filament-Mediated Regulation of Cardiac Contraction. *Annu Rev Physiol.* 1996;58(1):447-481.
- 96. Gaze DC, Collinson PO. Multiple molecular forms of circulating cardiac troponin: analytical and clinical significance. *Ann Clin Biochem.* 2008;45(4):349-355.
- 97. Chaulin AM. Cardiac Troponins Metabolism: From Biochemical Mechanisms to Clinical Practice (Literature Review). *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021;22(20).
- 98. Sharma S, Jackson PG, Makan J. Cardiac troponins. *J Clin Pathol.* 2004;57(10):1025-1026.
- 99. Apple FS. A New Season for Cardiac Troponin Assays: It's Time to Keep a Scorecard. *Clin Chem.* 2009;55(7):1303-1306.
- 100. Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, et al. Fourth Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction (2018). *Circulation*. 2018;138(20):e618-e651.
- 101. Mueller C. Biomarkers and acute coronary syndromes: an update. *Eur Heart J.* 2014;35(9):552-556.

- 102. Reichlin T, Twerenbold R, Reiter M, et al. Introduction of high-sensitivity troponin assays: impact on myocardial infarction incidence and prognosis. *Am J Med.* 2012;125(12):1205-1213.e1201.
- 103. Omland T, de Lemos JA, Sabatine MS, et al. A sensitive cardiac troponin T assay in stable coronary artery disease. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;361(26):2538-2547.
- 104. Røsjø H, Andreassen J, Edvardsen T, Omland T. Prognostic usefulness of circulating highsensitivity troponin T in aortic stenosis and relation to echocardiographic indexes of cardiac function and anatomy. *Am J Cardiol.* 2011;108(1):88-91.
- 105. Røsjø H, Varpula M, Hagve TA, et al. Circulating high sensitivity troponin T in severe sepsis and septic shock: distribution, associated factors, and relation to outcome. *Intensive Care Med.* 2011;37(1):77-85.
- 106. Høiseth AD, Neukamm A, Karlsson BD, Omland T, Brekke PH, Søyseth V. Elevated highsensitivity cardiac troponin T is associated with increased mortality after acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax.* 2011;66(9):775-781.
- 107. Lankeit M, Friesen D, Aschoff J, et al. Highly sensitive troponin T assay in normotensive patients with acute pulmonary embolism. *Eur Heart J.* 2010;31(15):1836-1844.
- 108. de Lemos JA, Drazner MH, Omland T, et al. Association of troponin T detected with a highly sensitive assay and cardiac structure and mortality risk in the general population. *JAMA*. 2010;304(22):2503-2512.
- 109. Taggart C, Wereski R, Mills NL, Chapman AR. Diagnosis, Investigation and Management of Patients with Acute and Chronic Myocardial Injury. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*. 2021;10(11).
- 110. Januzzi JL, Jr., Filippatos G, Nieminen M, Gheorghiade M. Troponin elevation in patients with heart failure: on behalf of the third Universal Definition of Myocardial Infarction Global Task Force: Heart Failure Section. *Eur Heart J.* 2012;33(18):2265-2271.
- Latini R, Masson S, Anand IS, et al. Prognostic Value of Very Low Plasma Concentrations of Troponin T in Patients With Stable Chronic Heart Failure. *Circulation*. 2007;116(11):1242-1249.
- 112. Omland T, de Lemos JA, Sabatine MS, et al. A Sensitive Cardiac Troponin T Assay in Stable Coronary Artery Disease. *N Engl J Med.* 2009;361(26):2538-2547.
- 113. Vijaiganesh N, Adrian VH, Tang WHW. Prognostic value of cardiac troponin in chronic stable heart failure: a systematic review. *Heart.* 2012;98(24):1778.
- 114. Filusch A, Giannitsis E, Katus HA, Meyer FJ. High-sensitive troponin T: a novel biomarker for prognosis and disease severity in patients with pulmonary arterial hypertension. *Clin Sci (Lond).* 2010;119(5):207-213.
- 115. Michos ED, Wilson LM, Yeh H-C, et al. Prognostic Value of Cardiac Troponin in Patients With Chronic Kidney Disease Without Suspected Acute Coronary Syndrome. *Ann Intern Med.* 2014;161(7):491-501.
- 116. Seliger SL, Hong SN, Christenson RH, et al. High-Sensitive Cardiac Troponin T as an Early Biochemical Signature for Clinical and Subclinical Heart Failure: MESA (Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis). *Circulation*. 2017;135(16):1494-1505.
- 117. Alfaddagh A, Martin SS, Leucker TM, et al. Inflammation and cardiovascular disease: From mechanisms to therapeutics. *Am J Prev Cardiol*. 2020;4:100130.

- 118. Reina-Couto M, Pereira-Terra P, Quelhas-Santos J, Silva-Pereira C, Albino-Teixeira A, Sousa T. Inflammation in Human Heart Failure: Major Mediators and Therapeutic Targets. *Front Physiol.* 2021;12.
- 119. Adamo L, Rocha-Resende C, Prabhu SD, Mann DL. Reappraising the role of inflammation in heart failure. *Nature Reviews Cardiology*. 2020;17(5):269-285.
- 120. Kempf T, Horn-Wichmann Rd, Brabant G, et al. Circulating Concentrations of Growth-Differentiation Factor 15 in Apparently Healthy Elderly Individuals and Patients with Chronic Heart Failure as Assessed by a New Immunoradiometric Sandwich Assay. *Clin Chem.* 2007;53(2):284-291.
- 121. Hudzik B, Szkodzinski J, Romanowski W, et al. Serum interleukin-6 concentration reflects the extent of asymptomatic left ventricular dysfunction and predicts progression to heart failure in patients with stable coronary artery disease. *Cytokine*. 2011;54(3):266-271.
- 122. Luo F, Feng C, Zhuo C. C-Reactive Protein and All-Cause Mortality in Patients with Stable Coronary Artery Disease: A Secondary Analysis Based on a Retrospective Cohort Study. *Med Sci Monit.* 2019;25:9820-9828.
- 123. Luo J-W, Duan W-H, Song L, Yu Y-Q, Shi D-Z. A Meta-Analysis of Growth Differentiation Factor-15 and Prognosis in Chronic Heart Failure. *Frontiers in Cardiovascular Medicine*. 2021;8.
- 124. Assadi A, Zahabi A, Hart RA. GDF15, an update of the physiological and pathological roles it plays: a review. *Pflugers Arch.* 2020;472(11):1535-1546.
- 125. Xu X, Zheng L, Yuan Q, et al. Transforming growth factor-β in stem cells and tissue homeostasis. *Bone Res.* 2018;6:2.
- 126. Kempf T, Zarbock A, Widera C, et al. GDF-15 is an inhibitor of leukocyte integrin activation required for survival after myocardial infarction in mice. *Nat Med.* 2011;17(5):581-588.
- 127. Kempf T, Sinning JM, Quint A, et al. Growth-differentiation factor-15 for risk stratification in patients with stable and unstable coronary heart disease: results from the AtheroGene study. *Circ Cardiovasc Genet.* 2009;2(3):286-292.
- 128. Anand IS, Kempf T, Rector TS, et al. Serial measurement of growth-differentiation factor-15 in heart failure: relation to disease severity and prognosis in the Valsartan Heart Failure Trial. *Circulation*. 2010;122(14):1387-1395.
- 129. Wollert KC, Kempf T. Growth differentiation factor 15 in heart failure: an update. *Curr Heart Fail Rep.* 2012;9(4):337-345.
- 130. Wang TJ, Wollert KC, Larson MG, et al. Prognostic utility of novel biomarkers of cardiovascular stress: the Framingham Heart Study. *Circulation*. 2012;126(13):1596-1604.
- 131. Rohatgi A, Patel P, Das SR, et al. Association of Growth Differentiation Factor-15 with Coronary Atherosclerosis and Mortality in a Young, Multiethnic Population: Observations from the Dallas Heart Study. *Clin Chem.* 2012;58(1):172-182.
- 132. Luo JW, Duan WH, Song L, Yu YQ, Shi DZ. A Meta-Analysis of Growth Differentiation Factor-15 and Prognosis in Chronic Heart Failure. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* 2021;8:630818.
- 133. Tanaka T, Narazaki M, Kishimoto T. IL-6 in inflammation, immunity, and disease. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* 2014;6(10):a016295.

- 134. Didion SP. Cellular and Oxidative Mechanisms Associated with Interleukin-6 Signaling in the Vasculature. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2017;18(12).
- 135. Heinrich PC, Castell JV, Andus T. Interleukin-6 and the acute phase response. *Biochem J.* 1990;265(3):621-636.
- 136. Eklund CM. Chapter 5 Proinflammatory cytokines in CRP baseline regulation. In: *Advances in Clinical Chemistry.* Vol 48. Elsevier; 2009:111-136.
- 137. Pepys MB, Hirschfield GM. C-reactive protein: a critical update. *The Journal of Clinical Investigation*. 2003;111(12):1805-1812.
- 138. Wirtz DC, Heller KD, Miltner O, Zilkens KW, Wolff JM. Interleukin-6: a potential inflammatory marker after total joint replacement. *Int Orthop.* 2000;24(4):194-196.
- 139. Del Giudice M, Gangestad SW. Rethinking IL-6 and CRP: Why they are more than inflammatory biomarkers, and why it matters. *Brain Behav Immun.* 2018;70:61-75.
- 140. Suzuki H, Sato R, Sato T, et al. Time-course of changes in the levels of interleukin 6 in acutely decompensated heart failure. *Int J Cardiol.* 2005;100(3):415-420.
- 141. Markousis-Mavrogenis G, Tromp J, Ouwerkerk W, et al. The clinical significance of interleukin-6 in heart failure: results from the BIOSTAT-CHF study. *Eur J Heart Fail.* 2019;21(8):965-973.
- 142. Anand IS, Latini R, Florea VG, et al. C-reactive protein in heart failure: prognostic value and the effect of valsartan. *Circulation*. 2005;112(10):1428-1434.
- 143. Nagai T, Anzai T, Kaneko H, et al. C-Reactive Protein Overexpression Exacerbates Pressure Overload–Induced Cardiac Remodeling Through Enhanced Inflammatory Response. *Hypertension*. 2011;57(2):208-215.
- 144. Zamani P, Schwartz GG, Olsson AG, et al. Inflammatory biomarkers, death, and recurrent nonfatal coronary events after an acute coronary syndrome in the MIRACL study. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2013;2(1):e003103.
- 145. Paul A, Ko KWS, Li L, et al. C-Reactive Protein Accelerates the Progression of Atherosclerosis in Apolipoprotein E–Deficient Mice. *Circulation.* 2004;109(5):647-655.
- 146. Su J-H, Luo M-Y, Liang N, et al. Interleukin-6: A Novel Target for Cardio-Cerebrovascular Diseases. *Front Pharmacol.* 2021;12.
- 147. Verhagen SN, Wassink AMJ, van der Graaf Y, Visseren FLJ, Group SS. C-reactive protein and incident diabetes in patients with arterial disease. *Eur J Clin Invest.* 2013;43(10):1052-1059.
- 148. Abeywardena YM, Leifert RW, Warnes EK, Varghese NJ, Head JR. Cardiovascular Biology of Interleukin-6. *Curr Pharm Des.* 2009;15(15):1809-1821.
- 149. Il'yasova D, Ivanova A, Morrow JD, Cesari M, Pahor M. Correlation between two markers of inflammation, serum C-reactive protein and interleukin 6, and indices of oxidative stress in patients with high risk of cardiovascular disease. *Biomarkers*. 2008;13(1):41-51.
- 150. Held C, White HD, Stewart RAH, et al. Inflammatory Biomarkers Interleukin-6 and C-Reactive Protein and Outcomes in Stable Coronary Heart Disease: Experiences From the STABILITY (Stabilization of Atherosclerotic Plaque by Initiation of Darapladib Therapy) Trial. Journal of the American Heart Association.6(10):e005077.
- 151. Chen S-L, Liu YAN, Lin L, et al. Interleukin-6, but Not C-Reactive Protein, Predicts the Occurrence of Cardiovascular Events after Drug-Eluting Stent for Unstable Angina. *J Interv Cardiol.* 2014;27(2):142-154.

- 152. Ziad H, Julia A, Ulrika A, et al. Biomarkers of inflammation and risk of cardiovascular events in anticoagulated patients with atrial fibrillation. *Heart.* 2016;102(7):508.
- 153. Demissei BG, Valente MAE, Cleland JG, et al. Optimizing clinical use of biomarkers in high-risk acute heart failure patients. *Eur J Heart Fail.* 2016;18(3):269-280.
- 154. Picod A, Morisson L, de Roquetaillade C, et al. Systemic Inflammation Evaluated by Interleukin-6 or C-Reactive Protein in Critically III Patients: Results From the FROG-ICU Study. *Front Immunol.* 2022;13.
- 155. Rosenthal TM, Masvidal D, Abi Samra FM, et al. Optimal method of measuring the Tpeak to T-end interval for risk stratification in primary prevention. *EP Europace*. 2018;20(4):698-705.
- 156. Ratheendran AC, Subramanian M, Bhanu DK, et al. Fragmented QRS on electrocardiography as a predictor of myocardial scar in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Acta Cardiol.* 2020;75(1):42-46.
- 157. Espeland T, Lunde I, Amundsen B, Gullestad L, Aakhus S. Myocardial fibrosis. *Tidsskrift* for Den norske legeforening. 2018;138.
- 158. Hinderer S, Schenke-Layland K. Cardiac fibrosis A short review of causes and therapeutic strategies. *Advanced Drug Delivery Reviews*. 2019;146:77-82.
- 159. de Jong S, van Veen TAB, van Rijen HVM, de Bakker JMT. Fibrosis and Cardiac Arrhythmias. *J Cardiovasc Pharmacol.* 2011;57(6).
- Bokma JP, Winter MM, Vehmeijer JT, et al. QRS fragmentation is superior to QRS duration in predicting mortality in adults with tetralogy of Fallot. *Heart.* 2017;103(9):666-671.
- Morita H, Kusano KF, Miura D, et al. Fragmented QRS as a marker of conduction abnormality and a predictor of prognosis of Brugada syndrome. *Circulation*. 2008;118(17):1697-1704.
- 162. Ozcan F, Turak O, Canpolat U, et al. Fragmented QRS predicts the arrhythmic events in patients with heart failure undergoing ICD implantation for primary prophylaxis: more fragments more appropriate ICD shocks. *Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol.* 2014;19(4):351-357.
- 163. Kucharz A, Kułakowski P. Fragmented QRS and arrhythmic events in patients with implantable cardioverter-defibrillators. *Kardiol Pol.* 2020;78(11):1107-1114.
- Gardner PI, Ursell PC, Fenoglio JJ, Wit AL. Electrophysiologic and anatomic basis for fractionated electrograms recorded from healed myocardial infarcts. *Circulation*. 1985;72(3):596-611.
- 165. Boineau JP, Cox JL. Slow Ventricular Activation in Acute Myocardial Infarction. *Circulation.* 1973;48(4):702-713.
- 166. Packer M. Nonarrhythmic Sudden Cardiac Death in Chronic Heart Failure—A Preventable Event? *JAMA Cardiology*. 2019;4(8):721-722.
- 167. Hayashi M, Shimizu W, Albert CM. The spectrum of epidemiology underlying sudden cardiac death. *Circ Res.* 2015;116(12):1887-1906.
- 168. Packer M. What causes sudden death in patients with chronic heart failure and a reduced ejection fraction? *Eur Heart J.* 2020;41(18):1757-1763.

- 169. Pfeiffer ER, Tangney JR, Omens JH, McCulloch AD. Biomechanics of cardiac electromechanical coupling and mechanoelectric feedback. *J Biomech Eng.* 2014;136(2):021007.
- 170. Hussein AA, Gottdiener JS, Bartz TM, et al. Cardiomyocyte Injury Assessed by a Highly Sensitive Troponin Assay and Sudden Cardiac Death in the Community: The Cardiovascular Health Study. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2013;62(22):2112-2120.
- 171. Everett BM, Moorthy MV, Tikkanen JT, Cook NR, Albert CM. Markers of Myocardial Stress, Myocardial Injury, and Subclinical Inflammation and the Risk of Sudden Death. *Circulation*. 2020;142(12):1148-1158.
- 172. Myhre PL, O'Meara E, Claggett BL, et al. Cardiac Troponin I and Risk of Cardiac Events in Patients With Heart Failure and Preserved Ejection Fraction. *Circ Heart Fail.* 2018;11(11):e005312.
- 173. Krause BJ, Poeppel TD, Reinhardt M, et al. Myocardial perfusion/metabolism mismatch and ventricular arrhythmias in the chronic post infarction state. *Nuklearmedizin*. 2005;44(3):69-75.
- 174. Peacock WF, De Marco T, Fonarow GC, et al. Cardiac Troponin and Outcome in Acute Heart Failure. *N Engl J Med.* 2008;358(20):2117-2126.
- 175. Pascual-Figal DA, Manzano-Fernández S, Pastor F, et al. Troponin-T Monitoring in Outpatients With Nonischemic Heart Failure. *Revista Española de Cardiología (English Edition)*. 2008;61(7):678-686.
- 176. Moreno V, Hernández-Romero D, Vilchez JA, et al. Serum Levels of High-Sensitivity Troponin T: A Novel Marker for Cardiac Remodeling in Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy. *J Card Fail.* 2010;16(12):950-956.
- 177. Kawahara C, Tsutamoto T, Nishiyama K, et al. Prognostic role of high-sensitivity cardiac troponin T in patients with nonischemic dilated cardiomyopathy. *Circ J.* 2011;75(3):656-661.
- 178. Cramer G, Bakker J, Gommans F, et al. Relation of highly sensitive cardiac troponin T in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy to left ventricular mass and cardiovascular risk. *Am J Cardiol.* 2014;113(7):1240-1245.
- 179. Takashio S, Yamamuro M, Uemura T, et al. Correlation between extent of myocardial fibrosis assessed by cardiac magnetic resonance and cardiac troponin T release in patients with nonischemic heart failure. *Am J Cardiol.* 2014;113(10):1697-1704.
- 180. Levy D, Anderson KM, Savage DD, Balkus SA, Kannel WB, Castelli WP. Risk of ventricular arrhythmias in left ventricular hypertrophy: The Framingham Heart Study. *The American Journal of Cardiology*. 1987;60(7):560-565.
- 181. Myhre PL, Claggett B, Ballantyne CM, et al. Association Between Circulating Troponin Concentrations, Left Ventricular Systolic and Diastolic Functions, and Incident Heart Failure in Older Adults. *JAMA Cardiol.* 2019;4(10):997-1006.
- 182. Shah KS, Maisel AS, Fonarow GC. Troponin in Heart Failure. *Heart Fail Clin.* 2018;14(1):57-64.
- 183. Logeart D, Beyne P, Cusson C, et al. Evidence of cardiac myolysis in severe nonischemic heart failure and the potential role of increased wall strain. *Am Heart J.* 2001;141(2):247-253.

- 184. Horwich TB, Patel J, MacLellan WR, Fonarow GC. Cardiac troponin I is associated with impaired hemodynamics, progressive left ventricular dysfunction, and increased mortality rates in advanced heart failure. *Circulation.* 2003;108(7):833-838.
- 185. Batra G, Lindbäck J, Becker RC, et al. Biomarker-Based Prediction of Recurrent Ischemic Events in Patients With Acute Coronary Syndromes. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2022;80(18):1735-1747.
- 186. Xu J, Kimball TR, Lorenz JN, et al. GDF15/MIC-1 Functions As a Protective and Antihypertrophic Factor Released From the Myocardium in Association With SMAD Protein Activation. *Circ Res.* 2006;98(3):342-350.
- 187. Dai RP, Dheen ST, He BP, Tay SSW. Differential expression of cytokines in the rat heart in response to sustained volume overload. *Eur J Heart Fail.* 2004;6(6):693-703.
- 188. Gwechenberger M, Mendoza LH, Youker KA, et al. Cardiac Myocytes Produce Interleukin-6 in Culture and in Viable Border Zone of Reperfused Infarctions. *Circulation*. 1999;99(4):546-551.
- 189. Wiklund FE, Bennet AM, Magnusson PK, et al. Macrophage inhibitory cytokine-1 (MIC-1/GDF15): a new marker of all-cause mortality. *Aging Cell.* 2010;9(6):1057-1064.
- 190. Tavenier J, Rasmussen LJH, Andersen AL, et al. Association of GDF15 With Inflammation and Physical Function During Aging and Recovery After Acute Hospitalization: A Longitudinal Study of Older Patients and Age-Matched Controls. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2021;76(6):964-974.
- 191. Lu H, Guo Z, Hu X, Wu M, Zhou M, Zhou Z. [The prospective study of association between C-reactive protein and hypertension in community population]. *Zhonghua yu fang yi xue za zhi [Chinese journal of preventive medicine]*. 2013;47(11):1026-1030.
- 192. Koenig W. High-sensitivity C-reactive protein and atherosclerotic disease: From improved risk prediction to risk-guided therapy. *Int J Cardiol.* 2013;168(6):5126-5134.
- 193. Baek SJ, Eling T. Growth differentiation factor 15 (GDF15): A survival protein with therapeutic potential in metabolic diseases. *Pharmacol Ther.* 2019;198:46-58.
- 194. Aravani D, Foote K, Figg N, et al. Cytokine regulation of apoptosis-induced apoptosis and apoptosis-induced cell proliferation in vascular smooth muscle cells. *Apoptosis.* 2020;25(9-10):648-662.
- 195. Wassmann S, Stumpf M, Strehlow K, et al. Interleukin-6 induces oxidative stress and endothelial dysfunction by overexpression of the angiotensin II type 1 receptor. *Circ Res.* 2004;94(4):534-541.
- 196. Kempf T, von Haehling S, Peter T, et al. Prognostic utility of growth differentiation factor-15 in patients with chronic heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2007;50(11):1054-1060.
- 197. Binder MS, Yanek LR, Yang W, et al. Growth Differentiation Factor-15 Predicts Mortality and Heart Failure Exacerbation But Not Ventricular Arrhythmias in Patients With Cardiomyopathy. *Journal of the American Heart Association*.0(0):e8023.
- 198. Andersson J, Fall T, Delicano R, Wennberg P, Jansson JH. GDF-15 is associated with sudden cardiac death due to incident myocardial infarction. *Resuscitation*. 2020;152:165-169.
- 199. Streitner F, Kuschyk J, Veltmann C, et al. Prospective study of interleukin-6 and the risk of malignant ventricular tachyarrhythmia in ICD-recipients—A pilot study. *Cytokine*. 2007;40(1):30-34.

- 200. Stojkovic S, Kaider A, Koller L, et al. GDF-15 is a better complimentary marker for risk stratification of arrhythmic death in non-ischaemic, dilated cardiomyopathy than soluble ST2. *J Cell Mol Med*. 2018;22(4):2422-2429.
- 201. deFilippi CR, Tran H, Gattani R, et al. Association of cardiac troponin T and growth differentiation factor 15 with replacement and interstitial cardiac fibrosis in community dwelling adults: The multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* 2023;10:1104715.
- 202. Sokoll LJ, Baum H, Collinson PO, et al. Multicenter analytical performance evaluation of the Elecsys[®] proBNP assay. 2004;42(8):965-972.
- 203. Yeo K-TJ, Wu AHB, Apple FS, et al. Multicenter evaluation of the Roche NT-proBNP assay and comparison to the Biosite Triage BNP assay. *Clin Chim Acta*. 2003;338(1):107-115.
- 204. Nowatzke WL, Cole TG. Stability of N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide after storage frozen for one year and after multiple freeze-thaw cycles. *Clin Chem.* 2003;49:1560+.
- 205. Egger M, Dieplinger B, Mueller T. One-year in vitro stability of cardiac troponins and galectin-3 in different sample types. *Clin Chim Acta*. 2018;476:117-122.
- 206. Agarwal SK, Avery CL, Ballantyne CM, et al. Sources of variability in measurements of cardiac troponin T in a community-based sample: the atherosclerosis risk in communities study. *Clin Chem.* 2011;57(6):891-897.
- 207. Brindle E, Fujita M, Shofer J, O'Connor KA. Serum, plasma, and dried blood spot highsensitivity C-reactive protein enzyme immunoassay for population research. *J Immunol Methods.* 2010;362(1):112-120.
- 208. de Jager W, Bourcier K, Rijkers GT, Prakken BJ, Seyfert-Margolis V. Prerequisites for cytokine measurements in clinical trials with multiplex immunoassays. *BMC Immunol.* 2009;10:52.
- 209. Sarvari SI, Haugaa KH, Anfinsen O-G, et al. Right ventricular mechanical dispersion is related to malignant arrhythmias: a study of patients with arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy and subclinical right ventricular dysfunction. *Eur Heart J.* 2011;32(9):1089-1096.
- 210. Haugaa KH, Edvardsen T, Leren TP, Gran JM, Smiseth OA, Amlie JP. Left ventricular mechanical dispersion by tissue Doppler imaging: a novel approach for identifying high-risk individuals with long QT syndrome. *Eur Heart J.* 2009;30(3):330-337.
- 211. Haugaa KH, Smedsrud MK, Steen T, et al. Mechanical dispersion assessed by myocardial strain in patients after myocardial infarction for risk prediction of ventricular arrhythmia. *JACC Cardiovasc Imaging*. 2010;3(3):247-256.
- 212. Everitt BS, Skrondal A. The Cambridge dictionary of statistics. 2010.
- 213. Adabag AS, Luepker RV, Roger VL, Gersh BJ. Sudden cardiac death: epidemiology and risk factors. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* 2010;7(4):216-225.
- 214. Aune D, Schlesinger S, Norat T, Riboli E. Body mass index, abdominal fatness, and the risk of sudden cardiac death: a systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Eur J Epidemiol.* 2018;33(8):711-722.
- 215. Pun PH, Smarz TR, Honeycutt EF, Shaw LK, Al-Khatib SM, Middleton JP. Chronic kidney disease is associated with increased risk of sudden cardiac death among patients with coronary artery disease. *Kidney Int.* 2009;76(6):652-658.

- 216. Madamanchi C, Alhosaini H, Sumida A, Runge MS. Obesity and natriuretic peptides, BNP and NT-proBNP: mechanisms and diagnostic implications for heart failure. *Int J Cardiol.* 2014;176(3):611-617.
- 217. Schisterman EF, Cole SR, Platt RW. Overadjustment bias and unnecessary adjustment in epidemiologic studies. *Epidemiology.* 2009;20(4):488-495.
- Kerr KF, Wang Z, Janes H, McClelland RL, Psaty BM, Pepe MS. Net reclassification indices for evaluating risk prediction instruments: a critical review. *Epidemiology*. 2014;25(1):114-121.

11. Articles I-III

Paper I

DOI: 10.1111/anec.12985

ORIGINAL ARTICLE

WILEY

QRS fragmentation is associated with increased risk of ventricular arrhythmias in high-risk patients; Data from the SMASH 1 Study

Nur Sourour MD^{1,2} | Egil Riveland MD^{3,4} | Terje Rømo MD³ | Patrycja Næsgaard MD, PhD³ | Harald Kjekshus MD, PhD¹ | Alf Inge Larsen MD, PhD^{3,4} | Torbjørn Omland MD, PhD, MPH^{1,2} | Helge Røsjø MD, PhD^{2,5} | Peder Langeland Myhre MD, PhD^{1,2}

¹Department of Cardiology, Division of Medicine, Akershus University Hospital, Lørenskog, Norway

²Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway

³Department of Cardiology, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, Norway

⁴Institute of Clinical Sciences, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

⁵Division for Research and Innovation, Akershus University Hospital, Lørenskog, Norway

Correspondence

Peder Langeland. Myhre, MD, PhD, Department of Cardiology, Akershus University Hospital, Sykehusveien 27, 1478 Lørenskog, Norway. Email: p.l.myhre@medisin.uio.no

Funding information

Western Norway Regional Health Authority; South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority

Abstract

Introduction: QRS fragmentation (fQRS), defined as the presence of additional spikes within the QRS complex, has been associated with myocardial conduction abnormalities and arrhythmogenicity.

Objective: We aimed to assess whether fQRS is associated with incident ventricular arrhythmias (VA) in high-risk patients treated with implantable cardioverterdefibrillator (ICD) for primary and secondary prevention.

Methods: In a prospective observational multicenter study, we included 495 patients treated with ICD. fQRS was analyzed according to previously validated criteria, by two physicians blinded for outcome data. Incident VA were obtained from ICD recordings. Results: ECG recordings interpretable for fQRS were available in 459 patients (93%), aged 66 ± 12 years with left ventricular ejection fraction $40\% \pm 13\%$. fQRS was present in 52 patients (11%) with comparable baseline characteristics to patients without fQRS, except higher age, higher prevalence of coronary artery disease (CAD), lower prevalence of cardiomyopathy, and more frequently a secondary prevention ICD indication. Among patients with native QRS, those with fQRS had similar QRS duration and axis to those without fQRS. During 3.1 ± 0.7 years follow-up, 126 patients (28%) had ≥1 VA . fQRS was associated with increased risk of VA (HR 3.41 [95% CI 2.27-5.13], p < .001), which persisted after adjusting for age, gender, sex, BMI, CAD, heart failure, renal function, ICD indication, QRS duration, QRS axis, Q waves, and bundle branch block. fQRS was more strongly associated with VA in patients with a primary (HR 6.05 [95% CI 3.16-11.60]) versus secondary (HR 2.39 [95% CI 1.41-4.04]) ICD indication (p-for-interaction = .047).

Conclusions: fQRS is associated with threefold increased risk of VA in high-risk patients, independent of established risk factors.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, the use is non-commercial and no modifications or adaptations are made. © 2022 The Authors. Annals of Noninvasive Electrocardiology published by Wiley Periodicals LLC.

1542474x, 2022, 5, Downloaded

from https

//onlinelibrary

wiley.com/doi/10.11111/anec.12985 by Norwegian Institute Of Public Health, Wiley Online Library on

[18/10/2023]. See the Terms

and Conditions

(https

//onlinelibrary.wiley

) on Wiley

Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons

KEYWORDS

cardiac arrest, implantable cardioverter-defibrillator, QRS fragmentation, risk prediction, ventricular arrhythmia

Study Registration

SMASH 1 Study; ClinicalTrails.gov Identifier: NCT02864771.

1 | INTRODUCTION

Sudden cardiac death (SCD) is a major global health challenge. Currently, the best-known predictor of SCD is either the presence of severe heart failure (HF) or an episode of cardiac arrest. Hence, guidelines recommend treatment with implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD) as primary prevention in patients with symptomatic HF (New York Heart Association [NYHA] classification II-III) and left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) <35% (Priori et al., 2015). Patients with documented ventricular fibrillation (VF) or sustained ventricular tachycardia (VT) with hemodynamic consequence are also recommended for treatment with ICD (secondary prevention; Priori et al., 2015). However, several studies have found this approach to poorly discriminate patients at high risk of SCD (Buxton, 2003; Pascale et al., 2009).

Ventricular arrhythmias (VA) account for the majority of SCD cases with coronary artery disease (CAD) as the most frequent etiology (Koplan & Stevenson, 2009; Zipes & Wellens, 1998). However, the total burden of less common underlying conditions and arrhythmogenic mechanisms make the prediction of VA challenging. This underlines the need for strategies to identify patients at high risk of VA and SCD. Some electrocardiography (ECG) parameters have been associated with risk of VA, but the results are diverging.

The QRS complex represents ventricular depolarization, and disturbances in the depolarization may cause arrhythmias. QRS fragmentation (fQRS) is a morphological change in the QRS complex and is recognized as additional fractionation or notches within the QRS complex. Presence of fQRS suggests disturbed cardiac depolarization due to myocardial conduction abnormality caused by a nonuniform ventricular activation usually due to myocardial scarring (Das et al., 2006). fQRS has been identified as predictor of VA in patients with Brugada syndrome (Morita et al., 2008) and in patients with CAD and dilated cardiomyopathy (Das et al., 2010; Ratheendran et al., 2020). Accordingly, in the current study we aimed to determine whether fQRS is associated with risk of VA in a heterogeneous population with ICD. We hypothesized that the presence of fQRS in a standard 12-lead ECG is independently associated with risk of VA in patients treated with ICD.

2 | METHODS

2.1 | Study design and study population

The SMASH 1 Study (Scandinavian Multicenter study to Advance risk Stratification in Heart disease—ventricular arrhythmias; NCT#02864771) is a multicenter, observational, prospective study aiming to help identify predictors of VA in patients treated with ICD. Eligible patients were consecutively included during their regular outpatient follow-up visits for ICD control between May 2016 and March 2018 at Akershus University Hospital or Stavanger University Hospital in Norway. All patients treated with ICD, aged ≥18 years, were eligible for enrollment. Inclusion and exclusion criteria are presented in Figure 1. All patients provided informed written consent, and the study was approved by the Regional Ethics Committee (2015/2080) and the local Data Protection Officers at the institutions.

At the baseline visit, patients underwent a standardized interview to obtain information regarding medical history, symptoms, and medication use. Diabetes mellitus (DM), HF, cardiomyopathy, and CAD were defined by review of medical records and patient interviews. Measurements of heart rate and blood pressure (three measurements, where the average of the 2nd and 3rd measurement was used) were performed after 5-min rest. Standard 10-s 12-lead ECG recording was obtained upon inclusion using Mortara 350/380 (filter 150Hz, AC filter 50Hz, 50mm/s, 10mm/mV) or Schiller AT-110 (filter 150Hz, AC Filter 50Hz, 50mm/s, 10mm/mV). Blood samples were collected by venipuncture and analyzed by the core laboratory at each hospital.

2.2 | Outcome measures

The primary outcome of the SMASH 1 Study was defined a priori as episodes of ventricular fibrillation (VF) or ventricular tachycardia (VT) that were sustained (>100 beats per minute >30s) or resulting in appropriately delivered ICD therapy (electrical shock or anti-tachycardia pacing [ATP]). Secondary outcome was defined as death from any cause. Arrhythmic events were obtained from ICD interrogations and/or hospital records during follow-up and include ICD-recorded (monitored and treated events) and clinically recorded events (including sustained VT episodes outside programmed monitor/treatment zones) and were conducted by experienced cardiac electrophysiologists. Study investigators reviewed the ICD recordings and reports in the electronic healthcare record and performed validation to ensure that only real events and appropriate ICD therapies were included as outcomes in this analysis. Adjudicators did not have knowledge of fQRS in the baseline ECG. In a sensitivity analysis accounting for death as a competing risk, we combined incident VA or appropriate ICD therapy with all-cause death. Clinical events were recorded by reports in the electronic healthcare records and by obtaining data from the Norwegian Cause of Death Registry (follow-up until 01.09.2020).

2.3 | ECG criteria for fQRS

Adjudication of fQRS on ECG was based on the following criteria as defined by Das et al. (2006), Das et al. (2008), Das et al. (2010): fQRS was defined as the presence of an additional R wave (R'), the



FIGURE 1 Flow diagram of the SMASH 1 Study

presence of >1 R' (fragmentation) or notching in the downslope of the S wave (Figure 2a). For ECGs with wide QRS complexes (>120 ms), including bundle branch block (BBB), fQRS was defined as various RSR' patterns, with >2 R waves or >2 notches in the R wave or S wave (Figure 2b). In case of paced QRS, fQRS was defined as the presence of >2 R' or >2 notches in the S waves. fQRS was only classified if observed in two contiguous leads: Lateral leads (I, aVL, and V6) corresponding to left circumflex artery territory, anterior leads (V1-V5) corresponding to the left anterior descending artery territory or inferior leads (II, III, and aVF) corresponding to right coronary artery territory (Das et al., 2006). Patients with incomplete right bundle branch block (iRBBB) were excluded, as there is risk of over-interpretation of fQRS in these ECGs (Das et al., 2006; Das et al., 2008).

Two independent experienced physicians evaluated all ECGs blinded to outcome and adjudicated the presence of fQRS. If the two reviewers disagreed on the adjudication, this was solved by consensus, involving a third adjudicator if needed.

2.4 **Statistical analysis**

Baseline characteristics are expressed as N (%) for categorical variables, median [Q1, Q3] for skewed continuous variables, and $\mathsf{mean} \pm \mathsf{SD}$ for normally distributed continuous variables. Patients with and without fQRS in baseline ECG were compared using ANOVA or t-test for continuous variables and Chi-square test for categorical variables. To assess independent predictors of fQRS, we performed a multivariable logistic regression analysis with fQRS as the dependent variable and age, sex, body mass index (BMI), CAD, HF, estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR), and ICD indication

3 of 10

SOUROUR ET AL.

1542474x, 2022, 5, Downloaded

from http:

10.1111/ane

12985 by Nor

wegian

tute Of Public Health

, Wiley

Online Library on

[18/10/2023]. See the

and Condit

(https

Wiley

Online Library for

use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons

License



FIGURE 2 Example of fragmented QRS in a patient with narrow QRS (panel a) and wide QRS (panel b), with paper speed 50 mm/s. (a) Patient with QRS fragmentation in narrow QRS in both lateral and inferior wall (i.e., additional R wave). (b) Patient with QRS fragmentation in wide QRS in lateral wall (i.e., >2 notches in R waves) and also in inferior wall to some extent (i.e., >2 notches in S waves).

as independent variables. In patients with native QRS (without ventricular PM rhythm) on the baseline ECG, we performed an extended multivariable regression analysis also including baseline ECG parameters: QRS duration, QRS axis, presence of Q wave, and BBB. We examined the association between the presence of fQRS on baseline ECG and time to the first event of incident ventricular arrhythmias using Cox proportional hazards regression analyses. The models were adjusted for a priori determined covariates based on established risk factors for VA and used in three separate models: Model 1 was adjusted for age, sex, and BMI, and Model 2 was additionally adjusted for CAD, HF, eGFR, and ICD indication. In Model 3, TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of the study population

Age	66.1 ± 12.0
Sex (male)	378 (82.5%)
Body mass index, kg/m ²	27.8±4.7
Systolic blood pressure, mm Hg	126 ± 21
Diabetes mellitus	91 (19.8%)
Estimated glomerular filtration rate, ml/min/1.73 \ensuremath{m}^2	74 ± 23.4
Coronary artery disease	291 (64.4%)
History of acute myocardial infarction	260 (57.0%)
History of heart failure	370 (80.8%)
Left ventricular ejection fraction, %	40 ± 13
New York Heart Association class III-IV	49 (10.7%)
Cardiomyopathy	30 (6.6%)
Previous ventricular arrhythmias ^a	257 (56.2%)
History of atrial fibrillation	188 (41.2%)
ICD indication (secondary)	223 (48.6%)
Baseline ECG Parameters ^b	
Bundle branch block	80 (23.8%)
QRS duration (ms)	106 [94, 126]
QRS axis (degrees)	7 [-24, 38]
QTc duration (ms)	433 ± 34

Note: Data is shown as n (%), mean \pm SD or median [Q1, Q3]. ^aIncluding episodes registered before ICD implantation. ^bIn patients with native QRS on baseline ECG (n = 336).

we additionally adjusted for QRS duration, QRS axis, presence of Q wave, and BBB in patients with native QRS on ECG. Sensitivity, specificity, and likelihood ratios were calculated for the ability of fQRS to predict VA. Kaplan-Meier plots were used to visualize the proportion of patients with events over time. Stata software (version 16, Statacorp.) was used to perform all analyses. For all statistical tests, p-value of less than 0.05 was considered significant.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Baseline characteristics

Of 495 patients enrolled in the SMASH 1 Study, 36 (7%) patients were excluded from the current analysis due to missing baseline ECG, lowquality ECG recordings, and the presence of iRBBB (Figure 1). The 459 patients included in this analysis were aged 66 ± 12 years, 8% were male, and BMI was 28 ± 5 kg/m² (Table 1). Moreover, 20% had DM and 64% had established CAD, including 57% of the total population having a prior myocardial infarction (MI). In total, 12 patients had underlying arrhythmogenic right ventricular cardiomyopathy, 12 patients had hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, and 6 patients had channelopathy. Mean LVEF was $40\% \pm 13\%$ in the total study cohort with LVEF $38\% \pm 13\%$ in patients with primary ICD indication. In total, 81% of the population class 3 or 4. The indication for ICD was primary prevention in 51% of the population, 27% had CRT-D, and the time from implantation to study inclusion in the SMASH 1 Study was 5.0 ± 6.7 years.

3.2 | Predictors of fQRS

In the baseline ECG, 217 (47%) patients had narrow QRS, 119 (26%) had wide QRS, and 123 (27%) had paced QRS, among whom 100 (81%) had biventricular pacing. fQRS was present in 52 patients (11%), and of these 35 (67%) had narrow QRS, 10 (19%) had wide QRS, and 7 (13%) had paced QRS. The adjudicators agreed on the ECG interpretation of fQRS in 99% of the cases. Patients with fQRS were older (69 ± 11 vs 66 ± 12 years, p = .04), had higher prevalence of CAD (86% vs 62%, p<.001), and were more likely to have established CAD (86% vs 62%, p <.001) than patients without fQRS (Table 2). Patients with fQRS had more frequently ICD implantation for secondary prevention (65% vs. 46%, p = .01) and more frequently experienced an episode of VT or VF prior to study enrollment (83% vs. 53%, p < .001). Other baseline characteristics, like gender, prevalence of HF, and LVEF, were comparable between patients with fQRS and without fQRS. Among patients with native QRS (n = 336), there were no significant differences in measurements of established ECG parameters between patients with versus without fQRS, including QRS duration, QRS axis, QTc, prevalence of BBB, and heart rate.

TABLE 2Baseline characteristics ofpatients with and without fQRS

In a multivariable prediction model with all patients, history of CAD and a secondary prevention ICD indication remained independently associated with the presence of fQRS (Table S1).

3.3 | fQRS in association with incident ventricular arrhythmias and appropriate ICD therapy

During a mean follow-up of 3.1 ± 0.7 years, 126 patients (28%) had at least one registered episode of VA, including 115 patients with sustained VT, 40 with VF, and 110 with appropriate ICD therapy. The presence of fQRS in the baseline ECG was associated with a higher risk of time to the first event of incident VA or appropriate ICD therapy: HR 3.41 (95% CI 2.27-5.13), p <.001 (Table 3, Figure 3). fQRS remained associated with the primary endpoint after adjusting for age, sex, and BMI (Model 1; HR 3.28 [95% CI 2.18-4.94], p<.001) and after additionally adjusting for CAD, HF, eGFR, and ICD indication (Model 2; HR 2.60 [95% CI 1.69-4.01], p<.001). fQRS also remained associated with the primary endpoint after additionally adjusting for established ECG parameters in patients with native QRS, including QRS duration, QRS axis, presence of Q wave, and BBB on baseline ECG (Model 3; HR 2.79 [95% CI 1.71-4.54], p<.001). The association between fQRS and the primary endpoint was consistent between the two study sites (HR 3.37 [95% CI 1.98-5.73] and HR 3.63 [95% CI 1.89-6.98],

	fQRS not present n = 407	fQRS present $n = 52$	p-value
Age	65.7 ± 12.1	69.3 ± 11.4	.04
Sex (female)	73 (17.9%)	7 (13.7%)	.46
Body mass index, kg/m ²	27.8 ± 4.7	27.9±4.9	.82
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg	125 ± 20	127 ± 22	.50
Diabetes mellitus	80 (19.7%)	11 (21.2%)	.80
Estimated glomerular filtration rate, ml/ min/1.73m ²	74±23	71±25	.42
Coronary artery disease	247 (61.6%)	44 (86.3%)	<.001
History of acute myocardial infarction	218 (54.0%)	42 (80.8%)	<.001
History of heart failure	325 (80.0%)	45 (86.5%)	.26
History of atrial fibrillation	162 (40.1%)	26 (50.0%)	.17
Left ventricular ejection fraction, %	41±13	38 ± 12	.21
New York Heart Association class III-IV	44 (10.8%)	5 (9.6%)	.79
Cardiomyopathy	30 (7.4%)	0 (0.0%)	.04
Previous ventricular arrhythmias ^a	214 (52.8%)	43 (82.7%)	<.001
ICD indication (secondary)	189 (46.4%)	34 (65.4%)	.01
Baseline ECG Parameters ^b			
Bundle branch block	72 (24.7%)	8 (17.8%)	.31
QRS duration (ms)	106 [94, 130]	112 [100, 118]	.70
QRS axis (degrees)	7 [-24, 38]	12.0 [-21, 44]	.59
QTc duration (ms)	432±35	433 ± 28	.91

Note: Data is shown as n (%) or mean \pm SD.

^aIncluding episodes registered before ICD implantation.

^bIn patients with native QRS on baseline ECG (n = 336).

	Unadjusted model			Model 1 ^a (n = 450)			Model 2^{b} (<i>n</i> = 439)			Model 3 ^c (patients v n = 293)	vith native	QRS;
	Hazard ratio [95% CI]	Z-value	<i>p</i> -value	Hazard ratio [95% CI]	Z-value	<i>p</i> -value	Hazard ratio [95% CI]	Z-value	<i>p</i> -value	Hazard ratio [95% CI]	Z-value	<i>p</i> -value
QRS fragmentation	3.41 [2.27-5.13]	5.9	<.001	3.28 [2.18-4.94]	5.7	<.001	2.60 [1.69-4.01]	4.3	<.001	2.79 [1.71-4.54]	4.1	<.001
Age				1.18 [1.00-1.40]	2.0	.046	1.08 [0.88-1.31]	0.7	.46	1.23 [0.97-1.56]	1.7	.08
Sex				1.08 [0.68-1.73]	0.3	.75	1.37 [0.85-2.20]	1.3	.19	1.05 [0.61-1.82]	0.2	.85
Body mass index, kg/m ²				1.02 [0.69–1.50]	0.1	.94	1.01 [0.69-1.50]	0.1	.94	0.95 [0.60-1.51]	-0.2	.82
Coronary artery disease							1.55 [0.97-2.47]	1.8	.07	1.32 [0.72-2.41]	0.9	.37
History of heart failure							1.46 [1.17-1.81]	3.4	.001	1.66 [1.29-2.12]	4.0	<.001
eGFR, ml/min/1.73 m^2							1.04 [0.96-1.13]	1.0	.34	1.10 [0.99-1.21]	1.8	.08
ICD indication (secondary)							1.41 [0.96–2.06]	1.8	.08	1.63 [1.02-2.61]	2.0	.04
QRS duration										0.90 [0.79-1.02]	-1.7	60.
QRS axis										0.99 [0.95-1.02]	-0.7	.47
Q wave presence										1.08 [0.67-1.72]	0.3	.76
Bundle branch block										1.41 [0.70-2.84]	1.0	.33
Model 1: adjusted for age, Model 2: adjusted for Mod	sex, and body mass in	idex. Aiseasea he	artfailura	actimated alomerular	filtration re	ond ICD	indication					

TABLE 3 Cox regression analyses for the association between fQRS and incident ventricular arrhythmia (N = 126); univariate and multivariate models

neart failure, estimated glomerular filtration rate, and ICU indication. 'n Aodel 2: adjusted for Model 1 + coronary artery disea

^cModel 3: adjusted for Model 2+QRS duration, QRS axis, presence of Q wave, and bundle branch block in patients with native QRS on baseline ECG.

G of 10 WILEY



FIGURE 3 Survival analysis of time to ventricular arrhythmia and appropriate ICD therapy in patients with and without QRS fragmentation present in the baseline ECG

p-for-interaction = .93; Table S2). The association between fQRS and the primary endpoint was independent of the presence of BBB on baseline ECG (among patients with native QRS, *p*-for-interaction = .76). The presence of fQRS had specificity 94% and sensitivity 25% with a positive likelihood ratio of 4.2 for incident VA or appropriate ICD therapy.

In a sensitivity analysis including all-cause death (N = 68) in a combined outcome with incident VA or appropriate ICD therapy, fQRS was associated with the risk of incident VA or death: HR 2.65 [95% CI 1.82– 3.87], p < .001, and this persisted in the adjusted models.

3.4 | fQRS and outcome according to ICD indication

fQRS was associated with the primary endpoint irrespective of ICD indication, but there was a stronger association among patients with a primary prevention ICD indication than patients with a secondary prevention ICD indication (HR 6.05 [95% CI 3.16–11.60] versus HR 2.39, [95% CI 1.41–4.04], respectively, *p*-for-interaction = .047). Among patients with a primary ICD indication, the presence of fQRS was associated with established CAD (*p* = .048) andprior MI (*p* = .02). fQRS and pathological Q waves were the only variables associated with the primary endpoint in multivariable models in these patients (Table S3). The association between fQRS and the primary endpoint in primary prevention was not modified by the presence or absence of CAD (*p*-for-interaction 0.39): HR 4.78 [95% CI 2.33–9.84], *p* < .001 and HR 8.63 [95% CI 1.85–40.3], *p* = .006, respectively.

3.5 | fQRS in association with ventricular tachycardia and ventricular fibrillation

When assessing the association between fQRS and components of the primary endpoint, we found an association between fQRS and incident VT (HR 3.04 [95% CI 1.96–4.71], p <.001), which persisted in the adjusted Model 3 (p = .003). fQRS was also associated with

incident VF (HR 2.56, [95% CI 1.18–5.57], p = .02), which persisted after adjustments (p = .03). Among patients with incident VT or VF, 88% were appropriately treated with ATP or DC shock, and fQRS also predicted appropriate ICD therapy: HR 3.56, [95% CI 2.31–5.48], p < .001), which persisted after adjustments (p < .001).

In patients with primary ICD indication, fQRS was strongly associated with incident VT (HR 4.79 [95% CI 2.30–9.98], p<.001) and VF (HR 6.85 [95% CI 2.18–21.53], p = .001), and these associations persisted in the adjusted Model 3 (p<.001 for VT and p = .004 for VF).

4 | DISCUSSION

In this study, we found a strong and independent association between the presence of fQRS and incident VA and appropriate ICD therapy. Patients with fQRS had a threefold increased risk for developing VA irrespective of established risk factors and ECG parameters. These results suggest that interpreting ECGs for fragmentation of the QRS complex may improve risk stratification for SCD.

4.1 | Pathophysiology reflected by QRS fragmentation

In our study of unselected patients treated with ICD, fQRS was present in 11%, which is lower than in previous populations by Das: 23% in patients with ischemic and nonischemic cardiomyopathy, excluding patients with paced rhythm and inherited channelopathies (Das et al., 2010) and 35% in patients with CAD (Das et al., 2006). As these populations were selected for by the etiology of the cardiomyopathy or by the presence of CAD, this is not surprising and highlights the additional value provided by our study of non-selected patients with ICD. The presence of fQRS in our study was associated with established CAD, prior MI and a primary indication for ICD. There were limited associations to demographics and other comorbidities. The underlying mechanism causing the QRS complex to fragment is not completely understood. Early studies have focused on fQRS as a marker of myocardial scar. In agreement with our findings, Das et al. reported that fQRS represents myocardial scar, as indicated by regional perfusion abnormalities detected by nuclear stress test (Das et al., 2006). fQRS was superior to Q waves in detecting myocardial scars with significantly higher sensitivity and negative predictive value: 86% and 93%, respectively, for fQRS and 36% and 71%, respectively, for Q waves. Ratheendran et al. also reported an association between fQRS and myocardial scar in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (HCM; Ratheendran et al., 2020). They reported a higher incidence of delayed gadolinium enhancement on cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMR), indicating the presence of myocardial scar, in patients with fQRS compared with patients without fQRS (85% vs. 10%, respectively). The presence of fQRS had an 85% sensitivity and 90% specificity in detecting myocardial scar on CMR.

The criteria for fQRS are different for patients with narrow and wide QRS. Both increased QRS duration and presence of fQRS represent a conduction delay and a depolarization abnormality in the left ventricle. Interestingly, we found no association between presence of fQRS and QRS duration or axis among patients with native QRS, suggesting that this phenomenon is independent of other electrophysiological measures of ventricular depolarization. Hence, the exact pathophysiology behind fQRS remains unknown and is an area for future studies to investigate.

4.2 | QRS fragmentation as a predictor for ventricular arrhythmias

There is an unmet need to identify patients at risk of SCD. The current patient selection for treatment with ICD has major limitations and suffers from both poor sensitivity and specificity. Novel approaches to identify patients at risk are typically complicated and involve advanced imaging and deep phenotyping (de Haan et al., 2011; Lee Daniel & Goldberger, 2013). In this study, we found fQRS, which is an easily available parameter from standard 12-lead ECG, to be associated with a threefold increased risk of VA, with a specificity of 94%. In agreement with previous studies (Igarashi et al., 2017; Kucharz & Kułakowski, 2020; Ozcan et al., 2014), fQRS was superior to, and independent of, established clinical risk factors and ECG parameters with respect to VA. Our results, however, demonstrate a stronger association between fQRS and VA, which may relate to our sample size being larger and more heterogeneous. Furthermore, our outcome measure was specific for ventricular arrhythmias, as opposed to broader composite endpoints used in other studies (Engstrom et al., 2022).

In our study, fQRS was significantly associated with both incident VT and VF separately, although the number of events was lower and confidence intervals wider for VF. Importantly, the association between fQRS and VA was independent of QRS duration and the presence of BBB, which may suggest that the arrhythmogenicity reflected by fQRS is a result of heterogeneous ventricular depolarization rather than a conduction delay per se.

The incidence of sudden death has declined in heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF) as a result from the cumulative benefit of evidence-based treatment (Shen et al., 2017). The effect of ICD treatment as primary prevention in patients with nonischemic HFrEF was investigated in the Danish trial (Køber et al., 2016). In this trial, ICD therapy was not superior to usual clinical care with respect to long-term rate of all-cause death, although there was a reduction in SCD. This demonstrates the importance of developing better risk stratification tools in patients considered for primary prevention ICD. A previous study of patients with primary prevention ICD indication did not find an association between fQRS and risk of either all-cause mortality or arrhythmic mortality (Cheema et al., 2010). However, this study did not investigate the association with incident VT or VF. In our study, fQRS was strongly predictive of VA in patients with a primary prevention indication for ICD, and

1542474x, 2022, 5, Downloaded

from

1 https

//onlinelibrary

.wiley.com/doi

(10.1111/anec

12985 by Nor

wegian

Institute Of Public Health

ı, Wiley

Online Library on

[18/10/2023]. See the Term

and Conditions

(https

Valley.

on Wiley

Online Library for

use; OA

articles are

governed by the

applicable Creative Commons

License

this association was stronger than among secondary prevention patients. Moreover, the association between fQRS and VA in primary prevention was irrespective of the presence of CAD, suggesting that in nonischemic HFrEF, where the effect of ICD therapy is more uncertain, there may be a role for fQRS in identifying patients with increased risk of cardiac arrest (Maheshwari et al., 2013).

4.3 | Strengths

This was a large, investigator-initiated multicenter study with long follow-up. The main finding of the study was consistent across the study sites. Reporting SCD and whether it is caused by malignant VA can be challenging and inaccurate. Several studies have defined SCD according to guidelines as a sudden, unexpected, and nontraumatic death of healthy individuals occurring within one hour after onset of symptoms (Priori et al., 2015; Zipes et al., 2006). If it is unwitnessed, it is still defined as SCD if the individual was healthy 24h before the death occurred (Priori et al., 2015). In our study, we have more accurate definitions of VA beyond clinical observations, as our arhythmical events are actual events documented and interrogated by experienced cardiac electrophysiologists. As ICD treatment prevents SCD caused by VA (Bardy et al., 2005; Buxton et al., 1999), we believe the association between fQRS and incident VA in our study is likely to translate to an association between fQRS and SCD. This is supported by the fact that 88% of the patients with VA also were treated with ATP or DC shock as programmed in the ICD algorithms.

4.4 | Limitations

We included patients treated with ICD, who are a high-risk population for VA. Our results can, therefore, not directly be applied to other patient populations or the general population who are at much lower risk. We had an uneven distribution of sex across our cohort with 83% males, although this typically represents the population with ICD. ECGs were obtained upon study enrollment, which was mean 5.0±6.7 years after ICD implantation. Our patients were included at two centers, and all ECGs were analyzed by two independent adjudicators with the risk of observer bias; however, there was 99% agreement in the adjudication of fQRS. ECG recordings were done at paper speed 50 mm/s, as opposed to standard 25 mm/s, due to local routines. We excluded 19 (4%) patients because of missing, or non-interpretable ECG due to artifacts. However, this exclusion was random and not likely to influence our results. ICD programming was not standardized and may thus infer some variations in the sensitivity of VT detections. However, physicians were blinded to the fQRS status and any variations are not likely to bias the results. Patients who died from an unknown cause and who did not have their ICD interrogated post-mortem could potentially have died from VA. However, we demonstrate similar results when adding all-cause death to the primary outcome measure.
5 | CONCLUSIONS

fQRS is a highly feasible and easily available tool that can aid in assessing the risk for subsequent VA. Our study demonstrates that the presence of fQRS in ECG is associated with a threefold higher risk of developing VA, beyond established risk factors. The association appeared strongest in patients with a primary prevention ICD indication where there is an unmet need for novel risk assessment tools. Evaluating fQRS may prove to become such a tool. Automated detection of fQRS as a part of the computer algorithm interpretation of ECG, to reduce the risk of misinterpreting normal variant such as iRBBB, is a potential way forward. This could aid clinicians in detecting fQRS easily and potentially support decision-making regarding ICD implantation in high-risk patients.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful for the substantial contributions from the study nurses Sanna Johannesson, Lisa Frødin, Anne Gro Larsen, and Jorunn Nilsen for invaluable help in organizing and executing the study visits. We also want to thank the cardiac electrophysiologists Dr. Arne Strand, Dr. Trude Berget, Dr. Huy Pham, and Dr. Gabor Kuntz for reading the ICDs and recording the events.

FUNDING INFORMATION

Drs. Sourour and Myhre were supported by grants from the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority. Dr. Riveland is supported by a grant from the Western Norway Regional Health Authority.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Dr. Røsjø has received personal fees from Thermo Fischer BRAHMS, CardiNor and SpinChip Diagnostics. Dr Kjekshus has served on advisory boards and received speaker fees from Bayer and Pfizer. Dr. Omland has served on advisory boards for Abbott Diagnostics, Roche Diagnostics, and Bayer and has received research support from Abbott Diagnostics, Novartis, Roche Diagnostics, Singulex, and SomaLogic via Akershus University Hospital, and speaker's or consulting honoraria from Roche Diagnostics, Siemens Healthineers, and CardiNor. Dr. Myhre has served on advisory boards and received speaker fees from AmGen, AstraZeneca, Bayer, Boehringer Ingelheim, Novartis, and Novo Nordisk. All other authors report no conflict of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Research data are not shared.

ETHICAL APPROVAL

The study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. All patients provided informedwritten consent, and the study was approved by the Regional Ethics Committee (2015/2080) and the local DataProtection Officers at the institutions.

ORCID

Nur Sourour () https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1068-8753 Egil Riveland () https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7068-2631

1542474x, 2022, 5, Downloaded

from

https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/anec.12985 by Norwegian Institute Of Public Health, Wiley Online Library on [18/10/2023]. See the Terms and Conditions

(https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/term

and-conditions) on Wiley Online Library for rules of use; OA articles are governed by the applicable Creative Commons

License

Terje Rømo [©] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1747-6710 Patrycja Næsgaard [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4407-9887 Harald Kjekshus [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3695-8950 Alf Inge Larsen [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9141-0499 Torbjørn Omland [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-6452-0369 Helge Røsjø [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2114-3134 Peder Langeland Myhre [®] https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5871-1804

REFERENCES

- Bardy, G. H., Lee, K. L., Mark, D. B., Poole, J. E., Packer, D. L., Boineau, R., Domanski, M., Troutman, C., Anderson, J., Johnson, G., McNulty, S. E., Clapp-Channing, N., Davidson-Ray, L. D., Fraulo, E. S., Fishbein, D. P., Luceri, R. M., & Ip, J. H. (2005). Amiodarone or an implantable cardioverter-defibrillator for congestive heart failure. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 352, 225–237.
- Buxton, A. E. (2003). Risk stratification for sudden death: Do we need anything more than ejection fraction? *Cardiac Electrophysiology Review*, 7, 434–437.
- Buxton, A. E., Lee, K. L., Fisher, J. D., Josephson, M. E., Prystowsky, E. N., & Hafley, G. (1999). A randomized study of the prevention of sudden death in patients with coronary artery disease. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 341, 1882–1890.
- Cheema, A., Khalid, A., Wimmer, A., Bartone, C., Chow, T., Spertus, J. A., & Chan, P. S. (2010). Fragmented QRS and mortality risk in patients with left ventricular dysfunction. *Circulation. Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology*, *3*, 339–344.
- Das, M. K., Khan, B., Jacob, S., Kumar, A., & Mahenthiran, J. (2006). Significance of a fragmented QRS complex versus a Q wave in patients with coronary artery disease. *Circulation*, 113, 2495–2501.
- Das, M. K., Maskoun, W., Shen, C., Michael, M. A., Suradi, H., Desai, M., Subbarao, R., & Bhakta, D. (2010). Fragmented QRS on twelve-lead electrocardiogram predicts arrhythmic events in patients with ischemic and nonischemic cardiomyopathy. *Heart Rhythm*, 7, 74–80.
- Das, M. K., Suradi, H., Maskoun, W., Michael, M. A., Shen, C., Peng, J., Dandamudi, G., & Mahenthiran, J. (2008). Fragmented wide QRS on a 12-lead ECG: a sign of myocardial scar and poor prognosis. *Circulation. Arrhythmia and Electrophysiology*, 1, 258–268.
- de Haan, S., Meijers, T. A., Knaapen, P., Beek, A. M., van Rossum, A. C., & Allaart, C. P. (2011). Scar size and characteristics assessed by CMR predict ventricular arrhythmias in ischaemic cardiomyopathy: Comparison of previously validated models. *Heart*, 97, 1951–1956.
- Engstrom, N., Dobson, G., Ng, K., & Letson, H. (2022). Fragmented QRS is associated with ventricular arrhythmias in heart failure patients: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Annals of Noninvasive Electrocardiology, 27, e12910.
- Igarashi, M., Tada, H., Yamasaki, H., Kuroki, K., Ishizu, T., Seo, Y., Machino, T., Murakoshi, N., Sekiguchi, Y., Noguchi, Y., & Nogami, A. (2017). Fragmented QRS is a novel risk factor for ventricular arrhythmic events after receiving cardiac resynchronization therapy in nonischemic cardiomyopathy. *Journal of Cardiovascular Electrophysiology*, 28, 327–335.
- Køber, L., Thune, J. J., Nielsen, J. C., Haarbo, J., Videbæk, L., Korup, E., Jensen, G., Hildebrandt, P., Steffensen, F. H., Bruun, N. E., Eiskjær, H., Brandes, A., Thøgersen, A. M., Gustafsson, F., Egstrup, K., Videbæk, R., Hassager, C., Svendsen, J. H., Høfsten, D. E., ... DANISH Investigators. (2016). Defibrillator implantation in patients with nonischemic systolic heart failure. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 375, 1221–1230.
- Koplan, B. A., & Stevenson, W. G. (2009). Ventricular tachycardia and sudden cardiac death. Mayo Clinic Proceedings, 84, 289–297.
- Kucharz, A., & Kułakowski, P. (2020). Fragmented QRS and arrhythmic events in patients with implantable cardioverter-defibrillators. *Kardiologia Polska*, 78, 1107–1114.

10 of 10 | WILEY

- Lee Daniel, C., & Goldberger, J. J. (2013). CMR for sudden cardiac death risk stratification. JACC: Cardiovascular Imaging, 6, 345–348.
- Maheshwari, S., Acharyya, A., Puddu, P. E., Mazomenos, E. B., Leekha, G., Maharatna, K., & Schiariti, M. (2013). An automated algorithm for online detection of fragmented QRS and identification of its various morphologies. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface*, 10, 20130761.
- Morita, H., Kusano, K. F., Miura, D., Nagase, S., Nakamura, K., Morita, S. T., Ohe, T., Zipes, D. P., & Wu, J. (2008). Fragmented QRS as a marker of conduction abnormality and a predictor of prognosis of Brugada syndrome. *Circulation*, 118, 1697–1704.
- Ozcan, F., Turak, O., Canpolat, U., Avci, S., Tok, D., Isleyen, A., Cebeci, M., Yuzgeçer, H., Gurel, O. M., Topaloglu, S., & Aras, D. (2014).
 Fragmented QRS predicts the arrhythmic events in patients with heart failure undergoing ICD implantation for primary prophylaxis: More fragments more appropriate ICD shocks. Annals of Noninvasive Electrocardiology, 19, 351–357.
- Pascale, P., Schlaepfer, J., Oddo, M., Schaller, M. D., Vogt, P., & Fromer, M. (2009). Ventricular arrhythmia in coronary artery disease: Limits of a risk stratification strategy based on the ejection fraction alone and impact of infarct localization. *Europace*, 11, 1639–1646.
- Priori, S. G., Blomstrom-Lundqvist, C., Mazzanti, A., Blom, N., Borggrefe, M., Camm, J., Elliott, P. M., Fitzsimons, D., Hatala, R., Hindricks, G., et al. (2015). 2015 ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death: The Task Force for the Management of Patients with Ventricular Arrhythmias and the Prevention of Sudden Cardiac Death of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC). Endorsed by: Association for European Paediatric and Congenital Cardiology (AEPC). European Heart Journal, 36, 2793–2867.
- Ratheendran, A. C., Subramanian, M., Bhanu, D. K., Prabhu, M. A., Kannan, R., Natarajan, K. U., Saritha Sekhar, S., Thachathodiyil, R., Harikrishnan, M. S., & Pai, P. G. (2020). Fragmented QRS on electrocardiography as a predictor of myocardial scar in patients with hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. [Abstract]. Acta Cardiologica, 75, 42–46.
- Shen, L., Jhund, P. S., Petrie, M. C., Claggett, B. L., Barlera, S., Cleland, J. G. F., Dargie, H. J., Granger, C. B., Kjekshus, J., Køber, L., Latini, R., Maggioni, A. P., Packer, M., Pitt, B., Solomon, S. D., Swedberg, K., Tavazzi, L., Wikstrand, J., Zannad, F., ... McMurray, J. J. V. (2017).

Declining risk of sudden death in heart failure. The New England Journal of Medicine, 377, 41–51.

- Zipes, D. P., Camm, A. J., Borggrefe, M., Buxton, A. E., Chaitman, B., Fromer, M., Gregoratos, G., Klein, G., Moss, A. J., Myerburg, R. J., Priori, S. G., Quinones, M. A., Roden, D. M., Silka, M. J., Tracy, C., Priori, S. G., Blanc, J. J., Budaj, A., Camm, A. J., ... Heart Rhythm Society. (2006). ACC/AHA/ESC 2006 guidelines for management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death: a report of the American College of Cardiology/ American Heart Association Task Force and the European Society of Cardiology Committee for Practice Guidelines (Writing Committee to Develop guidelines for management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death) developed in collaboration with the European Heart Rhythm Association and the Heart Rhythm Society. *Europace*, *8*, 746–837.
- Zipes, D. P., & Wellens, H. J. J. (1998). Sudden cardiac death. *Circulation*, 98, 2334–2351.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Sourour, N., Riveland, E., Rømo, T., Næsgaard, P., Kjekshus, H., Larsen, A. I., Omland, T., Røsjø, H., & Myhre, P. L. (2022). QRS fragmentation is associated with increased risk of ventricular arrhythmias in high-risk patients; Data from the SMASH 1 Study. *Annals of Noninvasive Electrocardiology*, 27, e12985. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/</u> anec.12985

Supplementary Material

to

QRS fragmentation is associated with increased risk of ventricular arrhythmias in high-risk patients; data from the SMASH 1 Study

Supplemental Table 1. Predictors of fQRS in baseline ECG assessed by multivariable logistic regression analysis

	Total pc	pulation		Patients with nativ	ve QRS in ba	aseline ECG
	Hazard Ratio [95% CI]	z-value	P-value	Hazard Ratio [95% Cl]	Z-value	P-value
Age	1.17 [0.84-1.62]	6.0	0.35	1.15 [0.80-1.66]	0.8	0.44
Gender	0.98 [0.41-2.37]	-0.04	0.97	1.07 [0.42-2.72]	0.2	0.88
Body mass index, kg/m²	1.20 [0.61-2.36]	0.5	0.61	1.25 [0.59-2.64]	0.6	0.56
Coronary artery disease	3.31 [1.37-7.98]	2.7	0.01	2.39 [0.86-6.64]	1.7	0.09
History of heart failure	0.99 [0.73-1.33]	-0.1	0.92	1.07 [0.76-1.49]	0.4	0.70
Estimated glomerular filtration rate, ml/min/1.73m ²	0.99 [0.85-1.15]	-0.2	0.88	1.02 [0.85-1.23]	0.2	0.81
ICD indication	2.15 [1.13-4.12]	2.3	0.02	1.90 [0.89-4.06]	1.7	0.10
QRS duration				1.11 [0.91-1.36]	1.1	0.29
QRS axis				1.02 [0.95-1.10]	0.7	0.50
Q wave presence				1.32 [0.62-2.83]	0.7	0.47
Bundle branch block				0.53 [0.17-1.65]	-1.1	0.27

Supplemental Table 2. Cox regression model for the two study centers, univariate and multivariate model.

	Unadjusted model	Adjusted model*
	Hazard Ratio, [95% Conf. Interval]	Hazard Ratio, [95% Conf. Interval]
Akershus University Hospital	3.37, [1.98-5.73]	2.39, [1.21-4.72]
Stavanger University Hospital	3.63, [1.89-6.98]	3.79, [1.75-8.20]
P-for interaction	P=	0.93

*Adjusted for age, gender, body mass index, coronary artery disease, heart failure, estimated glomerular filtration rate, ICD indication (primary vs. secondary), QRS duration, QRS axis, presence of Q-wave, and bundle branch block on baseline ECG in patients with native QRS

d incident ventricular arrythmia in patients with primary ICD indication;	
fQRS and	
1 between	
associatior	
for the a	
analyses	els.
gression a	iate mod
Cox re	nultivar
Table 3	te and n
Suppl.	univaria

	Unadjuste	od model		Model	1 *		Model 2	2 **		Model 3	***	
										(Patients with nat	tive QRS	only)
	Hazard Ratio	Z -	-	Hazard Ratio	Z-	Ρ.	Hazard Ratio	Z -	-	Hazard Ratio	-Z-	-
	[95% CI]	value	value	[95% CI]	value	value	[95% CI]	value	value	[95% CI]	value	value
QRS fragmentation	6.05 [3.16-11.60]	5.4	<0.001	5.88 [3.06-11.29]	5.3	<0.001	5.47 [2.83-10.56]	5.1	<0.001	11.22 [4.20-29.99]	4.8	<0.001
Age				1.11 [0.86-1.44]	0.8	0.42	1.07 [0.79-1.44]	0.4	0.66	1.09 [0.70-1.68]	0.4	0.70
Sex				0.39 [0.14-1.08]	-1.8	0.07	0.56 [0.19-1.61]	-1.1	0.28	0.40 [0.09-1.79]	-1.2	0.23
Body mass index, kg/m ²				1.10 [0.66-1.84]	0.4	0.72	1.05 [0.63-1.75]	0.2	0.86	1.06 [0.52-2.18]	0.2	0.86
Coronary artery disease							1.83 [0.91-3.68]	1.7	0.09	2.07 [0.68-6.26]	1.3	0.20
History of heart failure							1.36 [0.91-2.02]	1.5	0.13	1.48 [0.91-2.41]	1.6	0.12
eGFR, ml/min/1.73m ²							1.10 [0.97-1.24]	1.5	0.14	1.14 [0.96-1.37]	1.5	0.14
QRS duration										0.94 [0.74-1.19]	-0.5	0.59
QRS axis										0.97 [0.93-1.01]	-1.3	0.18
Q wave presence										2.83 [1.19-6.71]	2.4	0.02
Bundle branch block										0.86 [0.22-3.38]	-0.2	0.83

* Model 1: adjusted for age, sex and body mass index

** Model 2: adjusted for Model 1 + coronary artery disease, heart failure and estimated glomerular filtration rate ***Model 3: adjusted for Model 2 + QRS duration, QRS axis, presence of Q-wave, and bundle branch block on baseline ECG in patients with native rhythm on ECG

Paper II

DOI: 10.1002/clc.24074

CLINICAL TRIAL



N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide for prediction of ventricular arrhythmias: Data from the SMASH study

N. Sourour MD^{1,2} | E. Riveland MD^{3,4} | P. Næsgaard MD, PhD³ | H. Kjekshus MD, PhD¹ | A. I. Larsen MD, PhD^{3,4} | T. Omland MD, PhD, MPH^{1,2} H. Røsjø MD, PhD^{2,5} | P. L. Myhre MD, PhD^{1,2}

¹Department of Cardiology, Division of Medicine, Akershus University Hospital, Lørenskog, Norway

²K.G. Jebsen Center for Cardiac Biomarkers, Institute of Clinical Medicine, Oslo, Norway

³Department of Cardiology, Stavanger University Hospital, Stavanger, Norway

⁴Institute of Clinical Sciences, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

⁵Division for Research and Innovation, Akershus University Hospital, Lørenskog, Norway

Correspondence

P. L. Myhre, MD, PhD, Department of Cardiology, Akershus University Hospital, Sykehusveien 25, 1478 Lørenskog, Norway. Email: p.l.myhre@medisin.uio.no

Funding information

Helse Sør-Øst RHF, Grant/Award Number: 2020006

Abstract

Accepted: 9 June 2023

Background: Elevated N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) concentrations predict heart failure (HF) and mortality, but whether NT-proBNP predicts ventricular arrhythmias (VA) is not clear.

Hypothesis: We hypothesize that high NT-proBNP concentrations associate with the risk of incident VA, defined as adjudicated ventricular fibrillation or sustained ventricular tachycardia.

Methods: In a prospective, observational study of patients treated with implantable cardioverter defibrillator (ICD), we analyzed NT-proBNP concentrations at baseline and after mean 1.4 years in association to incident VA.

Results: We included 490 patients (age 66 ± 12 years, 83% men) out of whom 51% had a primary prevention ICD indication. The median NT-proBNP concentration was 567 (25–75 percentile 203–1480) ng/L and patients with higher concentrations were older with more HF and ICD for primary prevention. During mean 3.1 ± 0.7 years, 137 patients (28%) had ≥1 VA. Baseline NT-proBNP concentrations were associated with the risk of incident VA (hazard ratio [HR]: 1.39, 95% confidence interval [95% CI]: 1.22–1.58, p < .001), HF hospitalizations (HR: 3.11, 95% CI: 2.53–3.82, p < .001), and all-cause mortality (HR: 2.49, 95% CI: 2.04–3.03, p < .001), which persisted after adjusting for age, sex, body mass index, coronary artery disease, HF, renal function, and left ventricular ejection fraction. The association with VA was stronger in secondary versus primary prevention ICD indication: HR: 1.59 (95% CI: 1.34–1.88 C-statistics 0.71) versus HR: 1.24, 95% CI: 1.02–1.51, C-statistics 0.55), p-for-interaction = 0.06. Changes in NT-proBNP during the first 1.4 years did not associate with subsequent VA.

Conclusions: NT-proBNP concentrations are associated with the risk of incident VA after adjustment for established risk factors, with the strongest association in patients with a secondary prevention ICD indication.

KEYWORDS

ICD, implantable cardioverter defibrillator, N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide, NT-proBNP, sudden cardiac death, ventricular arrhythmias

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

 $\ensuremath{\mathbb{C}}$ 2023 The Authors. Clinical Cardiology published by Wiley Periodicals, LLC.

990

1 | INTRODUCTION

Ventricular arrhythmia (VA) is an important cause of sudden cardiac death (SCD) globally.^{1,2} Prediction of risk for VA and patients selection for treatment with implantable cardioverter defibrillator (ICD) are challenging due to a large number of heart disease conditions that can result in VA and subsequently SCD.

N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) is a natriuretic peptide secreted by ventricular cardiomyocytes in response to cardiac stress mainly due to congestive heart failure (HF).³ Elevated levels of NT-proBNP are predictive of poor prognosis in patients with HF, asymptomatic left ventricular (LV) dysfunction and coronary artery disease (CAD).^{4,5} Previous studies have demonstrated that higher NT-proBNP concentrations are associated with increased risk of SCD in patients with chronic HF, ischemic heart disease, hypertrophic cardiomyopathy, and in the general population.⁶⁻⁹ Most studies have analyzed NT-proBNP in association with clinically suspected SCD^{6,8,10} and few have investigated the association with recordings of VA,^{7,11} which is an outcome measure more relevant for risk stratification and patients selection for ICD treatment. HF with reduced LV ejection fraction (LVEF) is the most frequent primary prevention ICD indication, and these patients therefore typically have higher NT-proBNP concentrations than patients with a secondary prevention ICD indication.

The primary aim of this study was to assess the association between NT-proBNP and device-recorded and adjudicated incident VA. The secondary aim was to assess the association between NTproBNP and the risk of HF hospitalization and death.

2 | METHODS

2.1 | Study design and study population

SMASH (Scandinavian Multicenter study to Advance risk Stratification in Heart disease – ventricular arrhythmia) 1 is a prospective, observational, multicenter study.¹² Patients treated with ICD who were ≥18 years old with life expectancy >2 years were screened for inclusion (inclusion criteria are summarized in Supporting Information: Figure 1). Study participants were included during regular outpatient visits at the Departments of Cardiology at Akershus University Hospital and Stavanger University Hospital between August 2016 and March 2018. All patients were invited to a follow-up visit between 1 and 2 years after inclusion.

Patients underwent a physical examination at the baseline and follow-up visit including measurement of blood pressure (average of the second and third measurements) and heart rate after 5 min rest. Body weight and height were measured, and body mass index (BMI) was calculated. Information regarding previous medical history and New York Heart Association (NYHA) functional class was obtained from a structured interview and by a thorough review of the electronic health records. Glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) was estimated from creatinine measured in routine blood samples. The most recent measurement of LVEF by echocardiography or cardiac magnetic imaging was recorded. CAD was defined as established chronic coronary syndrome or previously experienced acute coronary syndromes.

2.2 | Analysis of NT-proBNP

At both visits, patients donated blood specimens by venipuncture, performed by trained study nurses. Samples for the study biobank were temporarily stored at 4°C, centrifuged at 2000g for 10 min and then transferred into aliquots that were frozen and stored at -80° C at Akershus University Hospital. Serum samples that had not previously been thawed were used to measure NT-proBNP, which was analyzed by the electrochemiluminescence immunoassay Elecsys on the Cobas e 801 platform (Roche Diagnostics). The coefficients of variations reported by the manufacturer were 2.5% at 127 ng/L and 1.3% at 1706 ng/L.

2.3 | Outcome measures

The primary outcome in the SMASH study was incident VA, defined as episodes of ventricular tachycardia (VT) or ventricular fibrillation (VF) resulting in appropriately delivered ICD therapies, that is, electrical shock or antitachycardia pacing, or sustained ventricular tachyarrhythmia (>100 b.p.m. and >30 s). Events with VA were obtained from ICD recordings and adjudicated by experienced cardiac electrophysiologists that were blinded to study biomarker concentrations. Study investigators also reviewed the ICD recordings and the reports in the electronic healthcare record and validated real events from artifacts and ensured that appropriate therapies were separated from inappropriate ICD therapies. Only events validated as real VAs were included as outcomes in the study. HF hospitalization and death from any cause were secondary endpoints, registered by review of the electronic healthcare records of the patients, with linkage to the National Death Registry.

2.4 | Statistical analysis

Values are reported as *N* (%) and median (Quartile 1 to Quartile 3) for skewed and mean ± SD for normally distributed variables. NTproBNP had a non-normal distribution according to the Shapiro–Wilk normality test, and log-transformed values were therefore used in all regression analyses. Categorical and continuous variables were compared using the χ^2 test for binary variables, analysis of variance for parametric continuous variables, and the Kruskal–Wallis test for nonparametric continuous variables. Baseline characteristics were compared for trend across quartiles of baseline NT-proBNP using linear and logistic regression models. Independent predictors of higher baseline NT-proBNP concentrations were determined using multivariable linear regression analysis. The

-WILEY

associations between baseline concentrations of NT-proBNP and time to first event for each of the endpoints (incident VA, HF hospitalization, and death in separate analyses) were examined in unadjusted and adjusted Cox proportional hazard regression models. Multivariable Model 1 was adjusted for age, sex, and BMI, and Model 2 was additionally adjusted for CAD, HF, eGFR, and LVEF. Harrell's C-statistics was calculated to assess the performance of NT-proBNP to discriminate between patients based on time to event. We performed interaction analysis to determine whether the association between NT-proBNP and VA was different in patients with primary versus secondary prevention ICD indication. We used Kaplan-Meier plots to visualize the proportion of patients with endpoint events over time by quartiles of baseline NT-proBNP.

In patients with available NT-proBNP concentrations at the follow-up visit, we used Wilcoxon signed-rank test to analyze changes from the baseline samples. Relative changes in NT-proBNP from baseline to follow-up was calculated by dividing the follow-up concentration with the baseline concentration. This ratio was log-transformed and analyzed in landmark Cox regression models for events after the date of the follow-up. All statistical analyses were performed using Stata Software (version 17, Stata Corp.). A two-sided p < .05 was considered statistically significant.

3 | RESULTS

3.1 | Baseline characteristics

In the SMASH 1 Study, we included 495 patients treated with ICD, one withdrew from the study and among the remaining patients 490 (99%) had available study blood samples and were included in this analysis (Supporting Information: Figure 1). The mean age was 66 ± 12 years and 83% were men with a mean BMI of 28 ± 5 kg/m² and LVEF of 40±13%. Most patients had comorbid conditions, including CAD (64%), previous acute myocardial infarction (AMI, 57%) and HF (80%). The time from ICD implantation to study inclusion was 5.1 ± 6.6 years. Two-hundred and fifty (51%) patients had a primary prevention ICD indication and 135 (28%) patients had cardiac resynchronization therapy with ICD indication. Baseline medications included 458 (94%) on β -blockers, 395 (81%) on renin-angiotensin system inhibitors, and 84 (17%) on antiarrhythmic drugs. Among patients with ICD for primary prevention, HF was the indication in 225 patients (90%: mean LVEF 35 ± 11%), whereas 25 patients (10%; mean LVEF 57±6%) had a non-HF indication, predominantly cardiomyopathy (*n* = 17) (Supporting Information: Table 1).

3.2 | Predictors of higher NT-proBNP concentrations

The median (Q1-Q3) concentration of NT-proBNP in the total population was 567 (203-1480) ng/L. Patients with higher NT-

proBNP concentrations were older, had lower BMI, lower LVEF, and higher NYHA functional class (Table 1). Patients with high NTproBNP concentrations were also more likely to have a greater burden of comorbidities, including HF, diabetes, CAD, previous AMI, and worse renal function. In multivariable regression models, older age, lower BMI, history of HF, absence of cardiomyopathy, NYHA class III-IV, lower LVEF, and lower eGFR levels were independent predictors of higher NT-proBNP concentrations (Supporting Information: Table 2).

3.3 | NT-proBNP in association with incident VAs

During a mean follow-up of 3.10 ± 0.74 years, 137 (28%) patients experienced at least one episode of VA, among whom 126 had VT, 47 had VF, and 120 had appropriate ICD therapy. Higher NT-proBNP concentrations were associated with greater risk of time-to-firstevent of incident VA: hazard ratio (HR): 1.39, 95% confidence interval (Cl): 1.22–1.58 per log unit increase, p < .001 (Table 2). This association persisted after adjusting for age, sex, and BMI (HR: 1.37 [95% Cl: 1.20–1.58], p < .001), and after additionally adjusting for CAD, HF, eGFR, and LVEF (HR: 1.22 [95% Cl: 1.03–1.45], p = .02). Patients in the highest quartile of NT-proBNP had almost fourfold higher risk of VA compared with the lowest quartile (HR: 3.86 [95% Cl: 2.10–7.10], p < .001) (Figure 1). The C-statistics for NT-proBNP in predicting VA was 0.62 [95% Cl: 0.57–0.67].

3.4 | NT-proBNP and risk of VA in primary and secondary prevention ICD indication

Patients with a primary prevention ICD indication had higher NT-proBNP concentrations than patients with secondary prevention indication: median 761 (235–1818) ng/L versus 442 (192–1058) ng/L, p < .001 (Supporting Information: Table 1). There was a trend for a stronger association between NT-proBNP concentrations and incident VA in patients with a secondary prevention ICD indication (HR 1.59 [95% CI 1.34–1.88], p < .001) compared with patients with a primary prevention ICD indication (HR 1.24 [1.02–1.51], p = .03), p = .06 (Table 3 and Figure 1). In patients with a secondary prevention indication, the association between NT-proBNP and VA persisted in the fully adjusted model (HR 1.32 [1.02–1.70], p = .04), whereas it was attenuated and nonsignificant in primary prevention patients (HR 1.10 [0.87–1.40, p = .46). The C-statistics for patients with secondary prevention 0.55 (95% CI: 0.47–0.63).

3.5 | NT-proBNP and associations with death and HF hospitalization

During follow-up, 87 patients (18%) experienced at least 1 hospitalization for HF and 76 (16%) patients died during follow-up,

-WILEY CLINICAL

TABLE 1	Baseline characteristics	of patients	according to	baseline N	T-proBNP	quartiles.
---------	--------------------------	-------------	--------------	------------	----------	------------

	NT-proBNP Q1 n = 123	NT-proBNP Q2 n = 122	NT-proBNP Q3 n = 123	NT-proBNP Q4 n = 122	p for trend
NT-proBNP range, ng/L	16-203	207-567	568-1480	1488-35 000	
Age, years	57.9 ± 12.6	67.3 ± 9.9	68.3 ± 9.8	71.0 ± 12.8	<.001
Male sex	98 (79.7%)	107 (87.7%)	96 (78.0%)	106 (87.6%)	.35
BMI, kg/m ²	28.3 ± 5.0	28.9 ± 4.1	27.9 ± 4.9	25.7 ± 4.2	<.001
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg	125 ± 17	128 ± 20	125 ± 21	122 ± 23	.11
Diabetes mellitus	12 (9.8%)	23 (18.9%)	25 (20.3%)	34 (27.9%)	<.001
CAD	53 (43.8%)	86 (70.5%)	82 (68.3%)	88 (73.3%)	<.001
Previous AMI	40 (32.8%)	81 (66.4%)	74 (60.7%)	81 (66.9%)	<.001
HF	63 (51.2%)	102 (83.6%)	112 (91.1%)	114 (95.1%)	<.001
LVEF, %	50±11	42 ± 11	36±11	33 ± 12	<.001
NYHA Class III-IV	2 (1.6%)	16 (13.1%)	14 (11.4%)	20 (16.4%)	<.001
Cardiomyopathy	16 (13.0%)	5 (4.1%)	5 (4.1%)	8 (6.6%)	.06
Previous documentation of VA	66 (54.1%)	85 (69.7%)	68 (55.7%)	63 (51.6%)	.30
Primary ICD indication	57 (46.3%)	48 (39.3%)	66 (53.7%)	77 (63.6%)	<.001
Estimated GFR, ml/min/1.73m ²	86±21	78 ± 22	72 ± 23	58 ± 22	<.001
Baseline medications					
β-blockers	106 (86.2%)	116 (95.1%)	119 (96.7%)	117 (95.9%)	.002
Angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors	53 (43.1%)	61 (50.4%)	72 (58.5%)	60 (49.2%)	.19
Angiotensin II receptor blockers	28 (22.8%)	43 (35.2%)	34 (27.6%)	44 (36.1%)	.08
Mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists	21 (17.1%)	46 (37.7%)	59 (48.0%)	55 (45.1%)	<.001
Antiarrhythmic drugs	10 (8.1%)	18 (14.8%)	28 (22.8%)	28 (23.0%)	<.001

Abbreviations: AMI, acute myocardial infarction; BMI, body mass index; CAD, coronary artery disease; GFR, glomerular filtration rate; HF, heart failure; ICD, implantable cardioverter defibrillator; LVEF, Left ventricular ejection fraction; NT-proBNO, N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide; NYHA, New York Heart Association; VA, ventricular arrhythmia.

including 35 classified as cardiovascular death. Greater concentrations of NT-proBNP were associated with a higher risk of HF hospitalization (HR 3.11 [2.53–3.82], p < .001; C-statistics 0.85) (Table 2 and Figure 2A) and this persisted in adjusted models. NTproBNP concentrations were associated with all-cause mortality (HR 2.49 [95% CI 2.04–3.03], p < .001; C-statistics 0.82) (Table 2 and Figure 2B), which persisted in adjusted models.

3.6 | Change in NT-proBNP measurements from baseline to follow-up

In total, 459 (94%) patients attended the follow-up visit. Among the 30 nonattending patients, 25 were dead. Blood samples were collected in 411 (84%) patients, mean 1.4 ± 0.5 years after the baseline visit. Baseline characteristics of patients with and without follow-up NT-proBNP measurements are presented in Supporting Information: Table 3. The median NT-proBNP concentration at the follow-up visit was 469 (171–1202) ng/L, which was not significantly different from the baseline

concentrations (*p* = .31). The relative change in NT-proBNP from baseline to follow-up was median -2% (-35% to 36%). Patients with greater increases in NT-proBNP between the visits had higher baseline blood pressure, higher baseline LVEF and more frequently a secondary indication for ICD (Supporting Information: Table 4). Changes in NT-proBNP were not associated with subsequent incident VA (*N* = 46; HR: 1.00 [95% Cl: 0.66-1.52] *p* = .98). Greater changes in NT-proBNP associated with an increased risk of subsequent hospitalization for HF (*N* = 34; HR: 1.73 [95% Cl: 1.03-2.90], *p* = .04 and all-cause death (*N* = 42; HR: 1.71 [95% Cl: 1.05-2.77], *p* = .03) in the fully adjusted model. These results were consistent when analyzing absolute changes in NT-proBNP.

4 | DISCUSSION

We report the following main findings: (1) Higher concentrations of NT-proBNP predict the risk of incident VA, with an almost fourfold increased risk in patients with NT-proBNP in the highest quartile (>~1500 ng/L) compared with the lowest quartile (<~200 ng/L). (2)

	C-statistics	Cox regression - Una model	djusted	Cox regression – Multivariable mode	el 1ª	Cox regression – Multivariable model :	2 ^b
	Harrell's C (95% CI)	HR (95% CI)	р	HR (95% CI)	р	HR (95% CI)	р
VA (n = 137)	0.62 (0.57–0.67)	1.39 (1.22–1.58)	<.001	1.37 (1.20–1.58)	<.001	1.22 (1.03-1.45)	.02
HF hospitalization (n = 87)	0.85 (0.81-0.89)	3.11 (2.53-3.82)	<.001	3.38 (2.69-4.24)	<.001	3.04 (2.33-3.97)	<.001
All-cause mortality (n = 76)	0.82 (0.77-0.87)	2.49 (2.04-3.03)	<.001	2.33 (1.86-2.92)	<.001	1.96 (1.50-2.58)	<.001

 TABLE 2
 Association between NT-proBNP and the risk of VA, hospitalization for HF, and all-cause mortality.

Note: Analyzed by proportional Cox regression per log unit increase of NT-proBNP in association to events in unadjusted model and after adjustments for risk factors in two separate models. Also presented is Harrell's C-statistics for the unadjusted model.

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CAD, coronary artery disease; CI, confidence interval; GFR, glomerular filtration rate; HF, heart failure; HR, hazard ratio; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; NT-proBNP, N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide; VA, ventricular arrhythmia.

^aAdjusted for age, sex, and BMI.

^bAdjusted for age, sex, BMI, CAD, HF, estimated GFR, and LVEF.



FIGURE 1 Association between baseline concentrations of N-terminal-pro B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) and time to ventricular arrhythmia in patients with (A) primary prevention implantable cardioverter defibrillator (ICD) indication and (B) secondary prevention ICD indication. Stratified by quartiles of NT-proBNP and *p* is for Quartile 4 versus Quartile 1.

This association was independent of established risk factors for cardiac arrest such as age, sex, CAD, renal function, and most importantly, LVEF. (3) The association appeared to be stronger in patients with secondary prevention than primary prevention ICD indication. (4) There was no association between change in NT-proBNP levels over ~1.5 years and the risk of subsequent VA.

4.1 | NT-proBNP as a predictor for major cardiovascular events

Elevated levels of circulating NT-proBNP are common in patients with HF and measurements are recommended for diagnostic and prognostic purposes.^{6,13-16} The association between NT-proBNP levels and cardiovascular risk has also been demonstrated in lower risk cohorts, including community-based studies of individuals free of HF.^{8,17,18} In our study we extend these findings to patients treated with ICD at very high cardiovascular risk by showing a strong association between higher baseline NT-proBNP concentrations and an increased risk of VA, HF-hospitalization, and all-cause death. NT-proBNP performed better at predicting the risk of HF hospitalization and mortality compared with VA risk. This finding is in line with previous studies suggesting NT-proBNP to be a strong prognostic marker of worsening HF status and all-cause death due to the range of pathophysiology (i.e., aging, renal function, and myocardial stress) reflected by elevated levels.

4.2 | NT-proBNP as a predictor for VAs and SCD

Although no specific mechanisms have linked NT-proBNP directly with risk of VA and SCD, myocardial stretch, which is the main

994

TABLE 3	Association between NT-proBNP and the risk of VA, hospitalization for HF, and all-cause mortality in patients with a primar
prevention I	CD indication and a secondary prevention ICD indication.

	C-statistics	Cox regression - Una model	adjusted	Cox regression – Multivariable mod	el 1ª	Cox regression – Multivariable model	2 ^b
	Harrell's C (95% CI)	HR (95% CI)	р	HR (95% CI)	р	HR (95% CI)	р
Primary prevention ICD in	dication						
VA (n = 60)	0.55 (0.47–0.63)	1.24 (1.02–1.51)	.03	1.24 (1.01–1.52)	.04	1.10 (0.86-1.40)	.46
HF Hospitalization (n = 54)	0.81 (0.75-0.87)	3.07 (2.27-4.14)	<.001	3.25 (2.39-4.43)	<.001	3.23 (2.28-4.57)	<.001
All-cause mortality (n = 46)	0.81 (0.74-0.87)	2.51 (1.91-3.30)	<.001	2.61 (1.87-3.64)	<.001	2.12 (1.46-3.07)	<.001
Secondary prevention ICD	indication						
VA (n = 77)	0.71 (0.64–0.77)	1.59 (1.34–1.88)	<.001	1.53 (1.27–1.85)	<.001	1.32 (1.02-1.70)	.04
HF hospitalization (n = 33)	0.88 (0.83–0.94)	3.12 (2.33-4.18)	<.001	3.56 (2.45-5.18)	<.001	3.49 (2.03-5.99)	<.001
All-cause mortality (n = 30)	0.83 (0.75-0.90)	2.42 (1.80-3.26)	<.001	2.09 (1.46-3.01)	<.001	1.90 (1.16-3.10)	.01

Note: Analyzed by proportional Cox regression per log unit increase of NT-proBNP in association to events in unadjusted model and after adjustments for risk factors in two separate models. Also presented is Harrell's C-statistics for the unadjusted model.

Abbreviations: BMI, body mass index; CAD, coronary artery disease; GFR, glomerular filtration rate; HF, heart failure; LVEF, left ventricular ejection fraction; VA, ventricular arrhythmia.

^aAdjusted for age, sex and BMI.

^bAdjusted for age, sex, BMI, CAD, HF, estimated GFR, and LVEF.



FIGURE 2 Association between baseline concentrations of N-terminal-pro B-type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) and time to (A) heart failure hospitalization and (B) all-cause death in the total population. Stratified by quartiles of NT-proBNP and *p* is for Quartile 4 versus Quartile 1.

stimulus for the synthesis and secretion of natriuretic peptides,¹⁹ have been proposed as a potential arrhythmic trigger.^{7,11,20} Myocardial stretch can trigger mechano-electrical feedback leading to complex electrophysiological disturbances that can enhance different arrhythmogenic processes, triggering automaticity, triggered activity and reentry.²¹⁻²³ Previous studies have suggested that NT-proBNP can help predict SCD,⁶⁻⁹ however, with different definitions of SCD. The majority of studies in this

field define SCD as sudden and unexpected death, presumed to be arrhythmic occurring within 1 h of onset of symptoms, or if the deceased has been witnessed to be stable within 24 h of the arrest in case of unwitnessed death.^{6,8,10,24} Diverging and vague definitions of SCD are unfortunate limitations of many of the published studies as it does not rule out other nonarrhythmic sudden death etiologies. An important strength of our study is that we included patients with implanted ICD with the advantage

ICAL DIOLOGY-WILEY

of having documented arrhythmias with relatively long follow-up. We also analyzed NT-proBNP in one batch from blood samples stored in a dedicated biobank, which reduces the risk of analytical bias. In concordance with other studies of patients with ICD our results demonstrate a significant association between NT-proBNP and incident VA.²⁵⁻²⁷

In a meta-analysis, LVEF was demonstrated to not influence the association between natriuretic peptides and SCD in patients with and without ICD.⁷ Our findings support that the association between elevated NT-proBNP and VA is independent of LVEF.

4.3 | NT-proBNP in primary versus secondary prevention

Our results suggest that there was an interaction by ICD indication on the association between NT-proBNP and risk of VA. The ability to discriminate between patients with and without incident VA was stronger in patients with a secondary ICD-indication, and for these patients the association persisted in adjusted models. In patients with a secondary prevention ICD indication, 11% in the lowest quartile of NT-proBNP had incident VA, whereas 52% had incident VA in the highest quartile. Guidelines recommend ICD implantation in patients who have experienced VA with hemodynamic consequences or within 48 h after myocardial infarction, in the absence of reversible causes. ²⁸ However, there may be uncertainties related to whether the cause of VA is reversible and many patients with a low-risk of recurrent events never experience subsequent events. In these settings, our data support that NT-proBNP measurement may be helpful in assessing the risk of future VA, although this should be validated in future prospective cohorts.

Among patients with a primary ICD indication in our study, the performance of NT-proBNP in predicting VA was limited. Potential explanation for this may be that patients with advanced HF have non-arrhythmic mechanisms driving NT-proBNP secretions, such as neurohormonal activation and renal dysfunction.^{29,30} This is supported by our finding of a strong association between NT-proBNP and the risk of all-cause death and HF hospitalization in these patients. Thus, our findings suggest that it is challenging to use NT-proBNP as a marker specifically for VA risk in patients considered for primary prevention ICD.

4.4 | Change in NT-proBNP from baseline to follow-up visit

There were no significant changes in NT-proBNP concentrations from baseline to the follow-up visit. Moreover, we found no association between the change in NT-proBNP concentration and the risk of subsequent incident VA. Although serial measurements of NT-proBNP may be useful in assessing HF status, our findings argue against repeated measurements for the purpose of arrhythmic risk stratification.

4.4.1 | Study limitations

Our cohort consisted of patients treated with ICD with high arrhythmic risk, and whether our results are applicable to other patient population is uncertain. The majority of patients in our study were men, which also is the case in similar cohorts. Women have intrinsically higher levels of NT-proBNP than men, and whether the results can be generalized to women is less certain. However, in the Nurses' Health Study, NT-proBNP was associated with the risk of SCD in 121 700 women.²⁴ Analytical variability of NT-proBNP measurements may be a reason for bias, which we tried to overcome by analyzing all samples in one batch using the same assay and instruments. Survival bias may have been introduced for the analysis using serial sampling, as death was the most important reason for nonattendance at the follow-up visit. The analysis stratified for ICD indication was posthoc and with limited power and must therefore be considered hypothesis-generating.

5 | CONCLUSIONS

In our cohort of patients with ICD, we found a significant association between high NT-proBNP concentrations and the risk of developing VA, as well as HF hospitalization and death, independent of established risk factors. NT-proBNP is a noninvasive test that is widely available and reproducible. Our data suggest that NT-proBNP may be a helpful tool for assessing VA risk, particularly in patients with a secondary ICD indication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We are grateful for the substantial contributions from the study nurses Sanna Johannesson and Lisa Frødin for invaluable help in organizing and executing the study visits. We also want to thank the cardiac electrophysiologists Dr. Arne Strand, Dr. Trude Berget, Dr. Huy Pham, and Dr. Gabor Kuntz for reading the ICDs and recording the events. N. Sourour and P. L. Myhre are supported by grants from the South-Eastern Norway Regional Health Authority. E. Riveland has received a grant from the Western Norway health trust.

CONFLICT OF INTEREST STATEMENT

H. Røsjø has received personal fees from Novartis and Thermo Fischer BRAMHS, CardiNor, and SpinChip Diagnostics. T. Omland has served on advisory boards for Abbott Diagnostics, Roche Diagnostics, and Bayer, and has received research support from Abbott Diagnostics, Novartis, Roche Diagnostics, Singulex, and SomaLogic via Akershus University Hospital, and speaker's or consulting honoraria from Roche Diagnostics, Siemens Healthineers and CardiNor. P. L. Myhre has served on advisory boards and received speaker fees from Amarin, AmGen, AstraZeneca, Bayer, Boehringer Ingelheim, Novartis, and Novo Nordisk. All other authors report no conflict of interest.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Research data are not shared.

ORCID

N. Sourour D http://orcid.org/0000-0003-1068-8753

WILEY-

REFERENCES

- Harris P, Lysitsas D. Ventricular arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death. BJA Educ. 2016;16(7):221-229.
- 2. John RM, Tedrow UB, Koplan BA, et al. Ventricular arrhythmias and sudden cardiac death. *Lancet*. 2012;380(9852):1520-1529.
- Noman A, George J, Struthers A. A new use for B-type natriuretic peptide: to detect myocardial ischaemia in non-heart failure patients. Br J Diabetes & Vasc Dis. 2010;10(2):78-82.
- Daniels LB, Maisel AS. Natriuretic peptides. JACC. 2007;50(25): 2357-2368.
- 5. Gardner R. N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide: a new gold standard in predicting mortality in patients with advanced heart failure. *Eur Heart J.* 2003;24(19):1735-1743.
- Ahmad T, Fiuzat M, Neely B, et al. Biomarkers of myocardial stress and fibrosis as predictors of mode of death in patients with chronic heart failure. JACC: Heart Failure. 2014;2(3):260-268.
- Scott PA, Barry J, Roberts PR, Morgan JM. Brain natriuretic peptide for the prediction of sudden cardiac death and ventricular arrhythmias: a meta-analysis. *Eur J Heart Fail*. 2009;11(10):958-966.
- Patton KK, Sotoodehnia N, DeFilippi C, Siscovick DS, Gottdiener JS, Kronmal RA. N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide is associated with sudden cardiac death risk: the Cardiovascular Health Study. *Heart Rhythm.* 2011;8(2):228-233.
- Tapanainen JM, Lindgren KS, Mäkikallio TH, Vuolteenaho O, Leppäluoto J, Huikuri HV. Natriuretic peptides as predictors of non-sudden and sudden cardiac death after acute myocardial infarction in the beta-blocking era. JACC. 2004;43(5):757-763.
- Wu G, Liu J, Wang S, et al. N-terminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide and sudden cardiac death in hypertrophic cardiomyopathy. *Heart*. 2021;107(19):1576-1583.
- 11. Levine YC, Rosenberg MA, Mittleman M, et al. B-type natriuretic peptide is a major predictor of ventricular tachyarrhythmias. *Heart Rhythm.* 2014;11(7):1109-1116.
- Sourour N, Riveland E, Rømo T, et al. QRS fragmentation is associated with increased risk of ventricular arrhythmias in highrisk patients; data from the SMASH 1 study. Ann Noninvasive Electrocardiol, 2022, 27(5):e12985.
- Januzzi Jr. JL, Camargo CA, Anwaruddin S. The N-terminal Pro-BNP investigation of dyspnea in the emergency department (PRIDE) study. Am J Cardiol. 2005;95(8):948-954.
- 14. McDonagh TA, Metra M, Adamo M, et al. 2021 ESC guidelines for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure. *Eur Heart J.* 2021;42(36):3599-3726.
- Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, et al. 2017 ACC/AHA/HFSA focused update of the 2013 ACCF/AHA guideline for the management of heart failure. JACC. 2017;70(6):776-803.
- Bettencourt P, Azevedo A, Pimenta J, Friões F, Ferreira S, Ferreira A. N-terminal-pro-brain natriuretic peptide predicts outcome after hospital discharge in heart failure patients. *Circulation*. 2004;110(15): 2168-2174.
- Wang TJ, Larson MG, Levy D, et al. Plasma natriuretic peptide levels and the risk of cardiovascular events and death. N Engl J Med. 2004;350(7):655-663.
- deFilippi CR, Christenson RH, Gottdiener JS, Kop WJ, Seliger SL. Dynamic cardiovascular risk assessment in elderly people. JACC. 2010;55(5):441-450.

- Krittayaphong R, Boonyasirinant T, Saiviroonporn P, Thanapiboonpol P, Nakyen S, Udompunturak S. Correlation between NT-Pro BNP levels and left ventricular wall stress, sphericity index and extent of myocardial damage: a magnetic resonance imaging study. J Card Failure. 2008;14(8):687-694.
- 20. Klein G, Lissel C, Fuchs A-C, et al. Predictors of VT/VF-occurrence in ICD patients: results from the PROFIT-Study. *EP Europace*. 2006;8(8):618-624.
- 21. Reiter MJ. Effects of mechano-electrical feedback: potential arrhythmogenic influence in patients with congestive heart failure. *Cardiovasc Res.* 1996;32:44-51.
- Hansen DE, Craig CS, Hondeghem LM. Stretch-induced arrhythmias in the isolated canine ventricle. Evidence for the importance of mechanoelectrical feedback. *Circulation*. 1990;81(3):1094-1105.
- 23. Franz MR, Cima R, Wang D, Profitt D, Kurz R. Electrophysiological effects of myocardial stretch and mechanical determinants of stretch-activated arrhythmias. *Circulation*. 1992;86(3):968-978.
- 24. Korngold EC, Januzzi JL, Gantzer ML, Moorthy MV, Cook NR, Albert CM. Amino-terminal Pro-B-type natriuretic peptide and highsensitivity C-reactive protein as predictors of sudden cardiac death among women. *Circulation*. 2009;119(22):2868-2876.
- 25. Verma A. Preimplantation B-type natriuretic peptide concentration is an independent predictor of future appropriate implantable defibrillator therapies. *Heart*. 2006;92(2):190-195.
- 26. Klingenberg R. Raised B-type natriuretic peptide predicts implantable cardioverter-defibrillator therapy in patients with ischaemic cardiomyopathy. *Heart*. 2006;92(9):1323-1324.
- Yu H, Oswald H, Gardiwal A, Lissel C, Klein G. Comparison of Nterminal pro-brain natriuretic peptide versus electrophysiologic study for predicting future outcomes in patients with an implantable cardioverter defibrillator after myocardial infarction. Am J Cardiol. 2007;100(4):635-639.
- 28. 2022 ESC Guidelines for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death. Developed by the task force for the management of patients with ventricular arrhythmias and the prevention of sudden cardiac death of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) endorsed by the Association for European Paediatric and Congenital Cardiology (AEPC). Eur Heart J. 2022;36(41):2793-2867.
- 29. Francis GS. Neuroendocrine activity in congestive heart failure. Am J Cardiol. 1990;66(11):33D-38D; Discussion 38D-39D.
- Francis GS, Benedict C, Johnstone DE, et al. Comparison of neuroendocrine activation in patients with left ventricular dysfunction with and without congestive heart failure. A substudy of the Studies of Left Ventricular Dysfunction (SOLVD). *Circulation*. 1990;82(5):1724-1729.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information can be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of this article.

How to cite this article: Sourour N, Riveland E, Næsgaard P, et al. N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide for prediction of ventricular arrhythmias: Data from the SMASH study. *Clin Cardiol.* 2023;46:989-996. doi:10.1002/clc.24074

Supplementary Material

to

N-terminal pro-B-type natriuretic peptide for prediction of ventricular arrhythmias; data from the SMASH Study

ICD indication
according to the I
udy population
ics of the st
ine characterist
Table 1 Basel
Supplemental

	Primary	prevention	Secondary	P-value for
	HF indication	Other indications	prevention	primary vs
	(n= 225)	(n=25)	(n=240)	secondary
Age, y	67.6 ± 10.8	57.2 ± 16.6	65.7 ± 12.9	0.45
Male sex	194 (86.6%)	18 (72.0%)	195 (81.2%)	0.25
Body mass index, kg/m2	27.8 ± 5.4	27.0 ± 3.3	27.6 ± 4.2	0.77
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg	121 ± 20	127 ± 18	129 ± 20	<0.001
Diabetes mellitus	50 (22.2%)	2 (8.0 %)	42 (17.5%)	0.35
Coronary artery disease	146 (65.5%)	6 (24.0%)	157 (66.8%)	0.21
Previous acute myocardial infarction	126 (56.8%)	2 (8.0 %)	148 (61.7%)	0.03
Cardiomyopathy	4 (1.8 %)	17 (68.0%)	13 (5.4 %)	0.19
Heart failure	225 (100.0%)	0 (0.0%)	168 (70.4%)	<0.001
Left ventricular ejection fraction, %	35 ± 11	57±6	44 ± 12	<0.001
New York Heart Association class III-IV	29 (12.9%)	1 (4.0 %)	22 (9.2 %)	0.31
Previous documentation of ventricular arrhythmia	57 (25.6%)	7 (28.0%)	218 (90.8%)	<0.001
Estimated glomerular filtration rate, ml/min/1.73 m ²	69 ± 24	97 ± 28	75 ± 23	0.14
NT-proBNP, ng/L	831 (288-1920)	169 (116-516)	442 (192-1058)	<0.001

Supplemental Table 2. Predictors of baseline NT-proBNP levels assessed by multivariable logistic regression models including all variables in the table.

	Beta coefficient	z-value	P-value
	[95% CI]		
Age	0.01 [0.004-0.02]	2.8	0.005
Male sex	-0.22 [-0.50-0.05]	-1.6	0.11
Body mass index, kg/m2	-0.45 [-0.670.24]	-4.2	<0.001
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg	-0.001 [-0.0510.053]	0.03	0.98
Diabetes mellitus	0.26 [-0.01-0.51]	2.0	0.05
Previous acute myocardial infarction	0.17 [-0.05-0.40]	1.4	0.17
Heart failure	0.49 [0.16-0.82]	3.0	0.003
Left ventricular ejection fraction, %	-0.03 [-0.040.02]	-6.7	<0.001
New York Heart Association class III-IV	0.37 [0.06-0.70]	2.3	0.02
Cardiomyopathy	0.71 [0.24-1.17]	3.0	0.003
Previous documentation of ventricular arrhythmias	0.05 [-0.15-0.26]	0.6	0.54
Estimated glomerular filtration rate, ml/min/1.73 m ²	-0.01[-0.02—0.01]	-5.6	<0.001

Suppl. Table 3 Baseline characteristics of the study population in patients with available blood samples at the follow-up visit and those without.

	Available blood samples	Not available blood	P-value
	at the follow-up visit	samples at the follow-up visit	
	n=411	n=79	
Age, y	65.9 ± 12.2	67.1 ± 13.3	0.45
Male sex	339 (82.5%)	69 (87.2%)	0.31
Body mass index, kg/m2	28.0 ± 4.8	26.1 ± 4.1	0.002
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg	125 ± 20	126 ± 23	0.63
Diabetes mellitus	72 (17.5%)	22 (27.8%)	0.03
Coronary artery disease	259 (64.0%)	50 (64.1%)	0.98
Previous acute myocardial infarction	227 (55.6%)	49 (62.0%)	0.29
Heart failure	324 (78.8%)	70 (88.6%)	0.05
Left ventricular ejection fraction, %	41 ± 13	38 ± 12	0.03
New York Heart Association class III-IV	37 (9.0 %)	15 (19.0%)	0.01
Cardiomyopathy	29 (7.1 %)	5 (6.4 %)	0.84
Previous documentation of ventricular arrhythmias	240 58.5%)	42 (53.8%)	0.44
Primary ICD indication	204 (49.6%)	46 (58.2%)	0.16
Estimated glomerular filtration rate, ml/min/1.73 m ²	74.6 ± 22.7	68.4 ± 29.7	0.04
Baseline NT-proBNP, ng/L	511 (178-1313)	1248 (524-2858)	<0.001

	NTproBNP	NTproBNP	NTproBNP	NTproBNP	P-value for
	Change Q1 n=103	Change Q2 n=103	Change Q3 n=103	Change Q4 n=102	trend
Relative change in NT-proBNP (median Q1-Q3)	-50% (-60% to -43%)	-18% (-26% to -10%)	12% (6% to 24%)	84% (60% to 141%)	
Age, y	65.1±13.0	65.0 ± 12.0	66.5 ± 11.6	67.2 ± 12.2	0.14
Male sex	81 (78.6%)	85 (82.5%)	85 (82.5%)	88 (86.3%)	0.17
Body mass index, kg/m2	28.8±5.5	27.8 ± 4.3	27.7 ± 4.6	27.6 ± 4.5	0.07
Systolic blood pressure, mmHg	122 ± 20	124 ± 16	126 ± 21	127 ± 21	0.046
Diabetes mellitus	21 (20.4%)	13 (12.6%)	16 (15.5%)	22 (21.6%)	0.71
Coronary artery disease	60 (59.4%)	66 (64.7%)	74 (72.5%)	59 (59.0%)	0.75
Previous acute myocardial infarction	53 (52.0%)	57 (55.3%)	65 (64.4%)	52 (51.0%)	0.79
History of heart failure	84 (81.6%)	81 (78.6%)	84 (81.6%)	75 (73.5%)	0.24
Left ventricular ejection fraction, %	39 ± 12	40 ± 14	40±13	44 ± 12	0.005
New York Heart Association class III-IV	6 (5.8 %)	8 (7.8 %)	15 (14.6%)	8 (7.8 %)	0.31
Cardiomyopathy	7 (6.8 %)	10 (9.7 %)	7 (6.8 %)	5 (4.9 %)	0.45
Previous documentation of ventricular arrhythmias	58 (56.3%)	57 (55.3%)	60 (58.3%)	65 (64.4%)	0.22
Primary ICD indication	58 (56.3%)	53 (51.5%)	50 (48.5%)	43 (42.2%)	0.04
Estimated glomerular filtration rate, ml/min/1.73 m ²	74.6±22.5	74.4 ± 21.9	77.9 ± 24.6	71.5 ± 21.6	0.58

Suppl. Table 4 Baseline characteristics by quartiles of relative change in NT-proBNP from baseline to the follow-up visit

Supplemental Figure 1. Flow diagram of the SMASH 1 biomarker study



Monitored for 3.1±0.74 years of follow-up for ventricular arrhythmias and clinical events

Paper III